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Foreword
This is our third Annual Report and Accounts. It details the work that we continue to do to
commission and to support our providers to deliver high-quality healthcare services. It also
highlights important work we are doing to change the way that services are delivered, to make
them fit to meet the changing needs of the population, the changing nature of care and the
increasing need to provide more care for every pound of taxpayers’ money that we are made
responsible for.
Much of this work is about joining up care and is delivered as part of our Connecting Care
program, that brings together us as CCGs with local authority commissioners and with the
providers of health and social care as well as third sector care providers. This year has seen the
rollout of integrated community teams, with health and social care providers working together to
provide joined up care for our population. These integrated community teams will work very
closely with our planned mental health Gateway teams that work with GP practices to improve
the experience of care for those of us needing mental health care.
We have also asked our providers to work together to provide a more joined up experience for
urgent care. This will mean that we will soon have one place to go, a 'single front door', for
urgent care.
Over the year we've also seen our GP practices working increasingly closely together to provide
more capability and capacity within general practice. This has already seen many thousands of
appointments offered in the evening and at weekends making GP services more accessible. It
has seen GPs working to improve quality of services to those living in nursing and residential
homes and improvements to the care of those living with long-term conditions. We will
increasingly see more joined up care delivered in a person centred way, closer to people’s
homes, by general practice and primary care teams.
I am proud of the work of the CCG and the collaboration with our partners that has allowed this
work to take place.
As we take stock of the year gone by I am also very aware of the challenges the future holds.
The challenges will mean that we will need to accelerate the changes to care delivery,
accelerate the driving out of waste and the joining up of care and also mean that we will need to
revisit where our money is best spent for maximum benefit to the wellbeing of the population.
I hope that the ability and the determination of the staff of the CCG and its partners shines
through this report. I see every day how these teams work to deliver the best care that can be
afforded with the resources we have and the passion with which they do this.

Dr Andrew Wilson
Clinical Leader and Chair of the Governing Body
.
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1.

The Performance Report

1.1.

Overview

1.1.1

Statement from Chief Executive

This report reflects the significant challenges faced by the CCG during 2015/16. It also
provides many examples of the great work done across South Cheshire to improve the
outcomes for patients and improve their experiences of healthcare.
We have made good progress in achieving our strategic priorities through delivering our
commissioning intentions, as set out in the Performance Summary section of this report. We
have continued to work constructively with partners across the health and social care system
to improve the health and wellbeing of the people of South Cheshire. Whilst we have made
good progress, we recognise the need to accelerate the pace of system change in
supporting delivery of the Connecting Care Programme.
Quality and safety remain at the heart of everything we do and this is evidenced throughout
this report. We have maintained robust governance arrangements and have established
improved mechanisms for identifying and addressing performance issues through
monitoring, analysis and effective partnership working. These developments have ensured
that we are better able to develop commissioning intentions that meet the needs of our local
population and address long-standing health inequalities.
The views of local people have been a key factor in shaping our activity during the year and
we have continued to engage and involve our public and patients in a variety of ways. The
Cheshire Chat and the Central Cheshire Hack are notable examples which are mentioned in
this report.
There have been significant pressures in the system which have impacted on our ability to
achieve all that we set out to. This has also put severe pressure on our finances. The
financial challenge will be even greater in the coming years. Though the challenges to come
will be significant, the work undertaken during 2015/16, including the recommissioning of
community services and taking on delegated responsibility from NHS England for
commissioning primary care medical services will stand us in good stead to deliver
transformational change in the future.

1.1.2 Statement of the purpose and activities of the organisation
NHS South Cheshire Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) exists to improve the health and
healthcare of the local population. Our aim is to use the local knowledge of our GPs and
their practice teams to develop the way that health services are delivered and help our
patients to make full use of the services that are available.
We are a membership organisation comprised of 18 member practices (illustrated overleaf).
The practices cover a geographical area of Cheshire stretching from Audlem in the south to
Middlewich in the north. Crewe is a large manufacturing town and much of the surrounding
area is made up of smaller, rural market towns. The total population is around 180,000. NHS
South Cheshire CCG’s geographic area falls entirely within the boundary of Cheshire East
Council.
Close relationships exist between ourselves and NHS Vale Royal Clinical Commissioning
Group (CCG), with whom we share a management team. We also work closely with NHS
Eastern Cheshire Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) which lies to the east of our patch
and with whom we share community health services and the local authority.
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The acute general hospital, our main provider, is Mid Cheshire Hospitals NHS Foundation
Trust (MCHfT), which is situated just outside Crewe. Mental health services are provided by
Cheshire and Wirral Partnership NHS Foundation Trust (CWP) and East Cheshire
Community Business Unit (which forms part of East Cheshire NHS Trust) provided
community health services, such as district nursing, health visiting and therapy services
during the year.

We have responsibility for designing and commissioning local health services and will do this
by commissioning or buying health and care services including:
• Elective hospital care – pre-arranged, non-emergency care (including planned
operations)
• Rehabilitation care – care that helps people gain greater independence after illness,
injury or surgery
• Urgent and emergency care
• Primary medical services (jointly commissioned with NHS England during 2015/16) –
including care delivered by GP practices
• Most community health services – care that is mostly delivered in people’s homes by
teams of nurses and therapists, coordinating care with other professions
• Mental health and learning disability services
• Emergency and patient transport services
• We also promote and facilitate safe and effective prescribing through improving quality,
reducing risk and encouraging cost-effective prescribing
We work with patients and healthcare professionals and in partnership with local
communities and local authorities. We are responsible for arranging emergency and urgent
care services within our boundaries, and for commissioning services for any unregistered
patients who live in our area. All GP practices have to belong to a Clinical Commissioning
Group.
We lease our office building from NHS Property Services and our business address is:
Bevan House
Barony Court
Nantwich
Cheshire
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CW5 5RD
Tel: 01270 275303 Fax: 01270 618392
Email: nhssouthcheshire.ccg@nhs.net

1.1.3

Key issues and risks

Risks and issues facing the CCG during the year were captured in the Board Assurance
Framework and were monitored as described in the Corporate Governance section of this
report. The “top ten” risks presented to the Governing Body at the end of the year were:
•

Overall delivery of financial control total/financial balance
The CCGs have, for a number of months, experienced deterioration in their financial
position. The main areas of over performance are non-elective admissions within acute
care and Continuing Health Care (CHC)/complex care. A financial recovery plan has
been developed. Further work to bring back funding to CCGs and to negotiate down
costs and reduce risk is being undertaken as outlined in the financial recovery plan and
2016/17 planning being undertaken. Ongoing ownership of the productivity and cost
savings is required in the CCG, producing robust quality, innovation, prevention and
productivity (QIPP) plans.

•

Health economy stability
Key points: Development of cross-system clinical strategy along with robust 5 year
financial plan required. A strategic outline case has been confirmed with consultants to
deliver the Sustainability Transformation Plan (STP) and clinical strategy by June 2016.
A review of budgets and non-recurrent expenditure is planned, along with the
development of new tariff and payment mechanisms and place-based budgets.

•

Workforce capacity and development
Key points: A reducing GP workforce is impacting on the stability of local practices. The
increasing number of retirements and the failure of local GP practices to recruit new GPs
into the area leaves our GP community at significant risk of practice failure. The Primary
Care Strategy is in development, which will address some of the primary care workforce
issues. Work on the STP also needs to deliver plans relating to GP workforce and
workload.

•

Community services provision
Key points: The Most Capable Provider (MCP) route was agreed upon by the Governing
Bodies for the procurement of a new community services provider, with an anticipated
start date for the new provider of October 2016. Work continues with the current provider
to ensure service is maintained. Work is taking place to define service specifications for
all service areas.

•

Co-commissioning of primary care
Key points: NHS England has formally given approval for full delegation from 1st April
2016. Work on-going to ensure systems are in place for this, a draft primary care
strategy is now being consulted upon and work is taking place to ensure all systems are
in place to manage the delegated budgets.

•

Ability to deliver QIPP
Key points: Every commissioning intention needs to be able to demonstrate benefits
realisation, but historically we have continually struggled to demonstrate in a robust and
sustainable way. Budget setting meetings for 2016/17 have taken place and included
discussions on QIPP and delivery of this will be worked through all commissioning
intentions for 2016/17. A Sustainability Action Group (SAG) has been established to
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bring specific focus. Radical changes to the commissioning intention for 2016/17 have
been proposed and QIPP delivery will be an integral part of this process.
•

Commissioning Support Unit (CSU) management and performance
Key points: The new provider Midlands & Lancashire CSU is in place and an Associate
Director has been appointed with responsibility for managing the contract across the
Cheshire, Warrington and Wirral footprint. Contract management arrangements need to
be put in place and assurance is needed in the ongoing delivery of service.

•

Better Care Fund (BCF) and improving models of care
Key points: Work is underway to agree Better Care Fund (BCF) plans for 2016/17 across
the Connecting Care Footprint as well as with Cheshire East Council (CEC) and
Cheshire West and Chester Council (CWaC). A draft model for delivering the Connecting
Care strategy - creating a responsive health and social care service that meets people's
needs, when they need it, with up to date care, making best use of available resources has been developed in consultation with stakeholders and shared for comment.

•

Provider performance
Key points: Managing performance both against national performance targets and quality
indicators, monitoring incidents, complaints and patient experience. Discussions to agree
a temporary extension of the current GP Out of Hours service are taking place to ensure
service delivery. Work is taking place (including a clinical audit) looking at zero day
length of stay admissions at MCHfT following identification of an above peer trend in this
area.

•

Improved access to services for patients
Key points: Commissioning intentions to take account of the service areas which need
increased focus to improve access to services in 2016/17.

Going concern
As described in the Financial Performance section of the Performance Analysis:
•
•

The CCG has achieved all of its financial duties
The CCG achieved a planned surplus of £0.5.52m (0.25% of CCG resource) with
expenditure of £219.140m. This will be returned to the CCG non-recurrently in 2016/17.

As a public sector body the CCG is assumed to be a ‘going concern’ where the continuation
of the provision of a service in the future is anticipated, as evidenced by inclusion of financial
provision for that service in published documents.
Where a clinical commissioning group ceases to exist, it considers whether or not its
services will continue to be provided (using the same assets, by another public sector entity)
in determining whether to use the concept of going concern for the final set of Financial
Statements. If services will continue to be provided the Financial statements are prepared on
the going concern basis.
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1.1.4

Performance Summary

During 2015/16 the CCG identified a number of strategic priorities which informed its
commissioning activities. Collectively, these are known as the “5+1” priorities. The “5”
relates to the various priority areas outlined in the chart below. The following paragraphs
include a high-level summary of each priority. The “+1” relates to the delivery of the NHS
Constitution standards.
The CCG’s strategic priorities:
Transforming Mental Health – recognising that this is a significant
area of health need locally with a national focus on parity of esteem.
Transforming Primary Care – developing a systems approach to
general practice, using the registered list as the cornerstone, that
delivers an outcomes approach to high quality, person centred care.
Transforming Urgent Care – to bring a renewed focus on transforming
the current system (some of which will be delivered through the Better
Care Fund).
Integration – Improving coordination and developing methods and
models of care working with partner organisations to ensure care is built
around patients.
Person Centred Care – with a focus on self-care, self-management
and empowering communities and individuals.
NHS Constitution Standards - accountable for improving health
outcomes, commissioning high quality care and best use resources.

Commissioning Intentions for 2015/16: ‘We said, we did’
This section provides an overview of the progress made in delivering the CCG’s
commissioning intentions (CIs) for 2015/16.
‘You said, we did’ is our commitment to listen to our patients, public and stakeholders to
demonstrate that feedback and insight has been meaningfully used. We collate all
comments, views and suggestions from our local population and make the changes that
improve local healthcare experiences through the design and implementation of our
Commissioning Intentions. We have therefore used the same approach to provide this
update based on ‘we said, we did’:
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Strategic Priority: Transforming Mental Health
NHS South Cheshire CCG aims to provide high quality care for everyone and recognise
there has historically been inequity in services for people with physical and mental health
problems, which is unfair. We are committed to ensuring that we commission services to
support people with both physical and mental health conditions and also those who have
learning disabilities.
Choice in Mental Health:
We said Project objective: To ensure service users requiring mental health services
are provided with the choice of any clinically appropriate health service
provider
We did
Developed an information programme for GPs by working with the local
provider to ensure there is ongoing liaison and an updated Directory of
Services.
Next
This action plan was embedded within a Service Development Improvement
steps
plan (SDiP) for 2015/16 and 2016/17. Project objectives achieved and project
closed March 2016
Mental Health Strategy:
We said Project objective: To produce a five year Mental Health Strategy including a
delivery / action plan
We did
The project objectives were reviewed when a Pan Cheshire approach to
developing a mental health strategy was implemented with conflicting
timescales. It was agreed to close the project and align the work with the Pan
Cheshire development
Next
Pan Cheshire Strategy is currently in development with both CCGs
steps
contributing to this work

Strategic Priority: Transforming Primary Care
Developing a systems approach to General Practice, using the registered list as the
cornerstone, that delivers an outcomes approach to high quality, person centred care.
Primary Care is the cornerstone of the NHS, as it serves as the entry point for patients into
the system and the provision of continuity of care for patients. Primary Care contributes to
preventing ill health, provides early diagnosis and treatment and as a universal service is
accessible to all citizens, and the role encompasses the following aims:
• Improving population health, particularly among those at greatest risk of illness or injury.
• Managing short-term, non-urgent episodes of minor illness or injury.
• Managing and coordinating the health and care of those with long-term conditions.
• Managing urgent episodes of illness or injury.
• Managing and coordinating care for those who are nearing the end of their lives.
Respiratory:
We said Project objective: To undertake a review of current local pathways and
provision
We did
A review and needs analysis was undertaken through engagement with
providers of respiratory services and subsequent recommendations outlined
Next
Project closed February 2016 with the recommendations informing projects
steps
for 2016/17
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GP Care Home Scheme:
We said Project objective: To review and recommission the GP care home schemes
We did
The Winsford scheme had been in place for several years and the South
Cheshire and Northwich schemes went live in 2015. Monitoring KPIs (Key
Performance Indicators) were established to identify the benefits of the
schemes linked to medicines management and reducing hospital admissions.
Next
Project objectives achieved and the project was closed in January 2016.The
steps
KPIs will be embedded within the Care Home dashboards and monitored
through business as usual
Direct Access to Physiotherapy:
We said Project objective: To undertake a service review and identify options to
extend the service
We did
The pilot was completed and a review undertaken. The review included
engaging with service users through means of a service user questionnaire.
The questionnaire showed there were high levels of satisfaction with the
service and a willingness from patients to change their behavior. Feedback
also identified that the majority of patients would use the service again rather
than go back to their GP. The data indicated no increase in referral rates
overall in the SMASH pilot and it showed strong patient satisfaction feedback.
CCE agreed that direct access to physio could be rolled out to the remaining
practices in South Cheshire and Vale Royal.
Next
Project objectives achieved and project closed February 2016
steps

Strategic Priority: Transforming Urgent Care
To bring a renewed focus on transforming the current system (some of which will be
delivered through the Better Care Fund).
As set out in the NHS Five Year Forward View, NHS South Cheshire and NHS Vale Royal
CCGs are committed to the redesign of urgent and emergency care services in Central
Cheshire for people of all ages with physical and mental health problems. It is our
expectation that a fundamental shift in the way urgent and emergency care services are
provided to all ages, improving out-of-hospital services so that we deliver more care closer to
home and reducing hospital attendances and admissions are in the best interests of the
populations we serve. We need a system that is safe, sustainable and that consistently
provides high quality urgent and emergency care.
NHS 111 Procurement:
We said Project objective: To commission and re-launch the NHS 111 service across
both CCGs
We did
Blackpool CCG took the lead as host commissioner and delivered on the
retendering process and commissioning the NHS 111 service
Next
Project objectives achieved and project closed February 2016
steps
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Health and Social Care Outcomes:
We said Project objective: To develop Outcomes utilised by the Provider Board to
develop a business case to shape urgent care health and social care
services
We did
Outcomes were defined and work is transferred to the Connecting Care lead
and urgent care work stream for ongoing development of business case and
models of care to deliver the outcomes
Next
Project objectives achieved and project closed February 2016
steps

Strategic Priority: Integration
The delivery of Integrated Community Teams and the transformation of community services,
some of which will be delivered through the Better Care Fund.
At NHS South Cheshire CCG we believe in care that is person-centred and coordinated
across mental and physical health and across health and social care. For care to be truly
integrated, we believe individual organisations and care professionals need to bring together
all of the different elements of care that a person needs.
Integrated Learning Disabilities (Cheshire East):
We said Project objective: To examine how people with learning disabilities (including
a broad range of conditions and needs e.g. Autism, ADHD and challenging
behaviour) can be supported effectively, considering universal, community
and specialist elements, a proportional approach to supporting people and
alignment with existing integration initiatives such as Caring Together and
Connecting Care.
We did
The project output to commission an integrated, community adult service
could not be agreed by partners and so the project was deemed
unsustainable and closed in November 2015
Next
Elements of the project are now included in the Learning Disabilities
steps
Transformation project for 2016/17
Transitional Care and Short Term Assessment Intervention Recovery and
Rehabilitation Service (STAIRRS):
We said Project objective: To commission short term community beds
We did
Procurement of community beds with associated payment tariffs
Next
Project objectives achieved and project closed March 2016
steps
Nurse Revalidation:
We said Project objective: To establish a process and appropriate tool for nurse
revalidation across the CCGs
We did
Work was undertaken with HeART to commission a web based tool that
enables nurse revalidation compliance, monitoring and reporting and this is to
be utilised by the nursing team within CHC and Practice Nurses. There is
ongoing engagement with the nursing workforce to promote the use of the
tool and to also explore the options to use this within practices for delivery of
appraisals/ PDRs
Next
Project objectives achieved and project closed in January 2016 and ongoing
steps
use embedded within business as usual within the Quality team
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Strategic Priority: Person Centred Care
With a focus on self-care, self-management and empowering communities and individuals
and that all patients experience person centred care that is safe, effective and efficient.
Chemotherapy reform:
We said Project objective: Oncology team will extend their specialist knowledge into
Primary Care to support admission avoidance and reduced length of stay
We did
Ensured the oncology team provided a community based service including
clinical intervention, providing advice and support to service users, facilitating
access to specialist services, providing education and development to GP
practices. We also undertook patient satisfaction interviews to ensure the
patient experience informed the ongoing development and implementation of
the service
Next
Project objectives achieved and project closed March 2016 as ongoing
steps
service provision is embedded.
MCHfT Pathway Review:
We said Project objective: To assess the case for change in cancer pathways for the
population of South Cheshire and Vale Royal.
We did
A review of the Gynae pathway was undertaken and overseen by the Cancer
Commissioning board with award of the Gynae contract and subsequent
mobilisation of service pathway. Healthwatch were engaged as part of the
cancer commissioning board and they also led and delivered on engagement
activities. The engagement focus with service users was on the pathway
review and gaining understanding around topics of travel, access, general
patient experience and patient centred outcomes. Further engagement was
undertaken through patient stories and case studies and a patient experience
survey. Information from service user engagement was used to shape the
pathway review and recommendations for development of the pathway
Next
Project objectives achieved and project closed March 2016 with ongoing
steps
monitoring embedded within business as usual contract monitoring
Lung Cancer Pathway:
We said Project objective: To diagnose cancer earlier, with particular reference to lung
cancers.
We did
A new process was established for self-referral for chest X Rays with over
120 people accessing the service. The project also recruited and trained 110
community champions and held an end of year champion’s celebration event.
There was also delivery of a training and education programme for primary
care. Throughout the project there was a strong focus on engaging with the
general public and this was achieved through a variety of methods including
several community awareness raising events, marketing materials, twitter,
website, local radio and linking in with local businesses. The Community
Champions also provided a pivotal role in ongoing public engagement.
Next
The project objectives have been achieved and the project closed March
steps
2016, but lessons learned and activities used will be transferred to ongoing
cancer projects aimed at early detection.
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Pain Management:
We said Project objective: To re-establish provision of a community pain
management service for the populations of South Cheshire and Vale Royal
We did
Developed an outcomes based service specification and undertook a
procurement process to commission a provider. Implemented a contract with
the preferred provider and communicated this to practices and other
stakeholders.
Next
Project objective achieved and project closed January 2016: continued
steps
service delivery monitored through business as usual
Parkinson’s Specialist Nurse:
We said Project objective: To establish a local Parkinson’s Specialist Nurse service
We did
Funding was provided through the Parkinson’s Society and work was
undertaken with MCHfT to host and recruit to this post and deliver a
community based specialist Parkinson’s Nurse. The Nurse role includes
tracking a person with Parkinson’s from diagnosis providing a first point of
contact service for information and signposting, care co-ordination for people
with complex needs, assessment of Parkinson’s Disease through all four
stages and symptom management and health promotion
Next
Project objectives achieved and project closed February 2016
steps
SEND (Special Educational Needs and Disabilities):
We said Project objective: To ensure both CCGs have appointed a Designated
Clinical Officer (DCO), and in conjunction with Local Authorities ensure there
are health elements within the Local Offer and to develop and implement a
process for assessment and provision of Education, Health and Care Plans
(EHCP)
We did
Developed a service specification for the DCO and contracted provision
initially through ECT and then appointed in house provision. Worked with
both neighbouring local authorities to develop and implement the local offer
and ensure that all commissioned health providers contribute to the local
offer. Ensured the DCO contributes to the EHCP assessment process to
ensure service users receive appropriate health services as part of their
individual package of support. Healthwatch has undertaken a Cheshire wide
review of the new SEND processes.
Next
Project objective achieved and project closed January 2016: continued
steps
service delivery monitored through business as usual
Children’s Nursing Review:
We said Project objective: To undertake an appreciative enquiry with service users
and other stakeholders in order to review the current service delivery and
from this design a commissioned model that matches service provision
against local need
We did
Commissioned an external partner to undertake the appreciative enquiry
across both local authority footprints, including use of focus groups,
engagement workshops with stakeholders, interviews and questionnaires and
from this produced a report and recommendations for commissioning future
services.
Next
Commissioning the preferred model is now part of the Community services
steps
redesign and the project was closed in January 2016
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Maternity Case Loading:
We said Project objective: To undertake a formal commissioning approach to
contracting with ‘One to One’ and to develop a case-loading maternity model
service specification
We did
The project was suspended as the CCGs needed to await the outcome and
recommendations of the national maternity review. Work with ‘one to one’
was embedded within business as usual through contracts and quality team
Next
Project closed January 2016
steps
Tier 3 Weight Management:
We said Project objective: To commission a Tier 3 compliant Specialist Weight
Management Service which provides effective multidisciplinary obesity
treatment through the prescription of appropriate medical, dietetic,
psychological and exercise intervention
We did
Developed a service specification and undertook a procurement process. The
service was implemented by September 2015
Next
Project objective achieved and project closed September 2015
steps
CATCH (Common Approach To Child Health):
We said Project objective: To develop an alternative information source to provide
support, advice and guidance for parents and/or carers of children with
common child health issues to promote effective self-care.
We did
The project worked in partnership with Eastern Cheshire CCG to develop an
APP based on the NHS Choices web site and information. The development
of the APP involved input from focus groups of parents/ carers, hospital and
community healthcare professionals and was co-ordinated by the project
team and a lead from Cheshire East Council Public Health. The APP was
launched in February at an event in Congleton Town Hall that was attended
by Local Authority, hospital and community medical staff and service user
representatives and will also be promoted by the local workforce including
Health Visitors and maternity staff.
Next
Project objectives achieved and project closed March 2016
steps
Quality in Care Homes:
We said Project objective: To provide a joint (Integrated with Local Authority)
standardised approach to quality assurance reviews for care homes across
South Cheshire and Vale Royal CCGs
We did
A process and tool was implemented in conjunction with both local authorities
to facilitate quality assurance visits to care homes that included a review of
performance data from the home, agreement on areas for further assessment
and involving service users and carers/ relatives
Next
Project objectives achieved and project closed March 2016 with ongoing
steps
delivery embedded within business as usual
Patient Transport re-procurement:
We said Project objective: To re-procure the 5 Northwest Patient Transport service
contracts
We did
Blackpool CCG took the lead as host commissioner and delivered on the
retendering and commissioning process
Next
Project objectives achieved and project closed February 2016
steps
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1.2 Performance Analysis
1.2.1

Performance and discharge of duties

As a member organisation we have agreed the local health priorities during 2015/16 in our
operational plan. The section below highlights some of the key priorities for the year, and
also our view as Members of the progress to date. This is not an exhaustive list but seeks to
provide the reader with a flavour of our work during 2015/16.

1.2.2

Working with partners / contributing to joint strategies

As a CCG, we recognise that it is how we work with our partners that will really make a
difference to the health outcomes of our population. We work in partnership with a number
of other organisations and agencies. Over the last year we have further developed and
strengthened our relationships across Cheshire and beyond. As a CCG we are accountable
to NHS England, and work closely with the NHS England Area Team (covering Cheshire,
Warrington and Wirral). The NHS England Area Team regularly seeks assurance from us
regarding our commissioning responsibilities. The most recent assurance meeting took
place in January 2016 during which we received positive feedback from the NHS England
Area Team. Through these meetings and regular contact we have built successful
relationships and we will continue to need to work closely with NHS England in order to meet
the significant challenges to come.
We collaborate with NHS Vale Royal CCG, and NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG and our local
authority, Cheshire East Council. During the last year we have continued to co-operate, pool
resources, and work together to best meet the needs of our local communities.
Examples of our collaborative approach to delivering joint strategies are included throughout
this report. The CCG plays an active role on the Health and Wellbeing Board and
associated scrutiny committee. As a CCG we have actively contributed to the development
and delivery of joint health and wellbeing strategies and work closely with our colleagues in
health and social care. The Better Care Fund is one of the main strategic drivers nationally
for social and health care commissioners to work more closely together. We have worked
with partners through the Health and Wellbeing Board to support delivery of the Fund during
2015/16. We have also supported development of the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment
(JSNA) which informs local health and wellbeing strategies and shared our Operational Plan
with partners via the Health and Wellbeing Board. We consulted our stakeholders, including
the Health and Wellbeing Board, on our performance and level of engagement in developing
and delivering joint strategies via the annual 360o Survey.
The Health and Wellbeing Board Partnership Network, which our CCG participates in, has a
valuable role to play in addressing the priorities contained in the Health and Wellbeing
strategy. It brings together leaders from key organisations to enable change and this
network is ideally placed to overcome barriers by working together.
We are proud to work with, and continue to develop links with, our biggest community assets
in terms of both the third and voluntary sector organisations. Across Cheshire we work with
numerous organisations to provide health and care support services, but to also deepen our
community engagement work. We firmly believe that the public are key partners in
developing how care should be provided and should directly influence what good care looks
like.
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Published in June 2014, our Connecting Care Strategy articulates shared ambitions and a
programme of work for the population across South Cheshire and Vale Royal. The Strategy
sets out to support the people within our local communities to be empowered to take
responsibility for their own health and wellbeing. They will place less demand on more costly
public services through the implementation of ground-breaking models of care and support
based on:
• Integrated communities
• Integrated case management
• Integrated commissioning and
• Integrated enablers to support these new ways of working
The Connecting Care Board has wide stakeholder membership from all commissioning and
provider partners, the public, NHS England, Public Health and Healthwatch. The Board is
chaired by Dr Andrew Wilson, also chair of the CCG. A Senior Responsible Officers’ meeting
drives implementation and supporting infrastructure includes a System Resilience Group,
Commissioning Alliance, Provider Board, and public and professional panels. The
Programme provides regular update reports to local authority Health & Wellbeing Boards
and to the Cheshire-wide Pioneer programme.
The approach to realising transformation has been through engagement with public and
professionals. Engagement is a hallmark of the Connecting Care programme. For example,
the care model was developed through a series of engagement events with public and
professionals from all provider organisations, in addition to social and health commissioners.
Additionally, the Connecting Care governance arrangements include a public and a
professionals’ panel who help co-develop the transformation plan and priorities, in addition to
the use of engagement events to support development and prioritisation work. Moreover, as
service areas are redesigned, through specifications and business cases, organisations
completing this work also involve clinical and other social, primary care, mental health and
acute staff.

System Resilience Group (SRG) Planning 2015/16
The SRG was allocated £1.7m by NHS England (NHSE) for 2015/16.
However, due to the pressures that continued within the system during Quarter 1 2015/16,
NHSE mandated that the SRGs fund the successful 2014/15 winter initiatives to the end of
April 2015. This requirement took £287k of funds from the SRG budget for winter 2015/16,
(see breakdown overleaf):
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Organisation

Initiatives

£

MCHFT

Additional ED Staffing

£38.3K

MCHFT

16 beds - ward 12

£71.5K

MCHFT

PAA overnight & weekends

£61.1K

MCHFT

ST3 Discharge Dr at weekends

£4.0K

MCHFT

SAU

£26.9K

MCHFT

Pharmacy TTOs

£0.5K

MCHFT

Reduced Medicine capacity

£4.8K

MCHFT

UCC

£2.4K

ECT

GP OOHs additional weekends

£16.5K

ECT

Enhanced Therapies

£43.2K

ECT

Station House IC staffing

£14.1K

CEC

Social Worker

£2.0K

CWAC

Social workers

£2.0K

TOTAL

£287.3K

To mitigate against the shortfall of funding, the Operational Resilience Group (ORG)
developed an approach to developing plans in 2015/16 - three task and finish groups: were
established to work jointly on three specific work streams:
• Avoidance of attendances and admissions to hospital
• Improved flow within the acute trust
• Integrated supported discharge and community care
Each group was allocated £400k and a lead from the providers was identified for each
group, stakeholders from all SRG partner organisations were members of each group.
Each group was asked to:
• Address the key areas of development discussed for each work stream at the June ORG
(based on the performance of the previous winter initiatives)
• Address the areas of work identified for their group within the eight high impact areas as
highlighted by NHSE
• Address the areas of work identified for their group from the report produced for UHNM
(University Hospital of North Midlands).
• Identify initiatives and solutions that could be delivered at no cost
• Not to include any bed based services. An additional SRG Task and Finish group had
already been established earlier in the year to review community bed provision and
develop proposals for the local health and social care economy
All local organisations were involved in the decisions around which initiatives would be
implemented in 2015/16 and developed balanced proposals that were ratified by the SRG.
The table overleaf shows the initiatives agreed for 2015/16:
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Organisation
Group 1
Attendance
and
Admission
Avoidance

GP Alliance

Hospital
Patient
Flow

Group 3

£330k

OOHs

OOHs enhanced capacity

£60k

NWAS

NWAS Pathfinder/direct conveyancing

£0

CCG

Implementation of MIG for EPACCS/EOL

£25k

BRC

Patient Transport to support Primary Care

£25k

ED additional Staffing

£195k

ECT & MCHFT

Enhanced therapy provision (REACT)

£214k

MCHFT

UCC Weekend and evening opening

£78k

MCHFT

Additional weekend medical cover

£27k

CEC

Acute Social Workers

£66k

CWaC

Acute Social Workers

£44k

CCG

Community Bed Bureau

£50k

BRC

Enhanced discharge from wards and ED

£130k

BRC

Enhanced home support

£35k

Enhanced therapy provision

£45k

Rapid Care Service

£162k

Rapid Care Service

£108k

Supported
ECT & MCHFT
Discharge and
CEC
Community Care
CWaC
TOTAL

1.2.3

£

Rapid response from Primary care

MCHFT
Group 2

Initiatives

£1595K

Improving Quality

Quality and Safeguarding at the heart of everything we do
Quality is at the centre of everything we do. In 2015/16 the CCG has ensured that quality of
care is our focus and priority. The Clinical Director for Quality leads the quality and safety
agenda across the CCG and works collaboratively to deliver the mechanisms to improve,
monitor and assure quality and patient safety in our healthcare providers.
As a CCG, we exercise functions with a view to securing continuous improvement in the
quality of services provided to individuals for, or in connection with, the prevention, diagnosis
or treatment of illness. As a CCG we also act with a view to securing improvements in the
outcomes that are achieved and, in particular, those which show the effectiveness, the
safety of the services provided, and the quality of the experience of the patient.
As a CCG we take responsibility for quality assurance by holding providers to account for
delivery of contractual obligations and quality standards. We also take responsibility for
working closely with providers to ensure service delivery continually improves and there are
processes in place to drive this continual improvement including the adoption and sharing of
innovation. We plan to work with carers, patients, service users and other agencies to
engage them in monitoring quality. The expert patient reference group has been pivotal in
the work of Connecting Care Board by ‘testing out’ developed models for service delivery
and the transformation of services. These ‘Quality checkers’ will be in a position to bring
fresh eyes to site visits as well as reviewing and commenting on tools in development.
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Presentations of patient stories have been given at local quality meetings to bring to life
experience of patients and understanding of local health services to the CCG’s attention.
Key Improvements 2015/16:
During 2015/16 there was a continued focus on patient experience, which was implemented
via the Commissioning for Quality and Innovation (CQUIN) schemes in the NHS Standard
Contract. CQUIN is an incentive scheme to encourage the delivery of a range of quality
improvements: During 2015/16 we engaged with our main acute healthcare provider and
agreed to focus on 4 clinical areas in order to gain valuable feedback from our patients.
These have been monitored during 2015/16 and the following outcomes have been
identified:
• Adult general outpatients, - a partial booking system has been implemented which has
led to a reduction in patients cancellation by 20%. Time slots for appointments have
been adjusted to ensure that there is sufficient length of time for each patient and
therefore excessive waits have been prevented.
• Urology patients – GPs now have electronic access to the referral pathway enabling
them to directly refer any patients with microscopic haematuria.
• Triage service for pregnant women - this was a new initiative for the Maternity Unit.
The aim was to ensure that women attending the Maternity Unit were triaged within the
15 minutes timeframe. Prior to the implementation of the triage service delays in triage
occurred regularly with only 78% women triaged within the timescale. To aid better
compliance, a Band 6 midwife was appointed to manage the process. Following the
implementation of the process the survey saw an improvement and the rate increased to
91% of women being triaged within the 15 minute timeframe. Further patient experience
is ongoing, looking how to improve the service.
• Paediatric outpatient facilities - a patient survey was undertaken to gain feedback on
how to improve services for children and young people. The overall results were
extremely positive. The majority of negative comments related to car parking. The
outcomes of the survey have been shared with staff and displayed in the Paediatric
Outpatients for children, young people and their families to see.
During 2015/16 there has have additional CQUINs focusing on
• Patient Experience around Discharge – audits have been undertaken during Quarter
3, an action plan has been completed highlighting issues and actions required and
include early identification by ward staff of patients for discharge and prompt action of
medication prescribing.
• The Complex Discharge CQUIN focused on patient stories where learning points have
been discussed with staff and the CCGs.
• Patient Experience following Hip and Knee Replacement – to standardise the
support and advice given to patients, a post discharge telephone call was implemented.
Guidance for staff through briefing sessions, were developed regarding appropriate
actions to be taken if patients raise any concerns are taking place.
• Patient Experience from patients with Heart Failure – questionnaires to be continued
to be given out to improve patient experience by continuously monitoring returns and
ensuring issues are actioned.
• Patient Experience following an episode of sepsis –patient stories gathered to
identify issues and identity areas for improvement and lessons learnt i.e. improve the
patient pathway around screening on first admission.
These incentive schemes have also been implemented with our Mental Health provider in
order to improve quality of patient care for those clients with Mental and Learning Disability
issues, achievements in 2015/16 include:
• Improving physical healthcare to reduce premature mortality in people with severe
mental illness
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•

•

•

Health Equality Framework (HEF) outcome measurement for services to people with
learning disabilities - To embed the routine use of the Health Equality Framework (HEF)
into practice and analyse individual patient outcomes to demonstrate the impact of
interventions on individuals.
Communication with General Practitioners - 90% of patients should have either an
updated Care Programme Approach i.e. a care programme approach includes a care
plan, or a comprehensive discharge summary shared with the GP. A local audit of
communications has also been completed.
Completion of a local audit of communication with patients’ GPs, demonstrating that, for
90% of patients audited, an up-to-date care plan and/or discharge summary has been
shared with the GP. This meets the standards of the Royal Colleges and includes NHS
number, ICD codes for all primary and secondary mental and physical health diagnoses,
medications prescribed and monitoring requirements, physical health conditions and
ongoing monitoring and treatment needs and recovery focussed healthy lifestyle plans.

Quality Surveillance Group (QSG)
NHS South Cheshire CCG is an active participant in our local QSG. These have been
established across the country to systematically bring together the different parts of the
system to share information. The QSG is an NHS England hosted group which includes
CCG, Local Authority, Care Quality Commission, Patient Advice & Liaison and local
Healthwatch representatives. They are a forum for collaboration, providing the health
economy with:
• A shared view of risks to quality through sharing intelligence;
• An early warning mechanism of risk about poor quality; and
• Opportunities to coordinate actions to drive improvement, respecting statutory
responsibilities of, and on-going operational liaison between, organisations.
Service Review Visits
The CCG has worked with NHS Vale Royal CCG and Cheshire West Healthwatch to provide
training to lay members about service review visits. Visits have been undertaken to our main
acute healthcare provider and mental health provider. A framework using the 6C’s has been
developed and tested. This will triangulate performance data, and soft intelligence such as
patient and staff feedback in a way which will guide lines of enquiry on each visit.
At the Quality and Performance Committee the CCG has run comprehensive reviews into a
number of topics which identified areas of good practice and highlighted variations in quality
and outcomes for patients.
The CCG is committed to supporting compassionate and high quality care as advocated by
the Chief Nursing Officer for England through Compassion in Practice - a strategy that aims
to achieve excellent health and wellbeing outcomes. It builds on the existing NHS
Constitution and the 6Cs (which details six values): Care, Compassion, Communication,
Courage, Competency, Commitment and our local 6th C Culture, which was developed at
one of the CCG engagement events.
Care Homes
The CCG has worked with social care colleagues to commission safe and high quality
services in Care Homes for those who have high care needs following a period of acute
hospital care
The CCG has committed to developing and embedding the 6Cs + 1 in all of its work and has
taken an active role nationally and locally in its promotion, including an innovative scheme
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to share best practice between local care homes. The CCG has also developed with
Cheshire East Council and East Cheshire CCG, a Joint Quality Monitoring Tool to be used
by both health and social care colleagues.
Safeguarding Adults
The approach of the CCG is to ensure services commissioned embed safeguarding
standards in practice with, where appropriate, the standard contract and/or the
commissioning standards document.
• Funding was sourced from NHS England to support a dedicated Mental Capacity Act &
Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards Practitioner post, The role is making a significant
impact on the statutory requirements regarding Mental Capacity Act (MCA)/ Deprivation
of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS). This includes the delivery of bespoke training sessions to
GP practices and care homes, joint work with colleagues in the CCG and Local Authority
to ensure quality assurance visits to care homes include a review of MCA and DoLS and
to gain assurance that processes are understood and well documented.
• Work is ongoing with the Continuing Healthcare team to facilitate a change in practice as
decision makers to ensure they’re completing the appropriate mental capacity
assessments, best interest meetings, and referrals to the Court of protection. This work
is in line with the NHSE MCA and DoLS National Group to ensure those people who lack
capacity and are funded by the NHS CHC process are involved in decisions regarding
their care and not unlawfully deprived of their liberty.
• The NHS England’s funding also included an opportunity for the Adult Designated
Nurses to upgrade the ‘Safeguarding Adults Pocket Book’ and offer an easy guide for
front line staff, the narrative within the pocket book had been a national success, with
partners from all sectors expressing keen interest to adopt the information. All primary
and secondary commissioned services have access to the pocket books, as well as our
local statutory partners.
• The core business of the Designated Nurses within the CCG has continued with
quarterly Safeguarding Assurance Meetings, the meetings provide assurance to subcommittees of the NHS Clinical Commissioning Groups on actions to safeguard children
and adults. Providing a structure for reporting, management of risk and reviewing
performance. The meetings are held with our three main providers East Cheshire Trust,
Mid Cheshire Hospital Foundation Trust and Cheshire and Wirral Partnership.
• The Quality and Performance Committee receive quarterly safeguarding children and
adult update and risk reports. The reports include key points of the Local Safeguarding
Children and Adult Boards work. The Governing Body receives an annual update in
relation to safeguarding children and adults.
Safeguarding Children
The CCG has a statutory responsibility to safeguard and promote the welfare of children,
including Cared for Children, who are living in our communities. Safeguarding is an integral
part of its commissioning processes.
• Leadership in the Health Community - As clinical experts and strategic leaders, the
designated professionals for safeguarding and looked after children provide a vital
source of advice to the CCG, NHS England, the Local Authority, Local Safeguarding
Children Board and Police. They also provide advice and support for health
professionals in provider organisations and independent contractors.
• Quality Outcomes for Children - The CCG’s main safeguarding focus over the last
year has been to improve the quality of the health services contribution to support and
protect children, through further developing a set of safeguarding standards which have
been included in all provider contracts. These now include standards relating to Child
Sexual Exploitation, Female Genital Mutilation, Prevent, Domestic Abuse and
development of multi-agency integrated working in respect of front line staff. The
standards set out requirements for organisations to have a well-trained workforce with
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robust safeguarding policies and procedures, including supervision that are able to take
action when they identify any child who is in need of support or protection.
Each organisation is required to complete an annual self-evaluation safeguarding audit.
These are formally monitored for quality by the CCGs and a formal escalation process
initiated when standards are not met.
Designated Professionals have led on work with local authority partners to agree a
common approach across organisations in relation to quality and monitoring in 2016/17.
The Designated Nurses work closely with Public Health colleagues to support the quality
of safeguarding within their NHS providers.
The CCGs have produced a set of dashboards for use by its main providers. These
dashboards serve a dual purpose in both reporting on safeguarding activity e.g. number
of child protection medicals undertaken, and on quality e.g. number of child protection
medicals reported on within 72 hours. The dashboard information is formally monitored
through quarterly safeguarding assurance meetings held by the CCG with its main
providers. The dashboard information includes indicators set by the CCG in response to
Local Safeguarding Children’s Board (LSCB) priorities. For example ‘early help’ is seen
as a key strategy in providing help for children and families when problems are first
recognised, so preventing escalation into the child protection system.
•

Multi-agency working - As part of its role in working to safeguard children and
vulnerable people, the CCG has developed a strong partnership working ethic and has
contributed to the work of the Health and Well-Being Board, Children’s Trust Boards,
Corporate Parenting Panel and to the LSCB and all of its sub groups. This has included
the work of Child Death Overview Panel, the multi-agency audit and case review
process, including Serious Case Reviews and Practice Learning Reviews, quality
assurance and outcomes sub groups. Promoting quality of the services provided for
individual children and young people at risk or in care is integral to CCG and multiagency working.
The Designated Nurses have contributed to Ofsted improvement plans during 2015/16.
This has resulted in both local authorities receiving improved Ofsted judgements.
The CCG has led on the development of the new multi-agency LSCB Information
Sharing Protocol, which has been developed for use by front line practitioners in line with
National guidance.
NHS South Cheshire and NHS Vale Royal CCGs are working in partnership with their
respective Local Authorities in the development of the multi-agency safeguarding hub
and in particular facilitating the involvement of health providers. The aim is to improve
the sharing of information and decision making about children and young people who are
vulnerable and have been referred for support or safeguarding.
South Cheshire CCG, in collaboration with Eastern Cheshire CCG, have jointly
commissioned a specialist nurse to work as part of the multi-agency team working with
young people who are at risk of or who have experienced child sexual exploitation. This
nurse is now in post.

•

Audit - The CCGs have undertaken a Section 11 audit (which considers delivery of the
statutory duty to safeguard and promote the welfare of children) and demonstrated that
their statutory children’s safeguarding responsibilities have been met under section 11 of
the Children Act 1989. The audit outcomes have been reported to the LSCB as part of
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their quality assurance process.
South Cheshire CCG has acted as the pilot for the NHS England safeguarding selfassurance tool being developed for use with CCGs. The CCG has carried out audits to
identify whether their staff understand what to do and who to contact if they have a
safeguarding concern. Follow up of audit has been undertaken via safeguarding team
walkabout and presentations in staff meetings.
As Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) champion, the Designated Nurses have taken part in
CSE case audit. The Named GPs (who are funded by NHS England), Designated
Nurses and Doctors for safeguarding children have contributed to all multi-agency
safeguarding audits. The Named GPs are undertaking quarterly audit of GP information
sharing via case conference reports.
•

How we have captured the voice of the child - The quality of safeguarding is
enhanced when children and young people are kept at the heart of services provided.
The CCG is committed to listening to the voice of young people when commissioning
health care services. We work closely with youth advisors that have been drawn together
from Cheshire schools, local employers and organisations representing young
people. They engage young people in describing how services work for them and how
they could be improved. For example, there has been consultation with young people
during the development of a Cared for Children’s health booklet.
Young people are invited to contribute to staff recruitment interview panels. A young
person has recently been part of the interview panel for the new Child Sexual
Exploitation (CSE) Specialist Nurse Role.
The CCG has included ‘the voice and lived experience of the child’ in its safeguarding
standards and expects its providers to evidence that this is being done in the course of
their work. Patient stories evidencing the lived experience of children are being
presented at the quarterly safeguarding assurance meetings with providers.

•

Cared for Children - The CCGs have commissioned additional nurse support in the
Cared for Children Team, in order to ensure that there is capacity to assess and meet
the health needs of this group of vulnerable children. A further review of the Cared for
Children Team is planned for April 2016.
The CCG has increased the Designated Nurse for Cared for Children resource and has
commissioned a specialist nurse to work with cared for young people age 16-25 years.
Interviews for this post are underway.
The Designated Nurse for Cared for Children in South Cheshire has established stronger
links with the Health and Well-being Board. She has worked to limit the challenges
within changing commissioning and provider arrangements for the 0-19 community
health services so that Cared for Children receive continuity of care.
Work continues across both CCGs with their associated local authorities and providers to
further improve joint processes to share information and improve the timeliness of initial
and review health assessments.
The South Cheshire CCG has commissioned a research project into the mental health
needs of adopted children. Results from this project will be reported in May 2016. A
further project has been commissioned into the mental health needs of Cared for Young
People.
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•

Safeguarding in GP Practice - The Named GPs have reviewed safeguarding training
for GPs and instigated a rolling programme of GP training sessions. They have
established a supportive forum for GP safeguarding leads and practice managers. They
have worked to establish better information sharing systems between GP practices and
the local authority.

•

Key Risks - There is no Designated Doctor for Safeguarding Children currently in post in
South Cheshire CCG in accordance with statutory requirements (DH 2015). A firm plan
is in place with Mid Cheshire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust to provide appropriately
qualified consultant paediatricians to undertake the role from July 2016.

Quality Premium 2015/16
The Quality Premium scheme is about rewarding Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) for
improvements in the quality of the services they commission. The scheme also incentivises
CCG’s to improve patient health outcomes and reduce inequalities in health outcomes and
improve access to services. In 2015/16 the quality premium was based on the following
measures that cover a combination of national and local priorities. These are:
NHS South Cheshire CCG
Quality Premium 2015/16
Quarter 3 Summary Progress

National Measures
Reducing potential years of life lost from amenable mortality
Reduction in the number of patients attending an A&E
department for a mental health-related needs who wait more
than four hours to be treated and discharged, or admitted,
together with a defined improvement in the coding of patients
attending A&E.
Reduction in the number of people with severe mental illness
who are currently smokers
Reduction in the number of antibiotic prescribed in primary care
Reduction in the proportion of broad spectrum antibiotics
prescribed in primary care
Local Measures
Increasing the proportion of patients who can receive
effective treatment for lung cancer NB: We will assess this
indicator in the context of stage of lung cancer at diagnosis and
route of presentation to lung cancer diagnosis
Estimated diagnosis rates of dementia

Measure
on Target –
End of
Quarter 3

RAG

Yes

G

No

R

No

R

Yes

G

Yes

G

No

R

No

R

The Quality and Performance Committee is monitoring performance against the quality
premium.
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1.2.4

Reducing Inequalities

Around 10.7% of our population across South Cheshire live in small areas (LSOAs) that are
among the 20% most deprived areas in England. A further 15.6% live in the next most
deprived fifth of areas in England. The map colours individual postcodes to illustrate
geographical variations in deprivation. The areas of solid colour represent the towns, while
areas with white spacing represent rural villages and rural communities. It shows that:
•
•
•
•

Large parts of Crewe town are very deprived
Each of the four other main towns contain some deprived areas
All of the five main towns have a mix of affluent areas as well as deprived areas
There is rural deprivation to the west and north of Nantwich, and from Sandbach to
Alsager

Middlewich
Sandbach

Alsager
Crewe
Nantwich

Our work at the CCG ultimately aims to reduce health inequalities within our communities.
The Annual Public Health Report 2014 highlighted the stark difference between living within
a deprived or affluent area. Evidence suggests that living in deprivation leads to premature
death, with a twofold difference in death rates between the most deprived and least deprived
areas in South Cheshire. The Joint Strategic Needs Assessment shows that there are similar
differences in the incidence and prevalence of many acute and chronic diseases, and also in
many of the lifestyle factors that are known to cause disease in both children and adults.
The CCG is required to pay due regard to the Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) as defined
by the Equality Act 2010. Failure to comply has legal, financial and reputational risks.
The key functions that enable NHS South Cheshire CCG to make commissioning decisions
and monitor the performance of their providers have to demonstrate (in an auditable
manner) that the needs of protected groups have been considered in:
•
•
•
•
•

Commissioning processes
Consultation and engagement
Procurement functions
Contract specifications
Quality contract and performance schedules, and
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•
•

Governance systems
Human resources and workforce

Equality and Diversity
Promoting equality is at the heart of NHS South Cheshire CCG ensuring that we commission
services fairly and that no community or group is left behind in the improvements that will be
made to health outcomes across Central Cheshire.
We will continue to work internally, and in partnership with our providers, community and
voluntary sector organisations, and other key stakeholders to ensure that we advance
equality of opportunity and meet our exacting requirements of the Equality Act 2010.
The Equality Act 2010 requires us to meet our Public Sector Equality Duty across a range of
protected groups including age, gender, race, sex, sexual orientation, religion/belief, gender
identity, marital/civil partnership status and pregnancy/maternity status.
Equality objectives
We are required to prepare and publish Equality Objectives and to meet our Specific Duties
as outlined in the Equality Act 2010. The CCG understands that sometimes in our lives we
may face barriers in relation to accessing health services or experience different
outcomes. NHS South Cheshire CCG wants to make a big difference to health outcomes
across our diverse communities and our Equality Objectives will support us to do this.
Our CCG Equality Objectives are:
• To improve NHS South Cheshire CCG’s understanding of the needs of the local
population by protected characteristic through engagement and other key sources data
and patient experience information
• To make fair and transparent commissioning decisions
• To ensure the equality of opportunity in employment and training provision
• To improve the equality performance of our providers
Equality Delivery Systems
There is clear evidence that people’s health, their access to health services and experiences
of health services are affected by their age, gender, race, sex, sexual orientation,
religion/belief, transgender, marital/civil partnership status and pregnancy/maternity
status. NHS South Cheshire Clinical Commissioning Group strives to commission services
that meet the needs of our communities; improving access and outcomes for the residents of
South Cheshire.
We have adopted the Equality Delivery System (EDS2) as our performance toolkit to support
us in demonstrating our compliance with the Public Sector and General Equality Duty. The
Equality Delivery System (EDS) is a tool-kit that can help NHS South Cheshire CCG improve
the services we provide for our local communities, consider health inequalities in our locality
and provide better working environments, free of discrimination, for those who work with us
in the NHS.
The EDS has four goals key goals (with 18 specific outcomes) achieving better outcomes,
improving patient access and experience, developing a representative and supported
workforce and finally, demonstration of inclusive leadership.
NHS South Cheshire CCG has been assessed as “Developing / achieving” reflecting the
need to fully embed equality and diversity. The CCG is currently working towards improving
its performance around the following EDS 2 indicators, over the next 2 years:
• Services are commissioned, procured, designed and delivered to meet the health needs
of local communities
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•
•

People, carers and communities can readily access hospital, community health or
primary care services and should not be denied access on unreasonable grounds
Papers that come before the Governing Body and other major Committees identify
equality-related impacts including risks, and say how these risks are to be managed

To help us set our Equality Objectives we used NHS Equality Delivery Systems selfassessment (EDS 2) .Please see our annual E&D report including our Equality Objective
Plan) http://www.southcheshireccg.nhs.uk/about-us/equality-and-diversity
Please view our Equality delivery Systems 2 Summary
report http://www.southcheshireccg.nhs.uk/about-us/equality-and-diversity
For further Equality Information about Equality and Diversity, visit the Equality and Human
Rights Commission website.
Provider performance
All our key NHS providers have undertaken the EDS 2 assessment and have set equality
objectives in accordance with their requirements. We are working closely with our providers
to improve equality performance and access and outcomes for protected groups through
robust contract monitoring, via the quality contract schedule.
Human resources
The CCG is also working towards implementation of the New National Workforce race
Standard. Standard aims, to address the lack of Black and Minority Ethnic (BME)
representation at senior levels in the NHS, and to galvanise cultural and organisational
change. The Standard, underpinned by commissioning and regulatory action, will also help
to address the treatment of BME staff including adverse outcomes throughout recruitment
and promotion, access to non-mandatory training, over-representation in disciplinary
procedures, bullying and harassment. The new standard supports the vision set out in the
Five year Forward View and the need to ensure NHS workforces experience inclusive and
non-discriminatory opportunities.

1.2.5

Patient and Public Involvement

Engaging with our patients, public and stakeholders NHS South Cheshire CCG
NHS South Cheshire Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) has a real desire to make a
difference to our patients, public and stakeholders, enabling everyone in our local
communities to have a voice in local health services and decision making.
Building on our experiences we will continue to gain insight from our existing networks and
from the 9 protected characteristics, working collaboratively to reduce health inequalities in
our local areas. Communications will continue to develop a relationship of trust and
openness with audiences, showcasing the work that we do whilst informing. It’s through this
process of open and honest communications we’ll ensure all of the work we do as a CCG is
delivered in a transparent, plain and simple way.
We apply three individual processes of engagement; individual participation, public
participation and insight and feedback. This ensures that at all stages of the commissioning
cycle we have listened to the voices of our local communities and populations and they have
had a real opportunity to influence the way that we deliver local healthcare. As a CCG we
will act on patient feedback and insight ensuring there is the right and appropriate level of
engagement in all commissioning activities, providing clear evidence of how our patients,
public and stakeholders have influenced decision making.
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Through the delivery of this strategy our patients, public, stakeholders and employees will
have a collective understanding of our local health economies with our member practices
speaking in a consistent voice, sharing the same messages in an aligned way. Our patients
and stakeholders will feel that their voices are heard and patients and carers will be
empowered to take ownership and be involved in their own health.
Delivering our engagement and involvement
Our approach to delivering communications, engagement and involvement is clearly
articulated in our Communications and Engagement strategy
<http://www.southcheshireccg.nhs.uk/publication/9860-december-2015-governing-bodypaper-5-5-4-communications-and-engagement-strategy
This strategy has been fully endorsed by our Governing Body and shows clearly how we will
deliver engagement and involvement. Demonstrating what impact it will have, building a
dialogue and a culture of empowering people through having a conversation with our local
population. This will ensure that they can make a real difference in shaping the future of local
healthcare and use their experiences to drive quality throughout the CCGs.
Governance and accountability
The CCGs’ Governing Bodies retain overall accountability for the delivery of effective
communications and meaningful engagement with dedicated Lay Members responsible for
ensuring public and patient involvement is considered and demonstrated. Our Lay Members
are responsible for communicating messages between the Governing Bodies and
Healthwatch, creating an effective two-way communication process as well as provide
scrutiny to the CCGs in the delivery of our duty.
All of the projects and commissioning intentions that are delivered by the CCG are
developed through our Project Management Office (PMO). A key element of the PMO is the
creation of robust communications and engagement plans, providing a clearly planned and
deliverable approach to engagement and involvement. This planned approach provides
assurance and a measurement tool to our Governing Bodies and accountable officers.
The Governing Body lead for Communications and Engagement duties for the CCGs is the
Chief Executive, supported by the Director of Operations and Systems Management.
To provide both our Governing Body and the population of South Cheshire with assurance
and a clear demonstration of the work we do an annual report is produced to showcase our
engagement and involvement. This is available on our website
here http://www.southcheshireccg.nhs.uk/publication/10296-engagement-involvement-andcommunications-12-month-review-2014-2015
Public participation
A Patient Participation Group (PPG) comprises volunteers registered with an individual
practice, whose main aim is to support the work of their practice through help and advice.
The group work with their practice to help continue to deliver a convenient, accessible
service for its patients. Although the work of PPG is focussed on individual practices, having
a group of engaged and empowered patients should be supported and utilized to represent
local voices.
Within South Cheshire the Federation of Patient Participation Groups is a reference group
that is made up of the PPGs from the GP Practices in the local area. The Federation
provides an effective mechanism through which PPGs can work together to share issues,
ideas, information, support and good practice with other PPGs, whilst also improving
communication and engagement and raising awareness of local health services,
developments, projects and opportunities for involvement.
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Our following on Twitter is expanding and we are continuing to build meaningful and
sustainable engagement and communications by showcasing the work of the CCG in the
local area and demonstrating its impact. Our governing bodies always feature live Twitter
feeds with our events and key activities also featured.
With being able to use Twitter at a hyper-local level to share and promote the work of the
CCGs we have enjoyed increasing engagement with our local MPs and
councillors. https://twitter.com/NHSSCheshireCCG
We have also built a YouTube channel to showcase the catalogue of patient experiences
and events we are capturing on film.
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCwBqAyG1QyM1_zgmrd0WZgQ
Our website will act as the hub of on-line information, providing governance information as
well as up to date news of the CCG, events and useful information key to the connected way
in which we work with our partners. It is the website that will demonstrate engagement tools
such as ‘you said, together we did’ showing how we listen to the feedback we receive, act up
on it and deliver a difference.
http://www.southcheshireccg.nhs.uk/get-involved

Highlights of our specific public and patient engagement
Cheshire Chat
Cheshire Chat was launched in autumn 2015 and was our Central Cheshire wide
engagement exercise. We spent time in our local communities encouraging everyone to get
involved to share their thoughts and views on local healthcare.
We wanted to give everyone the opportunity to have their say to make a real difference in
shaping local healthcare by answering a series of simple questions linked to our
commissioning priorities.
We spent time with our colleagues, patients, public and stakeholders asking them to share
with us what they think and feel about local healthcare for them and their local community as
well as what they would like to see in the future.
Over 400 surveys were completed with over 4500 members of our local population directly
engaged with.
We have a dedicated real-time results section of our Cheshire Chat website: www.cheshirechat.co.uk/results.
All of the information and feedback we have discovered will be mapped across all areas of
commissioning so we can clearly demonstrate where the views and thoughts of our
population in Central Cheshire have made a real difference to the work that we do.
Here are a few highlights of our incredibly valuable findings: In terms of Mental health we
have discovered overwhelmingly that our local population regardless of their age or where
they live in in Central Cheshire consider getting the right support should they find themselves
in a crisis the most important thing to them. We have also discovered that community based
care which focuses on joining up health and social care is also a key priority for our local
population. This is all against a backdrop of care that is easily accessible and of high quality.
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Expert Reference Group
The Expert Reference Group ensures the frontline voice of professionals and clinicians from
within the commissioning and provider cycle work together to collaboratively achieve the
strategic priorities and local ambitions of the CCG.
The Group provides a co-ordinated multi stakeholder voice and using an evidenced based
approach works to improve quality and outcomes for patients and service users within South
Cheshire.
Together the Group influences and advises the Connecting Care Board and Provider Board
on commissioning of services across the patient pathway, championing patient centred care
across the patient pathway. The Group played a key role in developing the draft service
model for delivering the Connecting Care Programme.
Our expert patients group is linked to our expert reference group and ensures the voice of
patients is heard within the commissioner and provider cycle, bringing together patients and
carers to focus on what is important to improve services, experiences and outcomes.
The expert patients group will work on ensuring the CCG delivers on quality and each
patient has access to high quality care for all of their healthcare needs as well as identifying
gaps and opportunities based on their experience of what the local population wants and
needs.
Both groups are managed by the quality team and are chaired by the Chief Nurse and
Director of Quality.
Central Cheshire Systems Resilience Group HACK
For the Central Cheshire HACK, NHS South Cheshire CCG worked together with NHS Vale
Royal CCG and other NHS organisations to look at our current ways of working, specifically
around the ways that health and social care can work together. As a group we spent time
finding solutions to ways we can move care into the community and keep people out of
hospital using the funds and money we already have.
This is the first time we have brought such a broad range of people together, from the Chief
Executive of the CCG to Occupational Therapists working in our community and from
innovation experts at companies such as Bentley to representatives from audit and financial
services. We also had strong patient representation from across Central Cheshire.
The event created a sense of energy and excitement and created different approaches to
tackle our difficult challenges. This alternative way of looking at things lead to the
development of ideas such as a personalised health passport to encourage people to look
after themselves through exercise, activity and personal experiences to a solution of a single
point of contact for healthcare professionals. This single point of access would provide a
‘one-stop-shop’ of information for health care professionals to ensure the best support for
patients leaving hospital and for patients already in the community.
You can read more about our HACK on our
website: http://www.southcheshireccg.nhs.uk/news_items/10125-central-cheshire-hack-2016
Via our Google+ page:
https://plus.google.com/communities/113776497554210174466
By watching our video:
https://youtu.be/wzGJI-kGrIU
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“You said, we did”
Every breath you take
You said: Late diagnosis of lung cancer in South Cheshire is a problem and locally people
are not always aware of the signs and symptoms of the disease.
We did: A high profile targeted campaign based in Crewe to raise awareness of the signs
and symptoms of lung cancer.
You can see the impact of this via Twitter: https://twitter.com/EBYTCrewe
Alongside this was a change in the ways people can access diagnostics – allowing those
who are concerned about their symptoms to self-refer for a chest X-ray at Leighton Hospital.
The approach taken is hyper-local focussing on community champions, local businesses and
local stakeholders all being very much involved in the project.
Mental Health Gateway
You said: Patients need a simple single point of referral for Mental Health services to enable
those in crisis to get local support quickly and smoothly. All patients should have care that is
co-ordinated and planned with the patient in mind.
We did: Re-designed the pathway with the local provider to give the patient immediate triage
in a single place. We have also worked with local organisations and charities to give patients
information and details to allow them to get support outside of the mental health team if this
is appropriate.
To date: Patients have one point of call whether they need advice or more specialist
services and intervention. This will be developed across all mental health services including
dementia.
Cancer Pathway review – Gynaecological pathway
You said: We want better outcomes for our Cancer patients to provide services that are
‘centralised where necessary and local where possible’.
We did: A series of engagement events to involve patients in the review of services as well
as a focus group to share patients’ stories and experiences to gain insight into their care.
This feedback informed commissioners to develop criteria to assess services.
To date: Decision was made to move specialised gynaecological services from The Christie
to University Hospitals of North Midlands from 1st April 2016. This change in specialist
provider will not impact on local cancer care which will remain unchanged. Patients with
suspected cancer will continue to be referred to Mid Cheshire Hospitals NHS Foundation
Trust (MCHfT, Leighton Hospital) by their GP for further investigation, diagnosis and local
treatment.

1.2.6

Financial Performance

Financial Performance
NHS South Cheshire CCG has achieved its financial
namely:
To remain within Revenue Resource Limits
To remain within Cash Resource Limits
To remain within Capital Resource Limits
To remain within Administration Resource Limits
See Note 22 in the Annual Accounts for more information

performance duties for 2015/16,





Better Payment Practice Code
The Better Payment Practice Code requires the clinical commissioning group to aim to pay
all valid invoices by the due date or within 30 days of receipt of a valid invoice, whichever is
later. The NHS aims to pay at least 95% of invoices within 30 days of receipt, or within
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agreed contract terms. Details of compliance with the code are given in Note 6 to the
financial statements.
Prompt Payments
The CCG is signed up to the principles of the Prompt Payment Code. This initiative was
devised by the government with The Institute of Credit Management to tackle the crucial
issue of late payment and to help small businesses. Suppliers can have confidence in any
company that signs up to the code that they will be paid within clearly defined terms, and
that there is a proper process for dealing with any payments that are in dispute.
Financial Highlights
Our main financial highlights are as follows:
• The CCG has achieved the CCG financial duties
• The total resource allocated in 2015/16 to NHS South Cheshire CCG was
£219.692m.
• The CCG achieved a planned surplus of £0.552m (0.25% of CCG resource) with
expenditure of £219.140m. This will be returned to the CCG non-recurrently in
2016/17.
The finance team realigned in 2015/16 to reflect the CCGs new directorate structure, this
has allowed greater scrutiny and assurance of the CCG financial position. The CCG has
implemented a Project Management Office system in 2015/16 which has allowed more
robust monitoring and reporting of efficiencies and productivity associated with the CCGs
commissioning intentions.
Capital Expenditure
The CCG had minimal capital expenditure of £35,000 during the year.
Administrative Running Costs
The total running cost allocation for the year was £3.800m (£4.057m including Quality
Premium). The expenditure reported against this budget in 2015/16 was £3.018m.
Property costs
In 2016/17 NHS Property Services will charge at Market Value Rent. This may have a
financial impact on the CCG.
Cash Flow
The CCG has managed its cash effectively over the year, not spending more than its
resource allocation. At the end of the year, a cash book balance of £118,000 was carried
forward, within the stipulated allowance of £194,000.
The Next 5 Years
The CCG is facing significant financial challenge over the next 5 years and has requested a
planned deficit in 2016/17. Consequently the CCG will be in financial recovery in 2016/17
with a focus on efficiency and productivity. This has yet to be agreed by NHS England and
may have an effect on the CCG as a going concern.
The CCG commenced the re-procurement of community services in 2015/16 and this will be
finalised in 2016/17. The CCG will be part of the Cheshire and Merseyside Sustainability
and Transformation area over the next 5 years and will be actively working across the area
to enact transformational change to deliver financial sustainability.
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Key Financial Priorities for 2016/17 to 2020/21
As a CCG we have a number of statutory financial and national requirements the key items
are identified below:• To maintain a balanced position and deliver the 1% surplus as required by the NHS
England;
• To deliver our Quality, Innovation, Productivity and Prevention targets whilst ensuring
that we are delivering improved care to patients;
• To invest the commissioning budget to maximise value for money;
• To ensure the financial resources are applied to support the CCG commissioning
Strategy;
• To utilise the Better Care Fund in 2016/17 locally on health and care to drive closer
integration and improve outcomes for patients and service users and carers;
Key Financial Risks facing the CCG
The key financial risks that the CCG has faced during the year are detailed in the corporate
risk register and are monitored on a regular basis via the Governance and Audit Committee.
The risks are also updated on a regular basis and the following are the key risks identified by
the CCG in the forthcoming year:
• The ability of the CCG to drive efficiency within the health care sector.
• The ability of the CCG to work collaboratively with partners to drive efficiency and
improved services through integration and innovation.
• The ability to absorb funding changes resulting from policy implementation at a
national level, e.g. specialist commissioning.
• The on-going pressure in respect of secondary care activity leading to high levels of
financial over performance.
• The high levels of increased demand for Continuing Health Care and Complex cases
leading to financial over performance.
• The volatility in respect of GP Prescribing budgets and the ability to control demand
and estimate accurately the impact of NICE approved applications.
• The ability to invest in Mental Health services to deliver parity of esteem.
• The ability of the CCG to accurately predict and absorb costs in respect of property
services.
Our Health Landscape
As a CCG we recognise that we operate within a competitive provider market. This is
consistent with, and supported by, NHS Improvement (the economic regulator for health
provision for all NHS providers) recent publications. As a CCG we are mindful of the need to
ensure that we adhere to the principles and rules. We are, as a CCG, acutely aware of our
commissioning responsibilities for our patients and population, but also attentive to ensure
that we deliver a sustainable financial position and achieve value for money. Our main focus
though remains one of driving towards improved integration of services and reducing
fragmentation within the funding envelope provided to the CCG.
We believe that the improved coordination of care across the entire patient pathway will
deliver the best clinical outcomes and deliver a sustainable health and social care local
environment. All NHS Clinical Commissioning Groups have a statutory duty to remain within
the resource that has been allocated to them from NHS England. This is referred to as
achieving operational financial balance. We have delivered all of our financial targets and
applied our resources effectively.
As a public sector body the CCG is assumed to be a ‘going concern’ where the continuation
of the provision of a service in the future is anticipated, as evidenced by inclusion of financial
provision for that service in published documents, given our predicted deficit for 2016/17 this
assumption may be challenged.
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Where a clinical commissioning group ceases to exist, it considers whether or not its
services will continue to be provided (using the same assets, by another public sector entity)
in determining whether to use the concept of going concern for the final set of Financial
Statements. If services will continue to be provided the Financial statements are prepared on
the going concern basis.

1.2.7

NHS Constitution Standards and Outcomes Framework

At NHS South Cheshire CCG we are committed to improving outcomes: better health for the
population of South Cheshire, increasing the quality of care received by all patients whilst
being accountable custodians of the public purse. Performance against headline NHS
Constitution targets is presented in the following tables.
Where the targets are not being met, the CCG works with partners to address performance.
Examples of such corrective action are outlined elsewhere in this report. During the year the
Quality and Performance Committee established an Improving Outcomes Sub-Committee to
further drive improvements (more information of the role of this group can be found at the
Developments During the Year section).
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1.2.8

Developments during the Year

As a CCG, we recognise the increasing pressures in elective and non-elective care,
prescribing, continuing health care, funded nursing care and learning disabilities
services. To enable us to provide good quality care, make improvements to the services
locally for our population, whilst at the same time contribute to the development of a more
financially sustainable health and care economy, we are working to ensure that there is a
continued drive for closer integration between health and care services achieved within
existing allocations and change recognised through provider contracts.
To ensure the CCG focussed its efforts and resources in the most efficient and effective way
and deliver maximum impact the CCG made a number of changes to way it worked during
2015/16.
Joint Governing Body meetings
From June 2015 onwards the Governing Bodies of NHS South Cheshire CCG and NHS Vale
Royal CCG met jointly. Both CCGs retain their respective Governing Bodies, in accordance
with statute and their respective constitutions, but joint meetings have ensured a consistent,
joined-up approach across the two CCGs
Programme Management Office (PMO)
During 2015/16 the CCGs committed to developing and implementing a Programme
Management Office (PMO) approach to facilitate the delivery of the Strategic and
Operational Plan and to deliver on the Strategic Priorities.
We recognised that there were four main drivers that would shape the development of the
PMO process and these were:
• Transparency
• Accountability
• Assurance
• Consistency
We said we needed a process that would provide:
• better continuity and maintenance of standards in our approach to managing projects;
• an agreed project approach with common methodology and appropriate tools
• programmes and projects aligned with corporate goals/ objectives/ priorities
• improved communication and planning;
• reduction in duplication of work or ineffective work
• improved reporting processes to measure performance and outcomes;
From May 2015 onwards we have therefore delivered:
• a bespoke designed, developed and implemented PMO process and methodology
• a bespoke designed, developed and implemented suite of PMO documentation tools
and performance reporting tools
• a shared drive system to facilitate ease of access to project documentation and
transparency (includes assignment of PMO log numbers and document version control)
• a PMO Task and Finish group and PMO champions
• a bespoke programme of staff briefing/ training sessions
• ongoing one to one support to staff in completion and review of project documentation
and project management support
• ongoing Staff communications regarding development, implementation and continued
use of the PMO process
• a bespoke PMO and Risk web based system for all staff use
• mechanisms for QIPP reporting
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•
•

a review of ‘business as usual’ work streams to identify options to include within the
PMO approach
a central portfolio of work across the CCGs, mapped to the Strategic Priorities with
monthly status updates from the 41 commissioning intentions reported to Clinical
Commissioning Executive for discussion, assurance and recommendations for actions.

Improving Outcomes Sub-Committee (IOSC)
During 2015/16, the Quality & Performance Committee identified the need to create a forum
to focus on the performance of providers and the CCG and consider CCG-level performance
issues.
The Improving Outcomes Sub-Committee was established as a sub-group of the Quality &
Performance Committee to provide assurance to the committee and to the Governing Body
that the CCG is carrying out its duties to improve outcomes for patients; promote patients’
rights; deliver services within financial plans; carry out its business effectively; and ensure
information technology is used appropriately to drive change.
The IOSC considers each of these areas drawing on information from various sources
including the CCG’s own commissioning intentions and business as usual; public health data
and intelligence, provider and NHS England performance data.
Sustainability Action Group (SAG)
The NHS Planning Guidance released in December 2015 set out nine ‘must dos’ that every
system is expected to deliver in 2016/17. It is therefore imperative that our local commission
intentions are clearly focussed, are understood and address the nine “Must Dos” identified in
the Guidance. These include the need to:
• Return the system to aggregate financial balance
• Improve and sustain delivery of the NHS constitutional standards for 18 weeks
Within the planning for the Commissioning intentions for 2016/17 it has been identified that
the following are key questions to answer:
• How will we close the health and well-being gap?
• How will we drive transformation to close the care and quality gap?
• How will we close the finance and efficiency gap?
As part of the response to these questions a Sustainability Action Group was established to
focus on 3 main elements: addressing financial recovery, financial sustainability and
performance management, including addressing over performance; system transformation;
and ensuring maintaining quality standards.
The Sustainability Action Group is tasked to make the system sustainable and will need to
consider a number of areas:
• Efficiency: what actions can be taken to ensure that the system we currently work in is as
efficient as possible?
• Controlling Demand: how can we look at reducing the number of A&E Attendances and
Admissions? How can we ensure elective care is provided appropriately and in an
environment that gives value for money?
• Transformation: what actions do we need to take across the whole health economy to
change the way the system works to provide better more efficient care?
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Highlights / examples of work undertaken during 2015/16
The following sections include examples of activity undertaken during the year.

Strategic Priority: Transforming Mental Health
Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT)
Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT) is an NHS programme of talking
therapy treatments recommended by the National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence
(NICE) which support frontline mental health services. It is commissioned by NHS South
Cheshire and NHS Vale Royal CCGs to offer our population a first-line mental health
treatment for people with common mental health problems, such as depression and anxiety
disorders.
Two key IAPT performance measures operate across South Cheshire CCG. Access rates
are not currently being met:
Access target: 1.25% per month (first treatment numbers required each
Performance
month to deliver CCG annual plan against the actual first treatments delivered) 0.65%
Recovery target: 50% of cases that have two or more treatment sessions and Performance
commence with depression and/or anxiety scores above ‘caseness’ to achieve 57%
IAPT Recovery (both depression and anxiety scores are below ‘caseness’).
The following actions have been taken to address performance issues for both NHS South
Cheshire and NHS Vale Royal CCGs:
• Contract Performance Notification (and associated fine) issued and will be applied until
such time targets are achieved by the Provider (CWP).
• Formal Service Recovery Plan negotiated with current provider (CWP)
• Monthly NHSE submissions
• Focused weekly performance monitoring meetings with the provider (CWP)
• Inclusion of IAPT performance on CCGs’ corporate risk register
• Successful 2015/16 CCG application for additional funding from NHSE (with CCG match
funding) to address outstanding IAPT waiting list backlogs (total £187,000). Whilst there
has been some release of funds from the NHSE and a consequent delay in the
recruitment of clinical staff revised trajectories for improvement in performance have now
been agreed.
• An additional £9,000 funding from NHSE has been secured to pilot a new computerised
cognitive behavioural therapy package called “Silver Cloud” to increase access with
immediate effect upon implementation to 100 patients.
Early Intervention Psychosis (EIP)
NHS South Cheshire CCG currently commissions a service to provide an early intervention
in psychosis service to our local population aged 14 to 35 (in accordance with original 3 year
service recommendations outlined in the National Service Framework). The service is cocommissioned between NHS South Cheshire, Vale Royal and East Cheshire CCGs and EIP
performance in South Cheshire during 2015/16 has been consistently strong.
Dementia
NHS England has set an ambition to improve dementia diagnosis rates amongst two thirds
of the population. The significance of a prompt diagnosis surrounds the support element, in
that it will enable the person with a diagnosis, their families and carers the opportunity to
discuss management and treatment options, plan ahead and access to appropriate
signposted help, advice and practical support.
The provision of high quality care and support for people with dementia and their carers is
high on the agenda for the CCG. Various factors contribute to the onset of dementia
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although advancing age is a crucial element and with an ageing population there is a
challenge to be faced locally.
The CCG has been identified by NHSE as an outlier and discussions have been held
regarding the on-going challenges in performance against this target.
Dementia diagnosis rate figures were published by the Health and Social Care Information
Centre (HSCIC) on 12th February 2016. The data provides the position at the end of
January 2016 and shows that of the national estimated number of people there is an
estimated gap of 915 people (including under 65s) who may benefit from access to support
by way of a dementia diagnosis across South Cheshire.
Much work is being undertaken to address this shortfall in performance including:
• Further analysis and benchmarking of diagnosis rates are shared monthly with practices,
allowing each practice to see performance in relation to colleagues.
• A 2016/17 Recovery Plan is under development aimed at supporting progress towards
achieving the required diagnosis rates for NHS South Cheshire CCG. The plan
includes proposed actions to address the shortfalls and a set of trajectories, an
overview of our practices using the primary care web tool to chart each practice and view
their activity data and actions to search in the clinical system for patients prescribed with
dementia medications without a confirmed diagnosis.
• Continued activities to raise awareness are supported by the expansion of dementia
friendly communities and dementia friendly GP practices throughout South Cheshire.
• Continued support to practices that have not activated the patient access on-line service
electronic system (EMIS) flag which acts as a reminder to carry out an assessment for
an eligible patient.
• Continued development of local pathways, increasing access to memory services and
post diagnostic support and aim to review numbers of patients identified through national
hospital CQUIN.
• Implementation of the primary care mental health ‘gateway team’; a primary care based
service where the patient receives regular clinical follow up, care and treatment along
with support and continuity of care from a dementia advisor throughout their condition.
Primary Care Mental Health Gateway
During 2015/16 NHS South Cheshire CCG and NHS Vale Royal CCG commissioned a new
model of primary care mental health support which aims to ensure that patients experience
speedier access to clinical expertise for mild to moderate mental health need. This will
ensure people with mental health needs and their families are offered a more robust primary
care offer to meet their needs in line with the NHS Forward View to address early
intervention and prevention.
At the time of writing, planning is well established and the first phase of the new service has
been operationalized. In order to deliver the further phases of this service, the CCGs have
developed a Service Development Improvement Plan (SDIP) to support: the development of
a primary care community dementia service and an extended redesign of liaison psychiatry
services.
It is clear that there is a strong interface between physical and mental health. Psychiatric
liaison services provide mental health care to people being treated for physical health
conditions in general hospitals. During 2015/16 the Central Cheshire system resilience
group (SRG) funded Rapid Assessment, Interface and Discharge training (RAID) for 60 100 nurses at MCHfT, both from the A&E and across wards and the rest of the Trust.
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Crisis Care Concordat
The 2014 Mental Health Crisis Care Concordat commits to “working together to improve the
system of care and support so people in crisis because of a mental health condition are kept
safe and helped to find the support they need – whatever the circumstances in which they
first need help – and from whichever service they turn to first”. The Crisis Care Concordat is
a multiagency pledge to improve the care and support for people in mental health crisis and
is arranged around four areas of work:
• Access to support before a problem reaches crisis point;
• Urgent and emergency access to crisis care;
• The right quality of care and treatment when in crisis; and
• Recovery and staying well and preventing future crises.
A successful street triage pilot was undertaken across the four CCGs (NHS South Cheshire,
NHS Vale Royal, NHS Eastern Cheshire and NHS West Cheshire) during 2015/16 and there
was a will to continue to invest and collectively commission the existing street triage service
into 2016-17.
Integrated Provider Hub (IPH)
The IPH model is currently being implemented by NHS South Cheshire and NHS Vale Royal
CCGs as a new way of commissioning via a lead provider focusing on quality and using
outcomes based commissioning. The IPH embraces the principles around personalisation
which are applied across the whole mental health pathway as opposed to the CCG
commissioning episodes of care with a range of different providers. This approach fosters a
collaborative approach to individual commissioning across different elements of the pathway
to achieve the most cost effective solution to meet the individual’s unmet needs. A phased
approach to delivering an Integrated Provider Hub for Mental Health Services in Central
Cheshire was agreed through the Governing Body in 2015.
To date we have delivered:
• Plans for the review of all high-cost, out-of-area CHC placements for both people with
mental health issues and/ or a learning disability
• Reviews are underway for an initial cohort of 15 people - across all age, varying
diagnoses, with packages from a range of providers - from across both CCG footprints.
• An Integrated Provider Hub Board has been established with accountability for the
“virtual budget” whilst commissioning of services remains with NHS South Cheshire and
Vale Royal CCGs.
• Specific integration IPH objectives for 2016/17 in Central Cheshire including Primary
care mental health ‘Gateway’, individual personal commissioning (IPC), Early
intervention psychosis (EIP), crisis care concordat (CCC), mental health choice. Each
objective has an identified lead from across the CCG and CWP who will support and
monitor progress.
Mental Health: System Grip
In addition to the commissioning activities mentioned in this report, the Mental Health Team
has delivered a significant amount of work during 2015/16 to promote “system grip” and
assurance on the quality of services we commission. We have:
• Developed a suite of outcome focused service specifications for each element of the
mental health (and learning disability) service pathways commissioned for 2016/17
onwards.
• Developed a new set of outcome indicators against each of the new specifications and
agree the key performance indicators that will allow the service to demonstrate progress
towards delivery of the required outcomes for patients/carers.
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Enhanced the operational input into our monthly contract and quality meetings during
2015/16; with accountability and performance systems now established and
management of contractual obligations and associated quality, value for money and
patient outcomes will be maintained, enhanced and driven.
Developed a set of service development and improvement plans (SDiPs) with CWP
Updated the quality/information schedule of the standard NHS contract for 2016/17 to
include a range of mental health specific requirements this year.
Developed a number of mental health (and learning disability) CQUIN indicators for
2016/17.

Strategic Priority: Transforming Primary Care
Re-commissioning of Community Services
Background
Since early 2014, NHS South Cheshire CCG and NHS Vale Royal CCG (the CCGs) have
been working on the system wide Connecting Care Strategy. This Strategy is ambitious, and
underpins the CCGs’ plans for the radical transformation of the capability, effectiveness and
culture of the local health and social care economy in which they operate. The Strategy
exists to deliver the CCGs’ vision of “Connecting Care in communities to ensure good
quality, personal, seamless support in a timely, efficient way to improve health and
wellbeing”.
The review and re-commissioning of Community Services is an integral element of the
Connecting Care Strategy, and is regarded as the catalyst for care services across the local
health economy to be delivered in a more integrated way - in order to secure the needs of
service users and improve the quality and efficiency of those services. It is the overall plan
for the health and social care footprint across the CCGs’ geographical area, with local
provision at its heart. The Strategy is aligned with the NHS 5 Year Forward View, published
in October 2014.
The CCGs embarked on an engagement process involving patient groups, care
professionals and other stakeholders to seek their views on the provision of community
services. The outcomes of this exercise resulted in the development of a single model of
care designed to support the transformation of community services and to provide a positive
contribution to the Connecting Care Strategy.
An exercise was subsequently undertaken to identify the most capable provider and
commission a provider capable of delivering the necessary system transformation. The recommissioned service is to commence in October 2016.
Integrated Community Teams
The Integrated Community Teams project is a key strand of the wider, five year Connecting
Care in Central Cheshire strategy whose vision for communities is to consistently: 'ensure
good quality, personal, seamless support in a timely, efficient way to improve health and
wellbeing’.
In support of this vision, the provider partnership board is in the process of delivering three
Integrated Community Teams of health and social care professionals who will work
alongside 6 clusters of GP practices in the geographical footprints covered by NHS South
Cheshire CCG. These teams will focus on prevention, early detection and the delivery of
appropriate interventions, supported through more rigorous risk identification, care coordination and proactive case management.
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2015/16 has been a significant year of development, recruitment and delivery and by May
2016, each GP Practice cluster in South Cheshire will have an identified team of
professionals in place to manage the needs of the local population.
The Teams will wrap around and be integral to the GP cluster groups where a range of
interventions are provided based on the needs of the individual rather than the professional
specialisms within each service. This will ensure that there is a joined-up approach to care,
removing unnecessary duplication and ensuring that people consistently experience the best
possible support in a timely and effective way.
The staff complement within the Integrated Community Teams will ultimately comprise of:
• Community Matrons
• District Nurses
• Social Workers
• Social Care Assessors
• Occupational Therapists
• Physiotherapists
• Speech and Language Therapists
• Reablement services
• Primary Care Mental Health services
In addition to the Integrated Community Teams, there will be locality-wide specialist services
which will continue to offer expert support across the broader Connecting Care footprint.
These will include:
• Specialist MH services
• Specialist LD services
• Integrated Stroke service
• Integrated Respiratory service
• Specialist Community Neuro service
• Community Macmillan Therapy service
• Management of Intermediate care beds
• Stoma Care Service
• Community Rehabilitation Service
The following diagrams provide a view of the structural arrangements that will be in place to
support all staff within the Integrated Community Teams model.

47

In 2015/16 a significant number of actions have been undertaken in relation to IT,
information and access. These have focused, predominantly, on the equipment and access
required for the newly appointed Care Facilitators because this group of staff require wi-fi
access at numerous locations, access to each organisation’s systems and the flexibility to
work on a mobile basis. This, therefore, represents the most appropriate starting point for
understanding wider IT issues and has formed the basis of the development of a number of
solutions that have been recorded in response to the challenges presented.
Furthermore a risk tool has been developed which shows the secondary care activity relating
to a GP cluster and GP practice. This was tested with a GP practice, and modified as a
result of their comments (for example, the refinement of Practice comparison data within the
GP Cluster). The initial tool is being enhanced through software development so that
standardised reports can be generated and shared with Integrated Teams and GP practices.
There are a number of additional key strands of work underway. In particular, there are a
number of key focus areas, each of which is summarised below:
Co-Location and Team Base Identification
Work is currently ongoing between providers to undertake a scoping exercise of team
requirements (including team size, flexible working and office space requirements) and
available building space. In understanding the CCG’s intention that, where possible, the
Teams should be located within Primary Care premises, this scoping exercise will need to be
widened to understand all potential opportunities and the potential advantages and
implications of a range of options.
Pathway Development
As part of work undertaken, and fed into the Integrated Community Teams Steering Group, a
range of pathway mapping workshops have been undertaken to understand the current state
in regard to the ‘patient/person journey’ through each element of the health and social care
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system in scope. Work has now commenced to build on this to identify the detail of what the
new set of pathways should look like which, through facilitated sessions, will identify keys
areas of the patient/person journey where partners can work together to reduce duplication
and enhance the support given. This is being taken forward within the ‘Process and
Pathways’ workstream, reporting into the Provider Steering Group.
Development of an integrated Performance Framework
A working group is in place, with representation from all provider organisations including
performance and operational staff to develop an integrated Performance Management
Framework. Thus far, the group has gathered information as to what information each
organisation captures for each system and against which specific data fields. The priority for
this group is to develop this further in order to define a robust set of measures which can be
fed into, where necessary, by each organisation. Following this, the intention is to produce a
regular performance dashboard with supporting mechanisms to ensure timely collection,
collation and presentation.
Local Quality Scheme (LQS)
NHS South Cheshire CCG, in conjunction with NHS South Vale Royal CCG, has developed
the “Primary Care Local Quality Scheme – Quality in General Practice” (LQS) for 2015/16. It
was designed to embrace continued clinical engagement and innovation in GP
commissioning that extended beyond individual practices. It also encouraged a system
change across localities and populations, and promoted collaborative working amongst
practices, asking them to think about how primary care could be delivered differently, and at
scale.
100% of practices indicated their intention towards delivering the LQS, in partnership with
the South Cheshire GP Alliance and Vale Royal GP Alliance. This provided a clear mandate
for supporting the transformation of primary care programme. The GP Alliances in
partnership with all member practices submitted a comprehensive plan detailing aspirations,
ambitions, key milestones and deliverables against the requirements laid out in the LQS.
The LQS was divided into four domains:
• Access, Capacity and Demand
• Organisational Development
• Improving Clinical Quality – Respiratory and Dementia
• Patient Centred Care
The LQS is monitored at checkpoints during the year, where the Alliances provide an update
on the work undertaken and the forecast of the months ahead.
Development Support of the South Cheshire GP Alliance
NHS South Cheshire CCG has identified the Transformation of Primary Care as a strategic
priority and in doing so, has supported the emergence of local GP Federations, in the form of
GP Alliances, throughout 2015/16.
Building upon the recommendations laid out in the Five Year Forward View towards
developing and delivering new models of care, the CCGs have sought to use local
commissioning opportunities, such as the Local Quality Scheme (as described above), to
encourage our GPs, as clinical partners, to think about how integrated care might be
delivered in the future.
In doing so, GP member practices have organized themselves into legally recognized GP
Alliances, (not for profit, limited by guarantee companies), that now support the membership
from 12/12 Vale Royal practices and 18/18 South Cheshire practices.
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The Alliances have been successful in bids for such projects as the Prime Minister’s
Challenge Fund (£1.9M) and for Primary Care Workforce Development (£95K), and are
working to support the development of a Nurse Bank, GP Forum, bespoke IT solutions
(including a real time primary care dashboard) and support, research network and a bespoke
Occupational Health scheme.
Care Quality Commission (CQC) assessment support
The Primary Care team have been instrumental in supporting practices through the CQC
assessment and visit process. Support is provided on a practice by practice basis, and
includes analysis of the National GP patient survey results, collation and analysis of
telephony data to better understand patient access and sharing of best practice across the
locality.
Alternative Solutions
Running concurrently to support delivery of the PMCF pilot, the Alternative Solutions
programme is a single point of access service to identify interventions, support and improve
patient wellbeing where those issues highlighted are of a non-medical nature.
The service has now been extended to receive referrals from all 30 GP practices across
South Cheshire and Vale Royal. At the time of writing:
● 119 GP referrals have been received
● 18 self-referrals have been received
● 70 Snow Angels clients have been identified as being able to have additional needs met
through Alternative Solutions
● 94% of patients have been contacted within one working day. Under achievement of
contact was due to not being able to contact the patients. Letters have been sent to the
patients to try and establish contact and GPs advised.
● Trends of needs emerging particularly for
− Patients at risk of trips and falls, both environmentally and due to lack of resilience
− Recognition of how social dimension of health impacts on the bio-psycho dimensions
of health
− Patients who are beginning to experience higher levels of demand for care services
but are being assessed as nil-entitlement and whom are not purchasing the services
they need
− Patients whom are in receipt of Employment Support Allowance whom following work
capability assessment are being defined as work ready and do not feel that they are
work ready
− Increasing demand for support to enable patients to be able to access essential
services and local social support e.g. Community Transport
− Significant number of patients health and wellbeing is being impacted upon by cold
homes, whilst help is available e.g. insulation/new boilers etc., accessing the support is
complex resulting in low uptake.
● Significant engagement activities are taking place to increase referrals including holding
regular stands/booked in sessions in GP practices, engaging with Public/Patient
Engagement Groups to support access, working with wider partners
A further 120 referrals are anticipated .
Workforce – Alliance update
Following the successful bid to support a range of projects within the Transformation of
Primary Care workforce programme, significant progress has been made towards delivery of
projects including:
• Occupational health service
• Nurse Bank

50

•

Back-to-work schemes.

Work Experience/Apprenticeships
The GP Alliance hosted a ‘Work Experience & Apprenticeships in General Practice’ event in
February supported by speakers from Health Education England (HEE). 15 practices were
represented plus the Primary Care Team. Information shared with all Practices in respect of
training potential practices who take on apprenticeships. 11 practices are actively pursuing
Apprenticeships now and advice is being provided on an ad hoc ongoing basis regarding the
appropriate paperwork etc. HEE are now visiting most of the interested practices to assist
and advise.
Following discussions, a bid for funding for work experience placements (a small sum per
practice per placement) has been drafted and is currently with HEE for review before
submission.
Co commissioning and Delegation of Primary Care
In order to enable the CCG to undertake delegated responsibility from NHS England to
commission primary care medical services from 1 April 2016, the CCG’s constitution was
amended and a series of delegation agreements were put in place between the CCG and
NHS England. A Delegation Commissioning Task and Finish Group has now been set up to
work through the transfer of tasks and responsibilities from NHS England to the CCG.

Strategic Priority: Transforming Urgent Care
Redesign of Urgent Care
The redesign of Urgent Care services across health and social care is recognised nationally
as a significant challenge but one that needs to take place to provide sustainable services
going forward.
Underpinned by work that had taken place within the CCG in the previous year, an outcome
based specification was developed between the CCG and local authority Commissioners.
In June 2015 the Connecting Care Board agreed these joint health and social care high level
outcomes framework for a transformed urgent care system and these were sent to the
Provider Board for a detailed business case and deliverables to be developed and reported
back initially by January 2016.
These outcomes are summarised as follows:
• Person Centred Care
• A Competent, Well Led and Responsive Workforce
• Effective Solutions to Provide an Urgent Response Outside Hospital
• Collective, Professional Code of Conduct
• Proactive and Preventative Services
• Integrated Approach to Urgent Care
• Value for Money
Furthermore a list of critical success factors were proposed as follows:
• A single point of contact that refers people to the right community or social care service,
first time every time
• Seamless access to services that are available closer to home either by phone, in their
home, in their local pharmacy, GP practice or hospital
• Effective support and health advice that enables people to take control of their own non
urgent or emergency health needs through self-care
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High quality, responsive and safe services for patients experiencing major trauma or
suffering with life threatening conditions
Care at the right time, in the right place, delivered by the right person with the right skills
to manage the patients’ needs facilitating a rapid response to prevent hospital
admissions
Better use of valuable resources seven days a week including the availability of tests and
access to diagnostic equipment, transport and an integrated “front of house”
Information essential to a patient’s health is shared across system, making a single
patient record accessible by the professional treating the patient
Compassionate and caring staff have been involved in the development of the services
and feel valued and supported in delivering quality care

In January 2016 the CCG received the Provider Board business case which provides a
starting point for further detailed development. Recognising that no single commissioner or
provider organisation can deliver on the scope of this piece of work the CCG are currently
working with the Connecting Care Board to identify a model of working that supports future
delivery of a transformed urgent care system.
Diagnosing Cancer Early - Every Breath You Take campaign
The aim of the project was to support our Commissioning Intention to Diagnose Cancer
Earlier, with particular reference to lung cancer. The project was also aimed at addressing
the issues arising from increasing rates of lung cancer in certain parts of our population, in
particular parts of Crewe.
The project aimed to increase the number of people with possible symptoms of lung cancer
to present to a health care professional earlier. An earlier diagnosis is proven to lead to
better health outcomes. This was done by:
• Enabling people who are aged over 50, who have had a cough for 3 weeks or more and
have not had a chest x-ray in the last 3 months to directly access a chest x-ray without
seeing their GP. The diagnostic pathway was changed so that if the chest x-ray looked
suspicious of cancer then an immediate referral was made into cancer services for
further tests by the radiology team. This meant a diagnosis was reached quicker.
• Lowering the threshold for primary care professionals, including practice nurses where
appropriate training has been provided, to refer for a chest x-ray in order to pick up lung
cancer earlier.
• Reducing barriers to diagnosis and treatment.
A targeted public awareness and engagement campaign was run in the relevant parts of
Crewe to encourage people to look out for early signs and symptoms of lung cancer. Cancer
champions were recruited from many different parts of our population. They were provided
with training and support to engage with their families, friends, social and professional
networks to share messages of lung cancer, including the direct access to chest x-ray
facility. Over 100 cancer champions supported this work reaching many more.
The aim was to increase the number of people presenting earlier with possible signs and
symptoms of lung cancer. In 2013, 21% of our lung cancers diagnosed was through an
emergency presentation with most being very late stage with poor outcomes. In March 2016
this had reduced to 4%. As a consequence of late diagnosis in 2013 only 64% of people with
a diagnosed lung cancer were able to receive effective treatment, 36% received best
supportive care. In March 2016 this has increased to 75%. The outcomes for our local
population with lung cancer are improving, and it is important that we do not lose this focus
as we need to take this further.
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The project team was multi-disciplinary and cross-organisational and brought together a
wide range of clinicians and specialists from primary and secondary care, public health,
commissioning, third sector, as well as a range of individuals and groups within the local
community. The team won a national award for Team Excellence from Macmillan Cancer
Support.
Acute Oncology
The Acute Oncology Service with a community focus (AOS) was established to ensure that
people who are going through treatment for cancer and have an emergency need for clinical
management due to complications with their cancer treatment will be managed in a more
timely, more effective way either from their GP identifying urgent complications or through
the emergency department at Leighton Hospital by professionals who are experienced in
cancer care. It has been evidenced that the expert cancer support in this situation reduces
mortality and improves better health outcomes helping the patient to make a quicker and
fuller recovery from their cancer complication.
The team provide the following:
• Specialist advice to GPs and community professionals regarding symptom management
for their patients with complications from cancer treatment.
• Specialist knowledge and interventions either in the patient’s home or as an out-patient.
• Arranging rapid access for the advice of consultant oncologists.
• Provision of education to front line staff.
• Management of patients on appropriate pathways for chemotherapy related
complications.
Key achievements include:
• 0 Deaths within 30 days of active cancer treatment
• 117 hospital admissions avoided
• 145 community professionals supported to avoid a hospital attendance
• 156 patients supported via telephone to prevent a medical appointment
• 19 education and training sessions provided to community and secondary care
professionals
• Patient satisfaction with service – 80% satisfied or very satisfied
• Set up of a ‘Fast-track’ clinic slots for Acute Oncologist
• Achievement of 96% of in-patients seen within one working day
• Achievement of 100% of out-patients seen within one working day, or advice given
Co-ordinated End of Life Care
South Cheshire and Vale Royal have an ageing population with 1% expected to be in their
last year of life. Co-ordinated End of Life Care is a partnership approach facilitated and
supported by the End of Life Partnership http://eolp.co.uk/ with the vision to:
• Lead and facilitate best practice in End of Life Care across South Cheshire and Vale
Royal in a way that responds to the needs of both the local population and of the health
and social care workforce that serve the population.
• Create a world class end of life care service for people that enables choice and ensures
quality and better identifying people nearing the end of their lives
• Ensure that End of Life Care wishes are effectively communicated across professional
groups and organisations
• Achieve a reduction of deaths in hospital with more people dying in their preferred place
of care with dignity and respect.
• Proactively support and empower patients, carers and professionals
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The outcomes achieved have included:
• There has been an increase in people dying in their usual place of residence in the last
year from 47% to 49% (Nationally 45.7%).
• The number of people identified as being in their last year of life has increased from
0.25% to 0.4% of the GP practice population.
• Electronic Palliative Care Co-ordination System – This is shared electronic information
on important End of life choices, wishes and clinical management across professional
groups and organisations to support people being cared for and dying in their preferred
place of care. This has been implemented across multiple professional teams and
organisations including GP practices, District Nursing, Macmillan teams, Specialist
nursing teams in the community and St Luke’s (Cheshire) hospice. This continues as a
significant project to link in with further teams including Out of Hours, A&E and the
ambulance service and will be included as part of the Cheshire Care Record.
• An engagement project – End of Life population needs assessment has been completed
and views and experiences have been gained from over 100 bereaved carers / families
and many professionals to seek view on experiences at End of Life. Many “You said, we
did” examples can be shown including workshops on planning for your future care,
amendments to the Care Plan for End of Life and they have influenced our priority work
being taken forward in 2016-17.
• Work with hard to reach groups including those with learning disabilities and the
homeless.
• The individualised Care Plan for End of Life has been audited with patients, public and
professionals and changes made to reflect feedback and to ensure the holistic needs of
the patient are met.
• The CPR process has changed so that decisions about resuscitation status are shared
across organisations, including the ambulance service and updated by the most
appropriate professional.
• Considerable volumes of free education have been provided to professionals across all
care settings including workshops, study days, short courses and bespoke sessions on
all aspects of End of Life Care. Communications skills training at all levels has been a
big part of the provided education.
• The End of Life Partnership with the support of all partners has been winners of several
national awards for best practice End of Life Care.

Strategic Priority: Integration
The drive towards integration of services runs through all that we do. Particular projects with
a strong focus on integration (other than those described elsewhere in this report) included:
Intermediate Care Services
The CCG carried out a review of Intermediate Care Services in previous years and this work
has been utilised to develop some of the methodology to support the development of the
integrated community teams and the urgent care redesign through 2015/16.
Intermediate care services remain a priority for development in the Better Care Fund
arrangement for the CCG together with the Local Authority.
During 2015/16 the CCG, as a member of the System Resilience Group, have piloted a new
model of hospital discharge utilising additional community beds procured within the CCG
footprint. This pilot has provided a significant difference to patients who have been moved,
as appropriate, from an acute hospital setting to a community bed to allow for health and/or
social care assessments to be carried out in the best possible location.

54

This work has shown excellent levels of integrated working across partners and will be
subject to a full and rigorous evaluation to ascertain how it can be taken forward.
Prescribing and Medicines Optimisation
The Medicines Management Team (MMT) has developed and launched a dedicated website
to make it easy for prescribers and others to view guidance, policies and the formulary status
of individual medicines. The website was launched in September 2015 and has been very
well received by GPs and other colleagues. The website has also enabled prescribers to
answer many of their own medicines-related questions, and the MMT has seen a reduction
in queries relating to formulary status.
(http://www.centralandeasterncheshiremmt.nhs.uk/formulary/chapters)
The MMT has worked with Acute Trust partners and the Cheshire and Wirral Partnership
Mental Health Trust to establish systems and processes for managing the prescribing
budget, including a bi-monthly Area Prescribing Committee and a monthly New Medicines
Subgroup. In addition, the Executive Prescribing Committee oversees the implementation
and development work undertaken by the MMT.
All CCGs in England were set objectives in the 2015/16 Quality Premium to:
• Verify the amount of antibiotics prescribed by Acute Trusts.
• Reduce (or maintain a low level) of antibiotic prescription volume.
• Reduce (or maintain a low level of) prescribing of broad spectrum antibiotics.
The MMT has worked closely with practices, the Acute Trusts and the Community
Microbiologist on a comprehensive programme of work including:
• Education events for prescribers
• Education and awareness raising for patients and the public
• Updating antibiotic guidance
• Performing a self-assessment on antibiotic stewardship in practice
• Conducting audits of prescribing in practices with high levels of broad spectrum antibiotic
prescribing
• Supporting the implementation of the Royal College of General Practice (RCGP)
TARGET antibiotic toolkit, including audits of sore throat, acute cough, otitis media and
urinary tract infection
• Regular monitoring and feedback of prescribing data.
NHS South Cheshire CCG is currently achieving the targets set for these indicators and is
performing above the England average (second best quartile).

Strategic Priority: Person Centred Care
The principle of person centred care runs through all that we do. Particular projects with a
strong person centred care focus (other than those described elsewhere in this report)
included:
Continuing Health Care
Since early summer 2014, Clinical Commissioning Groups across Cheshire and Wirral have
been working together on the delivery of continuing healthcare, funded nursing and complex
care services. Demand for continuing healthcare is rising with a growing ageing and
increasingly complex population. Alongside the growth in demand and complexity, there are
increasing challenges in finding suitable placements for clients within the care sector market,
particularly in some geographical areas. There are developing “personalisation” and “care
closer to home” agendas which are increasing the range of choices available to individuals
and their families.
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Our primary vision remains delivery of a person centred, safe, quality and effective service.
Work has been undertaken to develop a commissioning policy for continuing healthcare to
be implemented across Cheshire and Wirral CCGs. The key purpose of the policy is to
ensure that the right care is given at the right time in the right place by the right person.
Clinicians, Clinical leads within CCGs and the Head of Service for continuing healthcare
have worked together to develop the policy.
Diabetes Prevention
During 2015 NHS South Cheshire CCG and NHS Vale Royal CCG worked collaboratively
with Public Health colleagues in both Cheshire East and Cheshire West and Chester
Councils, the two other Cheshire CCGs and also Wirral CCG to submit a bid for the National
Diabetes Prevention Programme.
This bid has been successful and therefore in 2016/17 collaborative working will continue
across health and wellbeing programmes in Central Cheshire which will assist with reducing
incidence/development of type 2 diabetes in the future.

1.2.9

CCG Assurance Framework

The CCG Assurance Framework has been established to ensure that CCGs are continuing
to meet the on-going responsibilities to patients and the public. The framework sets out how
NHS England will assess the performance of CCG. During 2015/16 a risk based, continuous
assurance process was introduced in place of the set quarterly assurance assessments
undertaken previously. The components of the framework during the year were:

CCGs will be given an overall rating on a 4 point scale at the end of the year – “outstanding”;
“good”; “requires improvement”; or “inadequate”. This rating is not yet available but will be
published both locally and nationally when available.
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1.2.10

Sustainable Development

Sustainability has become increasingly important as the impact of people’s lifestyle and
business choices are changing the world in which we live in. We acknowledge this
responsibility to our patients, local communities, and the environment by working hard to
minimise our carbon footprint.
Our primary ability to influence sustainability is through our contracts for healthcare, in which
we specify that providers must meet expected standards of efficiency and good practice in
areas such as energy management.
The CCG is mindful to minimise the journeys we make and to use alternative methods of
meeting through the use of technology (i.e. video conferencing, teleconferencing, and
webinars) wherever possible in order to reduce its carbon footprint. Where possible more
efficient methods of transport (e.g. rail journeys) are encouraged.
Buildings occupied, in the main, are owned by NHS Property Services, and we work closely
with them to ensure plans to reduce the carbon footprint are in line with the
recommendations of Sustainability Development Unit of NHS England.
The CCG is prepared strategically for a future where transport, IT, and buildings are
integrated in a way that benefits patients and the environment.
Energy consumption:
Impact - KgCo2
Other details
Gas
12,979
Electricity
24,017
Waste (Domestic)
521
Cost = £476
Water
521
Cost = £1,548. Total use = 410m3
Travel (Car Mileage)
34,847 (Approx.)
174, 234 miles
Travel (Train)
1,941
26.676 miles*
*NHS South Cheshire CCG and NHS Vale Royal CCG combined.

1.2.11

Membership

Details of the CCG Membership are set out at the section on our statement of purpose and
within the Accountability Report. Our Constitution states that, as a Membership Council, we
delegate authority to the Governing Body to effectively and efficiently run the CCG on our
behalf.
During 2015/16 we reviewed and amended our CCG Constitution to enable the
commissioning of primary care medical services from 2016/17 onwards. The CCG made an
application to NHS England (on 10 March 2016) to amend its Constitution from 1 April 2016
and received notification (on 23 March 2016) that the proposed changes to the Constitution
of NHS South Cheshire CCG complied with the particular requirements of the National
Health Service Act 2006 as amended by the Health and Social Care Act 2012 and were
otherwise appropriate.
Our organisational structure is presented at appendix one. This illustrates our Membership
Council and Governing Body, together with its Committees and Sub Committees and
therefore the lines of reporting and communication. More information on these committees
and their members can be found in the Accountability Report.
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To the best of my knowledge and belief, the Performance Report presents a true and
accurate picture of NHS South Cheshire CCG.

Simon Whitehouse
Accountable Officer
NHS South Cheshire CCG
Date: 19th May 2016
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2

The Accountability Report

2.1

Corporate Governance Report

2.1.1

The Members’ Report

The composition of our Membership Council
The CCG is comprised of 18 member practices. Details of the membership practices are set
out elsewhere in this report.
The following table provides details of the practice representatives that attend Membership
Council.
Name and Role
Dr Andrew Wilson
Clinical Chair
(GP at Ashfield Primary Care Centre)
Dr Annabel London
Governing Body Member
Locality Lead – Nantwich & Rural
(GP at Kiltearn Medical Centre)
Dr Andrew Hudson
Governing Body Member
(GP for Hungerford and Locality Lead for Crewe)

Date
1st April 2015 - Current
1st April 2015 - Current

1st April 2015 – Current
(1st April 2015 – June
2015)

Dr Andrew Spooner
1st April 2015 - Current
Governing Body Member
(GP at Grosvenor Medical Centre)
Dr Philip Goodwin
1st April 2015 – Current
Governing Body Member
Locality Lead for SMASH and GP at Cedars Medical
Centre
Dr David Roberts
November 2015 - Current
GP at Hungerford Medical Centre
Dr Jo’An Hammersley
1st April 2015 - Current
GP at Water’s Edge Medical Centre
Dr John Crofts
GP at Oaklands Surgery

1st April 2015 - Current

Dr Susan Pearson
GP at Merepark Medical Centre

1st April 2015 - current

Dr James Patterson
GP at Greenmoss Medical Centre

1st April 2015 - Current

Dr Jonathan Hill
GP at Haslington Surgery

1st April 2015 – Current

Dr Lalit Gurnani
GP at Nantwich Health Centre

1st April 2015 – Current
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Dr Keith Malone
Urgent Care Lead and GP at Tudor Surgery

1st April 2015 – Current

Dr Dave Holden
GP at Audlem Medical Practice
Dr Namrata Saggar
GP at Wrenbury Medical Centre

1st April 2015 – Current
1st April 2015 – Current

Dr Katherine Hutchinson
1st April 2015 – Current
Medicines Management Lead and GP at Kiltearn
Medical Centre
Dr Paul Uglow
1st April 2015 – June 2015
GP at Grosvenor Medical Centre
Dr Dave Skinner
GP at Grosvenor Medical Centre

June 2015 - Current

Dr Ged O’Sullivan
1st April 2015 – February
GP representative on Governance & Audit Committee 2016
and GP at Delamere Practice
Dr Lintu Matin
March 2016 - Current
GP at Delamere Practice
Dr Richard Calderhead
GP at Earnswood Medical Centre

1st April 2015 – Current

Dr Michael Freeman
GP at Millcroft Medical Centre

1st April 2015 – Current

Dr John Dixon
GP at Rope Green Medical Centre

1st April 2015 – Current

Dr Neil Paul
GP at Ashfields Primary Care Centre

1st April 2015 – Current

Mrs Tricia Vickers - Standing Invite
1st April 2015 – Current
Practice Nurse Representative & Chair of Practice Nurse April– Current
Membership Council, Practice Nurse at Grosvenor
Medical Centre
Mr Simon Whitehouse - Standing Invite
1st April 2015 - Current
Chief Officer
Mrs Lynda Risk - Standing Invite
Chief Finance Officer

1st April 2015 - Current

Mrs Fiona Field - Standing Invite
Director of Partnerships & Governance

1st April 2015 - Current

Judith Thorley - Standing Invite
1st April 2015 - Current
Executive Nurse
There have been 11 South Cheshire Membership Council meetings – all have been quorate.
The Membership Council has delegated authority to the Governing Body to effectively and
efficiently run the CCG on its behalf.
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The Composition of our Governing Body
The table below details the Governing Body members and lists their declarations of interest.
Name and Role
Dr Andrew Wilson
Chair

Date
Declaration of Interest
1st April 2015 • GP Partner at Ashfields Primary Care
- Current
Centre
• Practice has income sharing agreement
with Health 2 Works on non NW SHA
web license sales
• GP Partnership (Sandbach GPs) has
had discussions with a company called
4GPs. This company plans to provide
outpatient services locally and have
approached the partnership seeking to
subcontract the organisation and
running of outpatient clinics. (Initial
conversation 21 Jan 2013)
• Sandbach GP’s rents rooms to
MCHfT,CWP,UHNS, Mr Needham –
Consultant Opthalmologist,4GP/ Spire
(room with support service),
• Neil Paul a partner at Sandbach GPs is
a Director of 4 GPs and Howbeck
Healthcare
(wording
amended
19.11.2015)
• Sandbach GPs is a member practice of
South Cheshire GP Alliance ( added
2.04.15)
• Sandbach GP’s provides reception
service and rents rooms to East
Cheshire Trust (added 19.11.2015)
Simon Whitehouse
1st April 2015 • Trustee Active Cheshire
Chief Executive Officer
- Current
• Wife is staff nurse at the University
Hospitals of North Midlands
st
Lynda Risk
1 April 2015 • Nil declared
Chief Finance Officer
- Current
Fiona Field
1st April 2015 • Director Trustee of Cheshire Young
Director of Partnerships - Current
Carers
and Governance
Graham Bruce
1st April 2015 • Vice Chair of Equity Housing Group
Lay
Member
(Chair - Current
• NHS England Chair of PLDP
Governance & Audit)
John Clough
1st April 2015 • Spouse is Director and Shareholder of
Lay Member (Governance - Current
Reliance Medical Ltd
& Audit)
• Director Learning for Life Partnership
• Trustee SURVIVE (a charity offering
support to victims of abuse)
• Lay Member – NHS Revalidation Team
• Lay Chair – NHSE Performers List
Decision Panel for Cheshire &
Merseyside
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Diane Noble
Lay Member (Patient &
Public Engagement)
Dr Annabel London
GP
Governing
Body
Member

Dr Andrew Hudson
GP
Governing
Member

1st April 2015
- Current

• Nil declared

1st April 2015
- Current

• GP Partner, Kiltearn Medical Centre,
Church View Primary Care Centre,
Nantwich
• Kiltearn Medical Centre is a member of
South Cheshire GP Alliance
• Kiltearn Medical Centre has a clinical
trials unit working in association with the
RCGP, North West Coastal Clinical
Research Network and industry.
• Husband is employed as a consultant
physician and gastroenterologist at
Countess of Chester Hospital. Consults
privately at South Cheshire Private
Hospital in Crewe and Grosvenor
Nuffield Hospital in Chester
• GP Partner at Waters Edge Medical
Centre
• We are a member of our local GP
Alliance.
• The Practice provides logistics and
make rooms available to Psychiatry
Consultants from CWP (helping bring
care more local to our registered list of
patients) and the same for an audiology
service provided by SpecSavers.
• Partner, Grosvenor Medical centre
• Consequently part of Crewe GP
Alliance.
• Elderly Care Role at Lincoln House
Crewe.
• Director Gresty Hill Management
Company (it runs the shared services for
11 Houses where I live)
• Partner Grosvenor property Partnership
• Wife a Partner at Furlong Medical
centre, Tunstall (not a membership
practice)
• A researcher at Manchester University
Department of Primary Care
• Faculty Board Member and Council
representative Mersey Faculty
• Hon Sec North West Region RCGP
• Sometimes asked to lecture for
Liverpool University. I have attended
Seminars with the Good Governance
Institute. Some are political and involve
meeting politicians. I have met
politicians on behalf of the RCGP.
• Daughter works for Macmillan Cancer
Relief

1st April 2015
Body –
Current

Dr Andrew Spooner
1st April 2015
GP
Governing
Body –
Member
Current
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Dr Phil Goodwin
GP
Governing
Member

1st April 2015
Body –
Current

Dr Robert Pugh
Secondary
Representative

1st April 2015
Care –
Current

1st April 2015
–
Current
Heather Grimbaldeston
1st April 2015
Public Health, Cheshire –
East Council
Current
Judith Thorley
Executive Nurse

• Locality head and board member
Cedars Practice
• Practice is member of 4GPs provider
partnership.
• Cedars is a participating practice within
the GP provider alliance
• Trustee of St Lukes Hospice, Winsford
since March 2013
• Trustee and Medical Advisor to CLIMB,
a children's charity related to childhood
metabolic disease
• Specialist Advisor for CQC inspection
visits.
• Director of Judi Thorley Solutions Ltd
• Nil declared

As illustrated above our CCG has 8 male Governing Body Members and 6 female Governing
Body Members. There have been 13 NHS South Cheshire CCG Governing Body meetings
of which: 8 have been formal and in public (6 of which were held jointly with NHS Vale Royal
CCG’s Governing Body) and 5 have been informal (4 of which were held jointly with NHS
Vale Royal CCG’s Governing Body) – all of which have been quorate.
A short biography of our Governing Body members is included at appendix 2.
The Governing Body is not aware of any relevant audit information that has been withheld
from the clinical commissioning group’s external auditors, and members of the Governing
Body have taken all necessary steps to make themselves aware of relevant information and
to ensure that this is passed to the external auditors where appropriate.
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The Governance and Audit Committee
The table below details the CCG Governance and Audit Committee membership:
Name and Role
Date
Graham Bruce
1st April 2015 - Current
Chair – Lay Member
John Clough
1st April 2015 - Current
Lay Member
Dr Ged O’Sullivan
1st April 2015 – Jan 2016
GP Member
Dr Phil Goodwin
March 2016 – current
GP Member
Lynda Risk – in attendance
1st April 2015 - Current
Chief Finance Officer
Fiona Field – in attendance
1st April 2015 - Current
Director of Governance and Partnerships
Jennifer Underwood – in attendance
February 2015 - Current
Risk and Performance Manager
Mrs Judith Thorley – in attendance
1st April 2015 - Current
Executive Nurse \ Director of Quality
Linda Elliott – in attendance
1st April 2015 - Current
Merseyside Internal Audit
Robin Baker / Paul Basnett – in attendance
1st April 2015 - Current
Grant Thornton, External Audit
Nb the Governance and Audit Committees of NHS Vale Royal CCG and NHS South
Cheshire CCG meet jointly. Meetings are therefore also attended by:
Mrs Suzanne Horrill
Chair – Lay Member (NHS Vale Royal CCG)
Terry Savage
Lay Member (NHS Vale Royal CCG)

1st April 2015 - Current
1st April 2015 - Current

Please see our Governance Statement for details of other committees and sub-committees.
Details of the CCG’s employees can be found in section 2.3, Staff Report.

Personal data related incidents
There have been no Serious Untoward Incidents relating to data security breaches, and no
other incidents that were required to be reported to the Information Commissioner.
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2.1.2

The Statement of Accounting Officer’s Responsibilities

Governance Statement by the Chief Executive Officer, Simon
Whitehouse as the Accountable Officer of
NHS South Cheshire CCG
The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) states that each Clinical
Commissioning Group shall have an Accountable Officer and that Officer shall be appointed
by the NHS Commissioning Board (NHS England). NHS England has appointed Mr Simon
Whitehouse (Chief Officer) to be the Accountable Officer of the Clinical Commissioning
Group.
The responsibilities of an Accountable Officer, including responsibilities for the propriety and
regularity of the public finances for which the Accountable Officer is answerable, for keeping
proper accounting records (which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial
position of the Clinical Commissioning Group and enable them to ensure that the accounts
comply with the requirements of the Accounts Direction) and for safeguarding the Clinical
Commissioning Group’s assets (and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention
and detection of fraud and other irregularities), are set out in the Clinical Commissioning
Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter.
Under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), NHS England has directed each
Clinical Commissioning Group to prepare for each financial year financial statements in the
form and on the basis set out in the Accounts Direction. The financial statements are
prepared on an accruals basis and must give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the
Clinical Commissioning Group and of its net expenditure, changes in taxpayers’ equity and
cash flows for the financial year.
In preparing the financial statements, the Accountable Officer is required to comply with the
requirements of the Manual for Accounts issued by the Department of Health and in
particular to:
•
•
•
•

Observe the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England, including the relevant
accounting and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies on a
consistent basis;
Make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis;
State whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the Manual for Accounts
issued by the Department of Health have been followed, and disclose and explain
any material departures in the financial statements; and
Prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis.

As far as I am aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the entity’s auditors are
unaware, and I have taken all the steps that I ought to have taken to make myself aware of
any relevant audit information and to establish that the entity’s auditors are aware of that
information.
The annual report and accounts as a whole is fair, balanced and understandable and I take
personal responsibility for the annual report and accounts and the judgments required for
determining that it is fair, balanced and understandable.

65

To the best of my knowledge and belief, I have properly discharged the responsibilities set
out in my Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter.

Simon Whitehouse
Accountable Officer
NHS South Cheshire CCG
Date: 19th May 2016
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2.1.3

The Governance Statement

Introduction and context
The Clinical Commissioning Group was licenced from 1 April 2013 under provisions enacted
in the Health & Social Care Act 2012, which amended the National Health Service Act 2006.
As at 1 April 2015, the Clinical Commissioning Group was licensed without conditions.
The Clinical Commissioning Group operated in shadow form prior to 1 April 2013, to allow
for the completion of the licencing process and the establishment of function, systems and
processes prior to the clinical commission group taking on its full powers.

Scope of responsibility
As Accounting Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal control
that supports the achievement of the clinical commissioning group’s policies, aims and
objectives, whilst safeguarding the public funds and assets for which I am personally
responsible, in accordance with the responsibilities assigned to me in Managing Public
Money.
I also acknowledge my responsibilities as set out in my Clinical Commissioning Group
Accountable Officer Appointment Letter.
I am responsible for ensuring that the clinical commissioning group is administered prudently
and economically and that resources are applied efficiently and effectively, safeguarding
financial propriety and regularity.

Compliance with the UK Corporate Governance Code
We are not required to comply with the UK Corporate Governance Code. However, we have
reported on our Corporate Governance arrangements by drawing upon best practice
available, including those aspects of the UK Corporate Governance Code we consider to be
relevant to the CCG and best practice.

The Clinical Commissioning Group Governance Framework
The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), at paragraph 14L (2) (b) states:
The main function of the governing body is to ensure that the group has made appropriate
arrangements for ensuring that it complies with such generally accepted principles of good
governance as are relevant to it.
Key features of our CCG constitution in relation to governance are highlighted within the
Constitution Scheme of Delegation. This can be found in appendix D of the Constitution and
details both the split of responsibilities and decision making between the Membership
Council and the Governing Body. The Constitution for the CCG was updated and amended
during March 2016 in line with NHS England guidance and signed off by our members.
These changes were approved in full by NHS England and the revised version has been
made available to the public via the CCGs website (link below).
http://www.southcheshireccg.nhs.uk/publication/9218-nhs-south-cheshire-ccg-constitution
Information about the composition of our Membership Council, Governing Body and
Governance and Audit Committee can be found in the Members’ Report. Information on the
Remuneration Committee membership can be found in the Remuneration Report. Please
see appendix one for a diagram of our organisational structure.
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Information on the roles and responsibilities of the Governing Body and its Committees is
outlined below, along with brief highlights of the work undertaken during the year.
Governing Body
The Governing Body’s overall responsibilities are to:
a) ensure that the group has appropriate arrangements in place to exercise its
functions effectively, efficiently and economically and in accordance with the
groups principles of good governance (its main function);
b) determine the remuneration, fees and other allowances payable to employees or
other persons providing services to the group, including nominated practice
representatives, and the allowances payable under a pension scheme it may
establish under paragraph 11(4) of Schedule 1A of the 2006 Act, inserted by
Schedule 2 of the 2012 Act;
c)
approve any functions of the group that are specified in regulations;
d) with the exception of those functions reserved to the group’s Membership Council , to
discharge all of the groups remaining statutory functions including:
i. to lead and approve the setting of the group’s vision and strategy and its annual
commissioning and financial plans;
ii. securing continuous improvement in the standards, quality and outcomes of
care, and regularly discussing and monitoring quality issues;
iii. financial and risk management;
iv. jointly publishing, with the group’s Membership Council, the group’s annual report
and annual accounts;
v. where not specified in the terms of reference of the Governing Body
committees, receiving the minutes of meetings of joint or collaborative
arrangements between the group and another statutory body(ies).
During the year the Governing Body considered: regular patient stories; finance updates;
Chief Executive’s updates; Executive Nurse updates; performance reports and quality
reports. During the year the Governing Body also considered items on: the commissioning
of community services; the Better Care Fund partnership agreement; co-commissioning of
primary care medical services; review of commissioning intentions. Formal Governing Body
papers are available on the CCG’s website. http://www.southcheshireccg.nhs.uk/governingbody/governing-body/governing-body-meetings
Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee makes:
a)
recommendations to the Governing Body on determinations about the remuneration,
fees and other allowances for employees and for people who provide services to the
group and on determinations about allowances under any pension scheme that the
group may establish as an alternative to the NHS pension scheme;
b)
The Membership Council and Governing Body have also delegated the following
responsibilities to the Remuneration Committee:
i. recommending proposals for succession planning for Governing Body members;
ii. oversight of the group’s arrangements for the appointment of senior, staff;
ensuring that the selection and appointment processes are fair and transparent and
conform with best practice;
iii. induction for Governing Body members;
iv. the remuneration of nominated practice representatives, and
v. proposals for the group’s organisational development plan;
c)
where the Governance and Audit and Remuneration Committees review or advise on
matters which concern the functions of the Membership Council, both committees will
report directly to the Membership Council on such matters.
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Governance and Audit Committee
The Governance and Audit Committee provides:
a)
the Governing Body with an independent and objective view of the group’s
financial systems, financial information and compliance with laws, regulations and
directions governing the group in so far as they relate to finance;
b)
the Membership Council and the Governing Body have also delegated to the
Governance and Audit Committee the responsibility for:
i. reviewing the effectiveness of the system of governance, risk management and
internal control, incorporating the arrangements for the Membership Council ;
ii. the arrangements made by the group for managing conflicts of interest, whistle
blowing and fraud (both clinical and non-clinical)
Clinical Commissioning Executive
The CCGs Clinical Commissioning Executive (CCE), which is joint group of both NHS
South Cheshire Clinical Commissioning Group and NHS Vale Royal Clinical
Commissioning Group, is accountable to the respective Governing Bodies, and ensures
that the two Clinical Commissioning Groups collaborate on areas of commissioning
where this adds value and increases efficiency. The Clinical Commissioning Executive:
a)
develops and recommends the group’s five year and annual commissioning
plans to the relevant Governing Body;
b)
provides assurance to the Governing Body that the group’s commissioning
intentions and plans are effective, efficient and economic; that plans are informed
by patients and the public; that they are being delivered and that risks associated
with delivery are being mitigated;
c)
ensures the shared management arrangements are working effectively and are
sustainable to deliver commissioning intentions for NHS South Cheshire Clinical
Commissioning Group and NHS Vale Royal Clinical Commissioning Group;
d)
has oversight of both group’s annual commissioning cycle;
e)
through supporting structures and systems ensures that there is continuous
engagement with member practices on all aspects of its work;
f)
approves or rejects business cases, within the agreed delegated authority.
The Clinical Commissioning Executive comprises the following members:
Membership Category
Organisation

GP Clinical Member
GP Clinical Member
GP Clinical Member
GP Clinical Member
Clinical Chair
Clinical Chair
Accountable Officer
Chief Finance Officer
Executive Nurse
Director of Partnerships and
Governance

NHS South Cheshire CCG
NHS South Cheshire CCG
NHS Vale Royal CCG
NHS Vale Royal CCG
NHS South Cheshire CCG
NHS Vale Royal CCG
NHS Vale Royal CCG and NHS South Cheshire CCG
NHS Vale Royal CCG and NHS South Cheshire CCG
NHS Vale Royal CCG and NHS South Cheshire CCG
NHS South Cheshire CCG

Director of Partnerships and
Governance
Lay Member x 2
Lay Member x 2

NHS Vale Royal CCG
NHS South Cheshire CCG
NHS Vale Royal CCG
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Programme Team Clinical
Chairs x 3
Public Health Representative –
in attendance
Public Health Representative –
in attendance

NHS Vale Royal CCG and NHS South Cheshire CCG
Cheshire East Council
Cheshire West and Chester Council

This group has met a total of 12 times this year, of which 11 were quorate.
During the year the Committee considered business aligned to the CCG’s “5+1” Strategic
priorities. This included regular updates on the Better Care Fund; performance against the
CCG’s commissioning intentions; the Connecting Care programme; and reviews and
business cases relating to various services.
Quality and Performance Committee
The CCGs Quality and Performance Committee is a joint committee of both NHS South
Cheshire Clinical Commissioning Group and NHS Vale Royal Clinical Commissioning
Group, and is accountable to the respective Governing Bodies, and ensures that the two
Clinical Commissioning Groups collaborate on areas of commissioning where this adds
value and increases efficiency. The Quality and Performance Committee provides
assurance to the Governing Body that:
a) quality and patient experience is central to the work of the group and that systems and
process are in place for monitoring and acting on patient feedback, in particular quality
issues such as complaints, Patient and Liaison Services, Serious Untoward Incidents
and Never Events;
b) services the group commissions are safe and effective, and lessons are learnt from
serious untoward incidents and never events;
c) there is continuous improvement in the quality of commissioned services; in
primary medical services and in patient outcomes;
d) that safeguarding statutory function and commissioners are being carried out
effectively at a local level;
e) the following sub-committees are authorised by the Governing Body and are
accountable to the quality and performance committee:
i. Maternity Services Liaison Committee;
ii. Provider Clinical Quality & Patient Safety Review Meeting;
iii. Safeguarding Monitoring Meetings.
f) systems are in place to proactively identify and act upon early warning signs of
failing services;
g) the group ensures it commissioning process is based upon reducing health
inequalities in access to, and the outcomes from healthcare.
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The Quality and Performance Committee comprise the following members:

Membership Category

Organisation

Lay Member - PPI Governing Body
NHS South Cheshire CCG
Lay Member - PPI Governing Body
NHS Vale Royal CCG
Chief Nurse & Director of Quality
NHS SCCCG/NHS VRCCG
Secondary Care Doctor - Governing Body
NHS SCCCG/NHS VRCCG
Clinical Director of Quality
NHS South Cheshire CCG
Clinical Director of Quality
NHS Vale Royal CCG
Director of Operations & Systems Management
NHS South Cheshire CCG
Director of Transformation and Priority Projects
NHS SCCG/NHS VR CCG
Head of Clinical Quality
NHS SCCCG/NHS VRCCG
Head of Contracts
NHS SCCCG/NHS VRCCG
Risk Manager
NHS SCCCG/NHS VRCCG
Medicines Management Representative
NHS SCCCG/NHS VRCCG
Head of Service for Continuing
NHS SCCCG/NHS VRCCG
Healthcare/Complex Care Cheshire & Wirral CCGs
Designated Safeguarding Nurse Adults/Children
NHS SCCCG/NHS VRCCG
Rep
Service Delivery Manager/Primary Care
NHS SCCCG/NHS VRCCG
Representative
PMO Project Manager
NHS SCCCG/NHS VRCCG
Healthwatch representative
Cheshire East
Healthwatch representative
Cheshire West
This Committee met 11 times during the year, of which all were quorate.
During the year the Committee considered regular update reports on: performance (by both
provider and CCG area); quality; safeguarding; medicines management; incidents and
complaints; and updates from the health inequalities group.
Primary Care Joint-Commissioning Committee
The CCGs Primary Care Joint-Commissioning Committee is a joint committee of NHS
South Cheshire Clinical Commissioning Group and NHS Vale Royal Clinical
Commissioning Group, and is accountable to the respective Governing Bodies. The
Committee undertakes the function of jointly commissioning a common approach to
primary medical services for the population of South Cheshire and Vale Royal. It is made
up of representatives from NHS South Cheshire CCG and NHS Vale Royal CCG and
NHS England Cheshire and Merseyside.
The Committee, in equal partnership with NHS England makes recommendations on the
commissioning of primary medical care services that:
• reflect the local requirements and population health needs for NHS South Cheshire
CCG and NHS Vale Royal CCG
• strengthen a collaborative approached towards Primary Care Commissioning,
between the CCGs and NHS England
• support the strategic ambitions of the CCGs within the Connecting Care Programme.
• support a developmental approach of co commissioning that moves towards
Delegated Authority, subject to agreement of the member practices and Governing
Body.
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The Primary Care Joint-Commissioning Committee comprises the following members:
Membership Category
Organisation
Lay Member (Chair)
Lay Member (Deputy Chair)
Chief Executive (or nominated Deputy)

NHS South Cheshire CCG
NHS Vale Royal CCG
NHS South Cheshire CCG and NHS Vale
Royal CCG
Chief Finance Officer (or nominated deputy)
NHS South Cheshire CCG & NHS Vale Royal
CCG
GP Clinical Member
NHS South Cheshire CCG
GP Clinical Member
NHS Vale Royal CCG
Head of Primary Care (or nominated deputy)
NHS England
Head of Finance Primary Care (or nominated NHS England
Deputy)
Executive Director
NHS South Cheshire CCG & NHS Vale Royal
CCG
Service Delivery Manager for Primary Care
NHS South Cheshire CCG & NHS Vale Royal
CCG
Head of Medicines Management
NHS South Cheshire CCG & NHS Vale Royal
CCG
Public Health Representative – in attendance
Cheshire West and Chester Council
Public Health Representative – in attendance
Cheshire East Council
Healthwatch Representative – in attendance
Healthwatch Cheshire West and Chester
Healthwatch Representative – in attendance
Healthwatch Cheshire East
Health & Wellbeing Board Representative – in
Cheshire West and Chester Council
attendance
Health & Wellbeing Board Representative – in
Cheshire East Council
attendance
This Committee met five times during the year, of which all were quorate.

Membership Council performance and assessment of effectiveness
The Membership Council has continued to help shape the priority areas for the CCG during
2015/16 to focus on the needs of our patients within our locality, based on the priority areas
of the CCG and the national health agendas and guidance. We have contributed active
debate and discussion to the ongoing development of our CCG. We are aware of the
significant the challenges ahead that the Five Year Forward View and delegated
commissioning presents. We are confident that, with our partners, we can commission
patient centred, high quality services for our patient population that will improve health
outcomes locally.

Governing Body performance and assessment of effectiveness
Our Governing Body, on behalf of the Membership Council, has ensured the CCG is well
managed and has met its statutory duties during this year. The Governing Body has a good
working relationship with the Membership Council in order to shape the future vision for the
CCG.
Our Governing Body has ensured the delivery of clinical leadership and involvement which
means that the patient remains at the heart of everything we do and that patient services
remain at a high quality. The Governing Body has received regular update reports regarding
the CCG’s financial performance during the course of the financial year. Discussions have
involved both clinicians and lay members who have provided constructive challenge and
debate in the continuous monitoring of the CCG’s financial position. There have been
occasions throughout the year that have proved challenging however we have worked

72

through these issues and have delivered within budget. These challenges will become even
greater in the coming months and years.
Through scrutiny of quality and performance data Governing Body have challenged
outcomes for the population of South Cheshire and Vale Royal. Governing body lay
members and clinicians have worked jointly with CCG staff and providers to focus on the
patient journey, quality, experience and outcomes. Governing Body members have
championed the wider stakeholder voice across the CCG and Connecting Care Strategy
through support for development of a frontline staff, patient and carer expert reference
group.
The Governing Body has jointly worked on the prioritisation of the 2016/17 commissioning
intentions alongside lead clinicians and senior managers of both organisations. This brought
significant challenge from the Governing Body members to decide on the focus of work for
the forthcoming year. Particular emphasis was placed on health inequalities as well as the
need to deliver the NHS Constitution and the Connecting Care partnership priorities.
The Governing Body has had a comprehensive programme of reviews and reports on
agreed priorities throughout the year. This work has focused on strategic priorities and key
issues identified within the Board Assurance Framework.
The Governing Body has also had a good working relationship with both internal and
external auditors throughout the year as both attend the Governance and Audit Committee
on a regular basis. During 2015/16 Mersey Internal Audit Agency undertook follow-up
reviews of the Governing Body reporting and performance management and reporting
arrangements. The CCG has received significant assurance following these reviews.

The Clinical Commissioning Group Risk Management Framework
The CCG has in place a strategy for the management of risk as part of its overall
governance arrangements. The strategy provides a comprehensive guide to the CCG’s
approach to risk management, outlining committee and individual responsibilities. Key to this
strategy is setting out processes to identify risks to the organisation’s objectives and develop
plans and actions to address them. This is then driven forward by ensuring that there is
continued and objective monitoring both internally and via the CCG committee structure.
The aim is not to create a risk free environment, but one where risk is identified and
managed as a matter of course within the risk appetite of the CCG and where risk
management is embedded in all aspects of the work of the CCG.
Following the refresh of the CCG’s strategic objectives for 2015/16, the Governing Body and
Executive team developed the Board Assurance Framework, mapping potential risks against
our objectives and determining the risk appetite highlighting key controls and assurances,
and planned actions to address any gaps in controls and assurances. The corporate risk
register contains operational risks either raised directly onto the corporate risk register or
escalated via project/directorate risk registers if viewed as sufficiently high risk to warrant
this.
The risk registers are reviewed monthly to ensure risks are being managed effectively and
the corporate risk register is reviewed at the Governance & Audit Committee at every
meeting. The Board Assurance Framework is reviewed by the Governing Body at each
formal meeting and by the Governance & Audit Committee quarterly. Clinical risks are also
reviewed by the Quality & Performance Committee on a quarterly basis.
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The introduction of a programme management office approach has helped to solidify the risk
management process and ensure it is considered by staff at all levels in their day-to-day
work. Equality impact assessments, privacy impact assessments and risk logs are a
standard part of all projects and pieces of work and risks identified at a project level are
escalated, as appropriate, through the directorates to the corporate risk register.
Risks can be identified from a number of sources including staff identifying risks; via
committees; incidents; patient, public and stakeholder feedback; complaints and incidents;
external assessments and audits; programme and project management and general
operation activity.
All risks are assigned a relevant Executive owner who has overall accountability, with an
operational manager responsible for overseeing the effective management of each risk.
Risk scores up to 10 are viewed as acceptable to be managed at a Directorate level. Risks
scored 12 and above are discussed at directorate level and escalated where appropriate if
significant to the overall business of the CCG.
Incident reporting has been brought in-house during the year, so can be more effectively
managed and any issues are able to be raised. Policies are in place around emergency
planning, whistleblowing, information governance and incident reporting, all of which
contribute to the overall management of risk within the organisation. Training has taken
place during the year as part of the implementation of the PMO approach around privacy
impact assessments and equality impact assessments, public engagement and consultation,
risk management.
The CCG has local counter-fraud services in place provided by Mersey Internal Audit
Agency.

Risk Assessment
The CCG’s risk management framework, including the role of the Governing Body, is
described above. The “top ten” risks, identified by their Board Assurance Framework
reference, as presented to the April 2016 Governing Body meeting, were:
AF2015-16 Overall delivery of financial control total/financial balance (Risk rating
5x5=25)
The CCGs have, for a number of months, experienced deterioration in their financial
position. The main areas of over performance are non-elective admissions within acute
care and CHC/complex care. A financial recovery plan has been developed and a risk
sharing arrangement between NHS SC CCG and NHS VR CCG agreed. Further work
to bring back funding to CCGs and to negotiate down costs and reduce risk is being
undertaken as outlined in the financial recovery plan and 2016/17 planning being
undertaken. Ongoing ownership of the productivity and cost savings is required in the
CCG, producing robust quality, innovation, prevention and productivity plans.
AF2015-03 Health economy stability (Risk rating 5x4=20)
Key points: Development of cross-system clinical strategy along with robust 5 year
financial plan required. A strategic outline case has been confirmed with consultants to
deliver the STP and clinical strategy by June 2016. A review of budgets and nonrecurrent expenditure is planned, along with the development of new tariff and payment
mechanisms and place-based budgets.
AF2015-04 Workforce capacity and development (Risk rating 5x4=20)
Key points: Reducing GP workforce locally impacting on stability of local practices. The
increasing number of retirements and the failure of local GP practices to recruit new
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GPs into the area leaves our GP community at significant risk of seeing practice failure.
The Primary Care Strategy is in development, which will address some of the primary
care workforce issues. Work on the STP also needs to deliver plans relating to GP
workforce and workload.
AF2015-12 Community services provision (Risk rating 5x4=20)
Key points: The Most Capable Provider (MCP) route was agreed upon by the
Governing Bodies for the procurement of a new community services provider, with an
anticipated start date for the new provider of October 2016. Work continues with the
current provider to ensure service is maintained. Work is taking place to define service
specifications for all service areas.
AF2015-14 Co-commissioning of primary care (Risk rating 4x5=20)
Key points: NHS England has formally given approval for full delegation from 1st April
2016. Work on-going to ensure systems are in place for this, a draft Primary care
Strategy is now being consulted upon and work is taking place to ensure all systems
are in place to manage the delegated budgets.
AF2015-01 Better Care Fund (BCF) and improving models of care (Risk rating
4x4=16)
Key points: Work is underway to agree BCF plans for 2016/17 across the Connecting
Care Footprint as well as with Cheshire East Council (CEC) and Cheshire West and
Chester Council (CWaC). A draft clinical model has been developed in consultation
with stakeholders and shared for comment.
AF2015-02 Provider performance (Risk rating 4x4=16)
Key points: Managing performance both against national performance targets and
quality indicators, monitoring incidents, complaints and patient experience. Discussions
to agree a temporary extension of the current GP Out of Hours service are taking place
to ensure service delivery. Work is taking place (including a clinical audit) looking at
zero day length of stay admissions at MCHfT following identification of an above peer
trend in this area.
AF2015-06 Ability to deliver QIPP (Risk rating 4x4=16)
Key points: Every commissioning intention needs to be able to demonstrate benefits
realisation, but historically we have continually struggled to demonstrate in a robust
and sustainable way. Budget setting meetings for 2016/17 have taken place and
included discussions on QIPP and delivery of this will be worked through all
commissioning intentions for 2016/17. The Sustainability Action Group (SAG) has been
established to bring specific focus. Radical changes to the commissioning intention for
2016/17 have been proposed and QIPP delivery will be an integral part of this process.
AF2015-08 Commissioning Support Unit (CSU) management and performance
(Risk rating 4x4=16)
Key points: The new provider Midlands & Lancashire CSU is in place and an Associate
Director has been appointed with responsibility for managing the contract across the
CWW footprint. Contract management arrangements need to be put in place and
assurance is needed in the ongoing delivery of service.
AF2015-13 Improved access to services for patients (Risk rating 4x4=16)
Key points: Prioritisation of which service areas for improved access needed by CCGs
in 2016/17 as part of commissioning intentions.
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The Clinical Commissioning Group Internal Control Framework
A system of internal control is the set of processes and procedures in place in the clinical
commissioning group to ensure it delivers its policies, aims and objectives. It is designed to
identify and prioritise the risks, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and the
impact should they be realised, The CCG recognises that it is not possible, or on occasion
appropriate, to entirely eliminate risk. On this basis the Risk Management Framework
provides a process to manage them efficiently, effectively and economically.
The system of internal control allows risk to be managed to a reasonable level rather than
eliminating all risk; it can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of
effectiveness.
The Committee structure of the CCG ensures clear lines of accountability and defined
responsibilities in order to provide assurance to the Governing Body and our Membership
that the CCG is discharging its duties effectively. All committees have terms of reference to
define their remit and accountability.
Control mechanisms include:
• The scheme of reservation and delegation (SORD) which sets out the responsibilities
of the Membership, Governing Body and its sub-committees. This makes clear where
responsibilities lie and where assurance can be sought that these responsibilities are
being carried out effectively.
• CCG Assurance Framework and Risk Management Framework which support the
delivery of the CCG’s objectives by establishing processes to identify and effectively
manage risk, identifying gaps in control and providing assurance on the delivery of
the objectives.
• Financial controls which includes financial policies, standing orders, standing
financial instructions and delegated limits which are reviewed annually.
• CCG Policies and Procedures
The Governance and Audit Committee monitors the effectiveness of the CCG’s internal
controls on behalf of the Governing Body. Assurances are received from a range of sources
including internal audit, external audit, local counter fraud services, management reports and
committee reports.

Information Governance
The NHS Information Governance Framework sets the processes and procedures by which
the NHS handles information about patients, the public and employees, in particular
personal identifiable information. The NHS Information Governance Framework is
supported by an information governance toolkit and the annual submission process provides
assurances to the clinical commissioning group, other organisations and to individuals that
personal information is dealt with legally, securely, efficiently and effectively.
We place high importance on ensuring that there are robust information governance systems
and processes in place to help protect personal and corporate information. We have
established an information governance management framework and have developed
information governance policies and procedures in line with the information governance
toolkit. We have ensured all staff undertake annual mandatory information governance
training and have implemented a staff information governance handbook to ensure
employees are aware of their roles and responsibilities.
There are processes in place for incident reporting and investigation of serious incidents.
We are developing information risk assessment and management procedures and a
programme will be established to fully embed an information risk culture throughout the
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organisation. It is a requirement for NHS public sector organisations to achieve a level 2.
As a CCG we have achieved Level 2.

Review of economy, efficiency & effectiveness of the use of resources
In order to obtain maximum benefit for patients from finite resources, we regularly review our
expenditure to ensure that it gets value for money. This is achieved by improving
commissioning to ensure that different services, programmes and initiatives work together
effectively. In addition, benchmarking tools are used to compare costs with other
organisations, and also by comparing costs of services commissioned against health
outcomes. These tools help us to improve the efficiency of the services provided to patients.
We strive to ensure that budget holders are clear of the responsibility that they have and the
decisions that they can make aligned to the Scheme of Delegation. Ensuring that the
ownership of budgets is not just held in the finance and contracting team helps to ensure
that there is wider organisational understanding of our collective responsibility to use all of
our resources effectively and efficiently. Applying a strong governance and assurance
framework around this further reinforces the control mechanism and manages the risks
effectively whilst also facilitating an approach that improves outcomes for our local
population.

Review of the effectiveness of Governance, Risk Management &
Internal Control
As Accounting Officer, I have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the system of
internal control within the clinical commissioning group.

Capacity to Handle Risk
The following key areas describe our approach:
• Leadership is given to the risk management process – The CCG has ensured that risk
management processes have been embedded throughout the CGG, with clear direction
and oversight from the Governing Body and the Executive Team. The responsibility for
risk management is identified at all levels across the CCG, from governing body
members, directors and to all managers and staff. Risks are regularly reported to
Governance and Audit Committee, Quality and Performance Committee and escalated
as appropriate to Governing Body. Our Executives have clear responsibilities and
understand their role in implementing the effective approach towards how the CCG
handles risk. Risks are regularly reviewed by the Senior Management Team and the
Executive Team, with risks being escalated as appropriate. The introduction of the
Programme Management Office has given additional clarity to risk management, with
clear reporting lines from project and programme level through to senior management,
Clinical Commissioning Executive and onwards to Governance & Audit Committee and
Quality & Performance Committee and ultimately Governing Body.
•

Our Staff – Our staff are trained and equipped to manage risk in a way appropriate to
their authority and duties. Training has been provided to staff as an integral part of the
establishment of the programme management office, with additional support and advice
being provided internally to anyone who requires it. Role specific training has been
provided to the members of the risk management team to ensure they are fully up-todate with current best practice and equipped to offer advice and guidance throughout the
CCG.

Review of Effectiveness
My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by the work of the
internal auditors and the executive managers and clinical leads within the clinical
commissioning group who have responsibility for the development and maintenance of the
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internal control framework. I have drawn on performance information available to me. My
review is also informed by comments made by the external auditors in their management
letter and other reports.
The Board Assurance Framework itself provides me with evidence that the effectiveness of
controls that manage risks to the clinical commissioning group achieving its principles
objectives have been reviewed.
The Governing Body and the Governance and Audit Committee have advised me on the
implications of the result of my review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control.
Where appropriate they have provided advice and a plan to address weaknesses and to
ensure that continuous improvement of the system is in place.

Head of Internal Audit Opinion
Following completion of the planned audit work for the financial year for the clinical
commissioning group, the Director of Internal Audit issued an independent and objective
opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the clinical commissioning group’s system of
risk management, governance and internal control. The Director of Internal Audit concluded
that:

Opinion
My overall opinion is:
Significant Assurance, can be given that that there is a generally sound system
of internal control designed to meet the organisation’s objectives, and that
controls are generally being applied consistently. However, some weaknesses in
the design or inconsistent application of controls put the achievement of a
particular objective at risk
Whilst the assurance is derived by the reviews and from the objectives agreed in the
audit plan the organisation would also seek other assurances to confirm how
effectively it is managing the wider challenges and risks for the NHS and the local
health economy. This for example by its own assessment of processes, other external
sources and stakeholder feedback. Some of those risks would be in respect of;
financial stability, delivering cost improvements, robust contracting, effective financial
planning, delivery of statutory duties, effective governance, working in partnership
and quality of services.

Basis of Forming the Opinion
The basis for forming my opinion is as follows:
Assurance Framework
The organisation’s Assurance Framework is structured to meet the NHS
requirements, could be more visibly used by the Governing Body and clearly reflects
the risks discussed by the Governing Body.
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The organisation periodically assesses the assurance framework and risk
management processes for enhancements, alignment with strategic risks and
assurance expectations.
Assurance across the organisation’s critical business systems:
ACCESS TO SERVICES

Significant assurance is provided in respect of the Core Financial Systems and
Controls. We noted no key risk exposure in the processes. Our recommendations
focus on enhancing the debtor management processes and on improving the CCGs
performance against the Better Payment Practice Code.
A joint review with Cheshire East Council (CEC) of the Better Care Fund (BCF)
arrangements within CEC provided an overall significant assurance opinion. The key
issues and audit recommendations focused on the further development of a formal
and joint risk management approach to the BCF including embedding maturity and
risk mitigation processes. This should include financial, operational and quality
related risks with scoring in terms of their likelihood and impact. Further we noted
that CEC were enhancing their processes for managing information governance and
robust monitoring at an individual scheme level.
TRANSPARENCY AND GOVERNANCE

In year support and guidance was provided in respect of the local arrangements for
monitoring and managing Conflicts of Interest. In addition, a review was
undertaken and findings were shared with and informed the organisation in respect
of the specific assurances requested by NHS England (NHSE). Some enhancements
were recommended related to; enhancing policy and guidance specific to accepting
gifts and hospitality and the transparency of this in local recording. Further
developments arising from the Lord Carter recommendations and related to
pharmaceutical companies were highlighted for attention. The review supported but
did not substitute the CCG’s Accountable Officer’s own comprehensive review and
assurances provided to NHSE.
PATIENT PARTICIPATION AND CUSTOMER SERVICES

Our review of the CCGs role and responsibilities in respect of Quality
Responsibilities and Raising Concerns achieved significant assurance. The review
confirmed that the CCG has in place comprehensive Policies, underpinning
processes for monitoring the quality of commissioned services, concerns and
seeking assurance on the same.
INFORMED COMMISSIONING
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Mandated review of your Information Governance Toolkit concluded significant
assurance. The CCG demonstrated a reasoned approach to the collation of the
return.
We conducted a baseline review of the CCG’s developing Co-Commissioning
Arrangements providing a significant assurance level and recommendations to
enhance risk management arrangements and specifically to focus on funding,
business continuity and performance management risks going forward into 2016/17
and fully delegated responsibilities.
Our review of IT Security concluded an overall limited assurance opinion.
Specifically high level risk recommendations focussed on identified server security
weaknesses requiring patch management policy enhancements and noted that CSU
were introducing a new audit tool to improve monitoring of activity and domain
level security logging.
HIGHER STANDARDS

Core processes underpinning the organisation’s Service Delivery and Reporting
arrangements received significant assurance. The Vale Royal and South Cheshire
CCGs through a single management team and shared operational team of resources
and joint strategic objectives has had some organisational change in year and
developed closer integration towards operating as a single entity.
In parallel and aligned to service delivery we conducted a follow up review of the
Programme Management Office Arrangements and provided a significant
assurance opinion noting that these arrangements had been subject to enhanced
changes in year including local processes to monitor progress and performance
against key deliverables and milestones. Our review found these to be fully
embedded in the CCG’s working practices and operating effectively.
FOLLOW UP

Follow-up work was undertaken in year against all previous recommendations
including cyclical reviews. These demonstrated good progress against action plans
to improve systems and internal controls in line with agreed timeframes for
implementation.

Action has been agreed by Management to address the recommendations made in
the internal audit reviews and we will continue to undertake follow up of the
recommendations to provide assurance to the Audit Committee that the issues raised
have been addressed.
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Contribution

to

Governance,

Risk

Management

and

Internal

Control

enhancements:
•

Detailed insight into the overall Governance and Assurance processes gained from
liaison throughout the year and the undertaking of a risk maturity follow up
review.

•

Involvement with the organisation including advice and guidance and review of
governance documentation and assurances.

•

Ongoing discussion with lead officers, managers and lay members throughout the
year.

•

Effective utilisation of internal audit including in year communication and changes
to the audit plan as required.

•

Provision of MIAA briefings including Cyber Security and update on Investigations
in the NHS.

•

Involvement through MIAA events.

•

Engagement with MIAA Insights benchmarking and outcome reporting.

•

An advisory review of the Personal Health Budget (PHB) arrangements was
completed which had the objectives of; establishing the range and scope of
schemes, determining the use of direct payments and brokerage, examining the
interface arrangements with Cheshire Centre for Independent Living (CCIL),
evaluate designed controls and risks measures and any vulnerabilities. An overall
assurance level was not required or issued. A comprehensive action plan was
agreed with management which includes the priority of the issue or risk and
included therein are a number of matters of “high risk”. It is agreed that all actions
will be subject to follow up in 2016/2017 to assess progress toward
implementation and if improvement is achieved.

In providing this opinion I can confirm continued compliance with the definition of
internal audit (as set out in your Internal Audit Charter), code of ethics and professional
standards. I also confirm organisational independence of the audit activity and that this
has been free from interference in respect of scoping, delivery and reporting.
The opinion is derived from the conduct of risk based plans generated from a robust and
organisation-led Assurance Framework. The opinion does not imply that Internal Audit
have reviewed all risks and assurances relating to the organisation.
During the year, Internal Audit did not issue any audit reports which identified critical risks.
Critical risks are defined as: “Control weakness that could have a significant impact upon,
not only the system, function or process objectives but also the achievement of the
organisation’s objectives in relation to:
• the efficient and effective use of resources
• the safeguarding of assets
• the preparation of reliable financial and operational information
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•

compliance with laws and regulations.”

Data Quality
The Governing Body receives a monthly NHS Performance Targets report which includes
performance against the NHS Constitution’s patient rights. This report also includes
monitoring against prioritised CCG Outcomes Indicators where the CCG has particular
challenges (e.g. cancer one-year survival rates and maternal smoking during pregnancy).
The CCG is seeking to improve the quality and presentation of data issued to the
membership to help practices focus on areas of unexplained and unwarranted variation, this
includes producing a revised Primary Care Dashboard. The CCG’s new CSU provider
(Midlands & Lancashire CSU) is rolling out its analytical tool; Aristotle, to all CCG staff and
membership which should be fully completed by the end of August 2016. Data visualisation
software (Tableau) will also be available to the CCG’s local Business Intelligence analysts
from the beginning of May 2016, which will improve the CCGs ability to effectively
communicate its finance and performance data to stakeholders.
The Improving Outcomes Sub-committee (IOSC) has approved a set of “Central Cheshire
Generic Local Quality Requirements” to be included in all of the CCG’s major provider’s
contracts to enable benchmarking and trend analysis across providers and services to focus
improvement efforts where it is likely to have best effect. This includes a limited number of
patient experience and quality measures and includes a requirement for quarterly report of
utilisation rates by geographic localities which will be used to understand equality of
access. IOSC has also agreed a reporting schedule for sections of the NHS Constitution to
review the CCGs’ performance in relation to ensuring patient’s rights are promoted and
effectively delivered – this is a rolling programme throughout the year and improvement
actions will be agreed as appropriate.

Business Critical Models
I confirm an appropriate framework and environment is in place to provide quality assurance
of business critical models, in line with the recommendations in the Macpherson report.
Our business critical models and processes have been identified as risk assurance and risk
management, financial and resources control, contracting and procurement processes,
policy planning, forecasting and commissioning of health services, quality assurance
processes, business management and corporate processes and governance arrangements.
The CCG has embedded effective Quality Assurance (QA) within governance processes
throughout 2015/16. This has been delivered through the Board Assurance and Risk
Management Frameworks (described elsewhere in this report) and the implementation of the
Programme Management Office. The approach to QA can be grouped under three
headings:
• Culture
• Capacity
• Control
Culture
Clear leadership from Governing Body members and Membership Assembly to accept risk
and develop a ‘no blame’ culture and willingness to learn lessons. The ‘no blame’ culture
encourages transparency to collaborate and learn from our mistakes e.g. the current Board
Assurance Framework has been adopted by the Governing Body and is owned by the whole
organisation at all levels.
Capacity
We have used expertise in-house through our clinical leadership model and expert skills of
our staff i.e. safeguarding/financial and contracting skills. However, we have recognised our
limitations of capacity and used external expertise to ensure quality assurance i.e.
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procurement from CSU, internal audits from MIAA, external clinical reviews from AQuA and
Utilisation Management, review skills on business processes from integral Solutions re CSU.
Control
We have a model of clinical leadership for quality and specific commissioning programmes
i.e. Transformation and Priority Projects; Operations and Systems Management; Quality and
Safeguarding plus Finance areas. This gives strong accountability to the Membership and
the Governing Body.
The Board Assurance Framework is owned by the Governing Body on behalf of our
membership to ensure mitigation of risk and scrutiny of relevant issues. Risks are identified
by all members of the CCG, owned by Commissioning Leads and corporate risks are
presented to Governance and Audit Committee (and Governing Body) on a regular basis.

Data Security
We have submitted a satisfactory level of compliance with the information governance toolkit
assessment. The evidence used has also been independently audited, with ‘significant
assurance’ given, prior to submission.
There have been no Serious Untoward Incidents relating to data security breaches, and no
other incidents that were required to be reported to the Information Commissioner.

Pension Obligations
As an employer with staff entitled to membership of the NHS Pension Scheme, control
measures are in place to ensure all employer obligations contained within the scheme
regulations are complied with. This includes ensuring that deductions from salary,
employer’s contributions and payments into the scheme are in accordance with the scheme

83

rules, and that member pension scheme records are accurately updated in accordance with
the timescales detailed in the regulations.

Equality, Diversity and Human Rights Obligations
Control measures are in place to ensure that the clinical commissioning group complies with
the required public sector equality duty set out in the Equality Act 2010.

Discharge of Statutory Functions
During establishment, the arrangements put in place by the CCG and explained within the
Corporate Governance Framework were developed with extensive expert external legal
input, to ensure compliance with the all-relevant legislation. That legal advice also informed
the matters reserved for Membership Body and Governing Body decision and the scheme of
delegation.
In light of the Harris Review, the CCG has reviewed all of the statutory duties and powers
conferred on it by the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) and other associated
legislative and regulations. As a result, I can confirm that the CCG is clear about the
legislative requirements associated with each of the statutory functions for which it is
responsible, including any restrictions on delegation of those functions.
Responsibility for each duty and power has been clearly allocated to a lead Director.
Directors have confirmed that their structures provide the necessary capability and capacity
to undertake all of the clinical commissioning group’s statutory duties.

Conclusion
No significant internal control issues have been identified.

Simon Whitehouse
Accountable Officer
NHS South Cheshire CCG
19 May 2016
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2.2

Remuneration Report

2.2.1

Remuneration Policy

The following report provides the reader with financial information regarding the outcomes of
the Remuneration Committee. The Remuneration Committee is a formally appointed
committee of the Board and its terms of reference comply with the Secretary of State’s Code
of Conduct and Accountability for NHS Boards. Its role is to advise and make
recommendations to the Board about appropriate remuneration and terms of service for the
Chief Officer and other senior managers/officers not on Agenda for Change national terms
and conditions.
This Committee met twice in 2015/16. The purpose of the Committee is to advise the
Governing Body on the determinations about pay and remuneration for employees of the
CCG and people who provide services to the CCG.
The table below details NHS South Cheshire CCG Remuneration Committee composition
and its members (this is a joint committee with NHS Vale Royal CCG):

Meetings
Attended /
Total
Meetings

Name

Position

John Clough

Lay Member - Governance and Audit
NHS South Cheshire CCG

2/2

Graham Bruce

Lay Member - Governance and Audit
NHS South Cheshire CCG

2/2

Suzanne Horrill

Lay Member - Governance and Audit
NHS Vale Royal CCG

2/2

Terry Savage

Lay Member - Governance and Audit
NHS Vale Royal CCG

2/2

Jenny Williams

Human Resources
Cheshire and Merseyside Commissioning
Support Unit

2/2

Dr Ged O’Sullivan

GP and Clinical Member
NHS South Cheshire CCG

1/2*

Dr Philip Goodwin

GP and Clinical Member
NHS South Cheshire CCG

1/2**

Dr Judi Price

GP and Clinical Member
NHS Vale Royal CCG

1/2*

Dr Alan Norman

GP and Clinical Member
NHS Vale Royal CCG

1/2**

GP Membership of the Committee changed between the July 2015 and February 2016
meetings. *Attended in July 2015 **Attended in February 2016.
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Remuneration of Senior Managers
‘Senior manager’ is defined as “those persons in senior positions having authority or
responsibility for directing or controlling major activities of the CCG”. This means those who
influence the decisions of the CCG as a whole rather than the decisions of individual
directorates or departments.
Our Remuneration Committee determined the salaries of the following Directors’ and senior
managers’ posts: Chair, Chief Executive Officer and, Chief Finance Officer. The
remuneration packages for these senior posts were determined based on NHS England
guidance: ‘Clinical Commissioning Groups: Remuneration guidance for Chief Officers (where
the senior manager also undertakes the Accountable Officer role) and Chief Finance Officers
for CCGs and in light of the complexities of running a shared management team across two
CCGs.
The NHS England guidance details a number of allowances that can be applied for differing
circumstances. These include a percentage increase for complexity and a percentage
increase where joint management arrangements exist. Both of these have been applied as
per the Remuneration Committee’s recommendations for the Chief Executive Officer and the
Chief Finance Officer. The percentage allowance relating to complexity has been applied for
the GP Clinical Chair salary. All other CCG employed staff are covered by the Agenda for
Change national terms and conditions.
In line with NHS terms and conditions of service all senior managers (including the Chief
Executive Officer) are appointed on permanent NHS employment contracts with a notice
period of three months for all employees at Director Level.
Benefits
Senior managers may receive taxable benefits from the CCG lease car scheme as part of
their remuneration.
Pensions
All salaried Governing Body members had access to the NHS Pension Scheme, except for
our Lay Members. The scheme provides pensions on a final salary basis (see note 4.5 of the
Annual Accounts for further information).
Performance Management
Our CCG has adopted an annual appraisal system for all its employees. The Remuneration
Committee’s minutes state that the current organisation’s objectives and appraisal system
would continue to be the method by which performance and achievement of corporate
objectives were measured.
Termination packages (Subject to Audit)
No termination costs or packages were agreed during 2015/16.
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2.2.2 Governing Body Salary Disclosure 2015/16 (Subject to Audit)

(bands of
£5,000)

Expense
Payments
(taxable)1
(to nearest
£100)

£000

£00

80-85

54

Salary &
Fees
Name & Title

Simon Whitehouse - Chief Executive Officer*
April 2015 - March 2016 (0.64 WTE)
Dr Andrew Wilson - Chair
April 2015 - March 2016 (0.6 WTE)
Lynda Risk - Chief Finance Officer*
April 2015 - March 2016 (0.64 WTE)
Fiona Field - Director of Governance and Strategic Planning
April 2015 - March 2016 (0.64 WTE)
Tracy Parker Priest - Director of Operations and System Management
April 2015 - March 2016 (0.64 WTE)
Judith Thorley - Chief Nurse and Director of Quality*
April 2015 - March 2016 (0.9 WTE)
Dr Andrew Hudson - Governing Body Member
April 2015 - April 2015 (0.1 WTE)
Dr Andrew Spooner - Governing Body Member
April 2015 - March 2016 (0.3 WTE)
Dr Philip Goodwin - Governing Body Member
April 2015 - March 2016 (0.1 WTE)
Dr Annabel London - Governing Body Member
April 2015 - March 2016 (0.1 WTE)
Dr Robert Pugh - Secondary Care Representative
April 2015 - March 2016 (0.1 WTE)

100-105

(bands of
£5,000)

All Pension
Related
Benefits3
(bands of
£2,500)

(bands of
£5,000)

£000

£000

£000

17.5-20

105-110

5-7.5

110-115

Bonuses

Total

60-65

25

15-17.5

80-85

55-60

0

0-2.5

60-65

50-55

24

70-75

55-60
142-145

0-5

215-220
0-5

40-45

22.5-25

65-70

15-20

165-170

180-185

15-20

320-322.5

335-340

5-10

5-10
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2.2.2 Governing Body Salary Disclosure 2015/16 cont…

(bands of
£5,000)

Expense
Payments
(taxable)1
(to nearest
£100)

£000

£00

Salary &
Fees
Name & Title

Mr John Clough - Lay Member
April 2015 - March 2016
Mr Graham Bruce - Lay Member
April 2015 - March 2016
Mrs Diane Noble - Lay Member
April 2015 - March 2016
Dr Heather Grimbaldeston - Director of Public Health - Cheshire East
April 2015 - March 2016

(bands of
£5,000)

All Pension
Related
Benefits3
(bands of
£2,500)

(bands of
£5,000)

£000

£000

£000

Bonuses

Total

5-10

5-10

5-10

5-10

5-10

5-10

0

0
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2.2.2 Governing Body Salary Disclosure 2014/15

Name & Title
Simon Whitehouse - Accountable Officer2
April 2014 - March 2015 (0.64 WTE)
Dr Andrew Wilson - Chair
April 2014 - March 2015 (0.6 WTE)
Lynda Risk - Chief Finance Officer2
April 2014 - March 2015 (0.64 WTE)
Mrs Fiona Field - Director of Partnerships and Governance2
April 2014 - March 2015 (1 WTE)
Dr Andrew Hudson - Governing Body Member
April 2014 - March 2015 (0.1 WTE)
Dr Andrew Spooner - Governing Body Member
April 2014 - March 2015 (0.1 WTE)
Dr Philip Goodwin - Governing Body Member
April 2014 - March 2015 (0.1 WTE)
Dr Annabel London - Governing Body Member
April 2014 - March 2015 (0.1 WTE)
Dr Robert Pugh - Secondary Care Representative
April 2014 - March 2015 (0.1 WTE)
Judith Thorley - Chief Nurse
April 2014 - March 2015 (0.1 WTE)
John Clough - Lay Member
April 2014 - March 2015
Graham Bruce - Lay Member
April 2014 - March 2015

Salary &
Fees

Expense
Payments
(taxable)1

(bands of
£5,000)
£000

(to nearest
£100)
£00

80-85

40

100-105

Bonuses

All Pension
Related
Benefits3

Total

(bands of
£5,000)
£000

(bands of
£2,500)
£000

(bands of
£5,000)
£000

-

85-90

2.5-5

105-110

60-65

22

0-2.5

65-70

80-85

5

0-2.5

80-85

15-20
15-20

15-20
102.5-105

120-125

15-20

15-20

15-20

15-20

5-10

5-10

5-10

-

0-5

5-10

5-10

5-10

5-10
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Name & Title

Diane Noble - Lay Member
April 2014 - March 2015
Dr Heather Grimbaldeston - Director of Public Health - Cheshire East
April 2014 - March 2015

Salary &
Fees

Expense
Payments
(taxable)1

Bonuses

All Pension
Related
Benefits3

Total

(bands of
£5,000)
£000

(to nearest
£100)
£00

(bands of
£5,000)
£000

(bands of
£2,500)
£000

(bands of
£5,000)
£000

5-10

5-10

-

-
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Notes to Statements
1. The taxable benefits relate to the CCGs lease car scheme. For Simon Whitehouse, Lynda
Risk and Tracy Parker-Priest 64% of the benefit in kind is assumed to be gained from NHS
South Cheshire CCG and 36% from NHS Vale Royal CCG.
2. NHS South Cheshire CCG has a shared management team with NHS Vale Royal CCG
where the costs of a number of employees are shared between the two organisations. The
remuneration above displays the cost to NHS South Cheshire CCG only.
Simon Whitehouse - Total remuneration from both organisations is £125,000-£130,000
Lynda Risk - Total remuneration from both organisations is £95,000-£100,000
Fiona Field - Total remuneration from both organisations is £90,000-£95,000
Tracy Parker-Priest - Total remuneration from both organisations is £80,000-£85,000
Judith Thorley - Total remuneration from both organisations is £80,000-£85,000
In 2014/15 Fiona Field was aligned solely to NHS South Cheshire CCG. Due to realigned
directorates both Tracey Parker-Priest and Fiona Field held Senior Manager control over
NHS South Cheshire CCG and NHS Vale Royal CCG from 1st April 2015. Therefore, Tracy
Parker-Priest does not show on the 2014/15 comparators.
Judith Thorley is split 90% NHS South Cheshire CCG and 10% Vale Royal CCG.
3. The values in the All Pension Related Benefits column derive from a calculation that
follows the HMRC method to estimate the employer’s contribution to the increase in pension
entitlement for defined benefit pension schemes. These values are not shared between the
NHS South Cheshire CCG and NHS Vale Royal CCG but are shown at the full amount for
both CCGs.
Pension related benefit relates to in-year benefits from participating pension schemes.
These are the aggregate input amounts, calculated using the method set out in section 229
of the Finance Act 2004(1). Para 10(1)(e)(ii)(cc) of sch8 of 2013/1981.
The amount is calculated by:
Increase to Pension = ((20 x PE) +LSE) – ((20 x PB) + LSB)
Where:
PE is the annual rate of pension that would be payable to the director if they became entitled
to it at the end of the financial year;
PB is the annual rate of pension, adjusted for inflation, that would be payable to the director
if they became entitled to it at the beginning of the financial year;
LSE is the amount of lump sum that would be payable to the director if they became entitled
to it at the end of the financial year; and
LSB is the amount of lump sum, adjusted for inflation, that would be payable to the director if
they became entitled to it at the beginning of the financial year.
These figures are provided by the NHS Pensions Scheme for “Greenbury” reporting
purposes, the CCG has no control over the amounts reported.
4. Dr Heather Grimbledeston is employed by Cheshire East Council and receives no
remuneration from NHS South Cheshire CCG.
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2.2.3 Governing Body Pension Disclosure 2015/16 (Subject to Audit)

Name & Title

Simon Whitehouse - Chief Executive Officer

Real
increase
in pension
at pension
age

Real
increase
in pension
lump sum
at pension
age

Total
Lump sum
accrued
at age 60
Cash
Real
Cash
pension at related to
Equivalent increase Equivalent
pension
accrued
Transfer
in Cash
Transfer
age at 31 pension at
Value at
Equivalent
Value at
March
31 March
2016
2016

(bands of
£2,500)

(bands of
£2,500)

(bands of
£5,000)

(bands of
£5,000)

1 April
2015

Transfer
Value

31 March
2016

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

0-2.5

0

30-35

90-95

460

17

477

0-2.5

0

10-15

25-30

162

8

170

0-2.5

0

25-30

80-85

489

18

507

0-2.5

0-2.5

40-45

125-130

919

23

942

0-2.5

2.5-5

10-15

30-35

205

24

229

12.5-15

40-42.5

10-15

40-45

0

229

229

5-7.5

20-22.5

35-40

110-115

537

136

672

5-7.5

20-22.5

5-10

25-35

27

135

162

April 2015 - March 2016 (1 WTE)
Dr Andrew Wilson - Chair
April 2015 - March 2016 (0.6 WTE)
Lynda Risk - Chief Finance Officer
April 2015 - March 2016 (1 WTE)
Mrs Fiona Field - Director of Governance and
Strategic Planning
April 2015 - March 2016 (1 WTE)
Dr Andrew Spooner - Governing Body Member
April 2015 - March 2016 (0.3 WTE)
Dr Annabel London - Governing Body Member
April 2015 - March 2016 (0.1 WTE)
Judith Thorley - Chief Nurse and Director of Quality
April 2015 - March 2016 (1 WTE)
Dr Philip Goodwin - Governing Body Member
April 2015 - March 2016 (0.1 WTE)
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2.2.3 Governing Body Pension Disclosure 2014/15

(bands of
£2,500)

(bands of
£2,500)

(bands of
£5,000)

Lump sum
at age 60
related to
accrued
pension at
31 March
2015
(bands of
£5,000)

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

0-2.5

0-2.5

30-35

90-95

431

24

455

0-2.5

0-2.5

5-10

25-30

142

17

160

0-2.5

0-2.5

25-30

80-85

458

25

483

0-2.5

0-2.5

40-45

120-125

868

40

908

2.5-5

12.5-15

5-10

25-30

100

102

203

0-2.5

0-2.5

20-25

70-75

402

1

403

Real
Real
increase in
increase in
pension
pension at
lump sum
age 60
at age 60
Name & Title

Simon Whitehouse – Chief Executive
April 2014 - March 2015 (1 WTE)
Dr Andrew Wilson - Chair
April 2014 - March 2015 (0.6 WTE)
Lynda Risk - Chief Finance Officer
April 2014 - March 2015 (1 WTE)
Fiona Field - Director of Partnerships and
Governance
April 2014 - March 2015 (1 WTE)
Dr Andrew Spooner - Governing Body Member
April 2014 - March 2015 (0.1 WTE)
Judith Thorley - Chief Nurse
April 2014 - March 2015 (0.1 WTE)

Total
accrued
pension at
age 60 at
31 March
2015

Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value at
1 April
2014

Real
Cash
increase in Equivalent
Cash
Transfer
Equivalent Value at 31
Transfer
March
Value
2015
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Notes to Pension Disclosure
NHS South Cheshire CCG has a shared management team with NHS Vale Royal CCG.
Simon Whitehouse, Lynda Risk, Fiona Field and Judi Thorley are part of the shared
management team; their values above are shown as the combined total.
Cash Equivalent Transfer Value at 1 April 2015 is the closing Cash Equivalent Transfer Value
at 31 March 2015 increased to represent inflation of 1.2%. Changes in the NHS Pension
Scheme mean that Pension contributions no longer accrue towards a lump sum payment.
On 16th March 2016, the Chancellor of Exchequer announced a change in the Superannuation
Contributions Adjusted for Past Experience (SCAPE) discount rate from 3.0% to 2.8%. This
rate affects the calculation of CETV figures in this report.
Due to the lead time required to perform calculations and prepare annual reports, the CETV
values quoted in this report for members of the NHS Pension scheme are based on the
previous discount rate and have not been recalculated.
Judith Thorley became Chief Nurse and Director of Quality from 1st April 2015 her full WTE
has been taken into account for 2015/16. Previously, only her Governing Body role qualified
for Very Senior Manager status.
From 2015-16 onwards all GPs serving on the Governing Body are deemed to have a contract
for service with the CCG and are therefore entitled to access the NHS Pension Scheme.
Some GP’s may have accrued Officer pension in previous roles prior to working for the CCG.
Where possible 2014/15 opening balances have been obtained to ensure the prior year
comparators are correct.
NHS South Cheshire CCG did not make any employer contributions to stakeholder pensions
in 2015/16.

2.2.4 Pay Multiples (Subject to Audit)
NHS South Cheshire CCG has a management sharing arrangement with NHS Vale Royal
CCG, it is the cost to NHS South Cheshire CCG that identifies them as “highest paid” and not
the total of that individual’s remuneration. The remuneration costs would typically be split 64%
NHS South Cheshire CCG and 36% NHS Vale Royal CCG.
Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration of the
highest-paid director in their organisation and the median remuneration of the organisation’s
workforce.
The remuneration of the highest paid director in NHS South Cheshire CCG in the financial
year 2015/16 was £102,500 (2014/15, £102,500). This was 3.41 times (2014/15, 3.67) the
median remuneration of the workforce, which was £30,057 (2014/15, £27,901).
The complexity of the shared management arrangement means that consideration should be
given to the overall median total for NHS South Cheshire CCG and NHS Vale Royal CCG
which was £33,190 with a ratio of 3.09.
In 2015/16, zero employees received remuneration in excess of the highest-paid director.
Remuneration ranged from £7,821 to £102,500.
Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance-related pay, benefits-inkind, but not severance payments. It does not include employer pension contributions and the
cash equivalent transfer value of pensions.
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2.3 Staff Report
2.3.1

Our Team

Our Constitution has been updated and ratified by NHS England. Our Constitution states that,
as a Membership Council, we delegate authority to the Governing Body to effectively and
efficiently run the CCG on our behalf.
Our organisational structure can be found at appendix one. This illustrates our Membership
Council and Governing Body, together with its Committees and Sub Committees and the lines
of reporting and communication.
Our CCG team is clinically led and comprise of clinicians and a small management team. We
also have a Secondary Care Doctor and an Executive Nurse Lead who form part of the
Governing Body, along with three Lay Members.
Our GPs and clinicians have a wealth of local knowledge, clinical expertise and a real passion
to improve health and care for the people within our local communities. We have GPs who
lead on specific pieces of work in service Quality and Safety, Children and Young people,
Urgent and Planned Care, as well as Primary Care Quality. We see clinical involvement as a
vital ingredient to support us to continue to strive for an improvement in clinical outcomes for
our population, whilst ensuring that we are able to deliver the service changes that are
required and that the local care system remains sustainable with regards to meeting the
increased demand. Our three Lay Members hold portfolio roles and responsibilities for
Governance and Audit and Patient and Public Engagement.
When we formed as a CCG on 1st April 2013 we took the local decision, with our members, to
create a shared management team with our neighbouring CCG, NHS Vale Royal CCG. This
was to ensure that we work more efficiently and have a real focus on using every pound of
taxpayers money in as effective manner as possible. In adopting this approach we also strive
to acknowledge local differences within our population and local communities. On this basis
we have our own Governing Bodies supporting the two CCGs who are supported by this
shared management team. The shared management team makes sense given that the main
providers of acute, community and mental health care are the same.

2.3.2

Staff Numbers and Composition (Subject to Audit)

In order for the establishment tables within this section of the annual report to reconcile with
the financial accounts (Note 4.2), staff numbers have been calculated on an average number
of employees basis.
Staff Group
Administrative and Estates
Medical and Dental
Nursing, Midwifery and Health Visitors
Scientific, therapeutic and technical
Grand Total

Average Persons
Employed
59.74
1.68
39.48
5.53
106.43

The average number of employees is calculated as the whole time equivalent number of
employees under contract of service in each week in the financial year, divided by the number
of weeks in the financial year.
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Gender profile
The gender breakdown of the Governing Body membership, as described in the Members’
Report, is 43% female, 57% male. The CCG has 14 (headcount) senior managers whose
banding is Senior Manager non Agenda for Change.
The gender distribution among other members of CCG staff (on the basis of the calculation
used in the staff group table above) is 87.6% female, 12.4% male.

2.3.3

Sickness Absence

The CCG has a robust Attendance Management policy and procedure in place designed to
establish a positive attendance culture and support its managers and staff with attendance
issues by ensuring that these are managed consistently in a fair and equitable way.
The CCG proactively managed both short-term and long-term sickness absence in line with
this policy, with sickness absence being monitored on a monthly basis and reported on a
quarterly basis to the Governance and Audit Committee, which is a subcommittee of the
Governing Body.
Sickness absence data is collected nationally by the Health and Social Care Information
Centre on a calendar year basis. In 2015 the CCG lost a total of 1465 days to sickness, this
equates to 14 days per employee. Details can be found in note 4.3 of the annual accounts.
Internally reported sickness absence levels for the CCG stood at 2.67% at the end of March
2016. The rolling absence for the period ending 31st March 2016 was 3.32%.

2.3.4

Staff Policies Applied

We are an Equal Opportunity Employer
As a Clinical Commissioning Group, we are committed to equality of opportunity for all
employees and are committed to employment practices, policies and procedures which ensure
that no employee, or potential employee, receives less favourable treatment on the grounds of
gender, race, colour, ethnic or national origin, sexual orientation, marital status, religion or
belief, age, trade union membership, disability, offending background, domestic
circumstances, social and employment status, HIV status, gender reassignment, political
affiliation or any other personal characteristic as outlined in the Equality Act (2010) and any
other status covered by the Human Rights Act (1998). Diversity will be viewed positively and,
in recognising that everyone is different, the unique contribution that each individual’s
experience, knowledge and skills can make is valued equally.
The promotion of equality and diversity is actively pursued through our policies ensuring that
employees receive fair, equitable and consistent treatment and ensuring that employees, and
potential employees, are not subject to direct or indirect discrimination.
It is a condition of employment that all employees respect and act in accordance with the
Equality and Diversity Policy. Failure to do so will result in the disciplinary procedure being
instigated, which could result in dismissal.
We have an Equality and Diversity Policy that has been approved by Staff Side Partners and
ratified by the Governing Body.
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Staff Partnership Forum
The CCG acknowledges that the effective and productive conduct of employee relations
benefits significantly from a recognised forum within which all stakeholders play an active role
in partnership working. In support of this the CCG has a recognition agreement with Trade
Unions and staff side representatives and actively participates in the Cheshire & Merseyside’s
Staff Partnership Forum which aims to identify and facilitate the workforce and employment
aspects of the NHS locally in developing arrangements to implement required changes which
may affect the workforce.
The Staff Partnership Forum is the CCG’s main body for actively engaging, consulting and
negotiating with key staff side stakeholders. The forum is authorised to agree, revise and
review policies and procedures which may relate to changes in employment legislation and
regulation and the terms and conditions of employment affecting CCG staff covered by the
national Agenda for Change Terms and Conditions.
Any policies approved by the Staff Partnership Forum during this period were subsequently
ratified by the CCGs Governance and Audit Committee.
Staff Support
During the year the CCG continued to remain fully committed to the health and positive
wellbeing of its employees and understands that the health and wellbeing of the workforce is
crucial to the delivery of the improvements in patient care outlined in the CCG’s strategic
commissioning plan. All staff have access to a comprehensive Occupational Health Service
including support for Visual Unit Display (VDU) users and confidential counselling services.
Managers are supported by the Human Resources team to make appropriate referrals to
support any health concerns raised by an employee in a bid to ensure health and wellbeing
remains a priority for the organisation.
Personal Development Reviews
The CCG has adopted an annual appraisal system for all of its employees in order to manage
the performance and development of its staff. The CCG has adopted the stance that the
current organisation’s objectives and appraisal system are the method by which performance
and achievement of corporate objectives would be measured. Further work is currently being
undertaken to develop the PDR process in line with the CCG’s Organisational Development
Plan and priorities.
Employee Consultation (Staff Well Being and Engagement)
South Cheshire CCG recognises that its staff are its greatest asset, as it is through staff that
the CCG is able to achieve the fundamental positive outcomes in clinical commissioning
required as part of the organisation’s corporate strategy and objectives. In support of this the
CCG places a high importance on the delivery of effective communications, involvement and
engagement with all of its employees and discharges these duties through a variety of means
including:
•

•

•

Staff focus groups – The CCG actively encourages and promotes staff involvement at all
levels and staff focus groups are the mechanism to allow empowerment and ownership of
key decisions. These groups are developed for key areas of engagement and have been
instrumental in developing our internal branding as well as our programme of staff
activities.
A regular stand-up / ‘team briefing’ which provides a valuable opportunity for the Chief
Officer and senior managers to brief staff on important matters concerning the business
and operations of the organisation, including specific employee matters which all CCG staff
are invited and encouraged to attend
A weekly electronic bulletin available to all staff that provides a short and digestible
summary of key internal and external issues of relevance to the staff and CCG
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•
•

An internal online intranet resource that includes summaries of key activities and
performance, alongside policy and procedures.
A staff suggestions mailbox for staff to post ideas they have to make changes and
improvements in the workplace.

Disabled Employees
The CCG is committed to equality of opportunity for all employees and is committed to
employment practices, policies and procedures which ensure that no employee, or potential
employee receives less favourable treatment on the grounds of gender, race, colour, ethnic or
national origin, sexual orientation, marital status, religion or belief, age, trade union
membership, disability, offending background, domestic circumstances, social and
employment status, HIV status, gender reassignment political affiliation or any other person
characteristic as outlines in the Equality Act (2010) and any other status covered by the
Human Rights Act (1998). Diversity will be viewed positively and in recognising that everyone
is different, the unique contribution that each individual’s experience, knowledge and skills can
make is valued equally.
The promotion of equality and diversity is actively pursued through policies and ensures that
employees receive fair equitable and consistent treatment and ensures that employees, and
potential employees, are not subject to direct or indirect discrimination. To ensure that CCG
policies do not have an adverse impact in response to the requirements of the Equality Act
(2010), policies are screen for relevance during policy development processes and full equality
impact assessments are conducted where necessary.
It is a condition of employment that all employees respect and act in accordance with the
Equality and Diversity policy. The CCG takes equality and diversity serious and will not
tolerate discrimination in any form. As such failure to act in accordance with the CCG’s
Equality and Diversity policy could lead to disciplinary action.
The CCG operates a fair and objective system for recruiting, which places emphasis on
individual skills, abilities and experience. This enables a full diversity of people to demonstrate
their ability to do a job. Selection criteria contained within our job descriptions and person
specifications are regularly reviewed to ensure that they are justifiable and so do not unfairly
discriminate directly or indirectly and are essential for the effective performance of the role.
We offer a guaranteed interview scheme for disabled applicants who meet our essential
selection criteria. During 2015/16 we continued to maintain our “Positive About Disabled
People/2 Tick” accreditation.
Workforce Development
Creating an environment in which our people can thrive is an essential element in delivering
our vision - working together with our partners for our local populations, minimising health
inequalities and delivering high quality healthcare. Underpinning our vision is the principle that
we can only deliver the service and performance we want if we provide cutting-edge
employment practices, and engaging and developing our people so they thrive and are proud
to work within the CCGs. We recognise that it is through our employees that we make a
positive difference to the populations that we serve.
The Governing Body is committed to making the CCG a place where people look forward to
coming to work, are happy in the work they undertake, and importantly, know they will be
treated and respected as individuals who make a genuine difference to the organisation.
We want to continue to be a great place to work, where we recognise talent and encourage
individuals to be the best they can be. Attracting and recruiting high calibre people who share
our passion for making a difference for our patients and the communities in which we work.
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It is important to us that we continue to show our people how we value them as individuals.
We understand that by supporting, encouraging and investing, they will be able to use their
own unique set of strengths, talents and preferences to achieve their full potential. It’s
important to us that our workforce enjoy what they do, and contribute to the success of the
organisation now, and for the future.
This year we have recommissioned our clinical support unit (CSU) contract and are now
working with Midlands and Lancashire CSU who will provide us with support around learning
and development activities and HR processes. We continued to use the e-learning and
learning management systems set up in 2014/15 resulting in current overall compliance levels
of 87% for mandatory training.
The learning management system was also used to implement the organisations mandatory
approach to project management. We also worked with the CSU to develop a bespoke project
management e-learning package.
We also relooked at our annual appraisal processes and introduced Talent Mapping
discussions and included information to support us to build a Training Needs Analysis (TNA).
This will help to ensure we have robust succession planning in place for key roles and that
training is commissioned in the most equitable and cost effective way. Development of our
staff is further underpinned by regular 1-1 discussions with line managers throughout the
year. Our Remuneration Committee’s terms of reference state that the current organisation’s
objectives and appraisal system is the method by which performance and achievement of
corporate objectives are measured. We actively engage our team in organisational and
personal development opportunities wherever possible and this year a number of the team
have taken an active part in National Leadership Development Programmes such as Mary
Seacole and Elizabeth Garrett Anderson.
This year we have developed a cross organisational Clinical leadership programme in
conjunction with the North West Leadership Academy and AQuA. Participants will include a
cohort of our GP members and clinicians from across our partner organisations.
Our clinicians are also enthusiastically involved in regional and national networks and have
undertaken development work supported by the Advancing Quality Alliance (AQuA).
As a CCG we continue to be keen to reach out to engage with a wide range of people within
our communities and with colleagues working in health and social care to create joint
opportunities to learning and development i.e. safeguarding multi-agency training, joint
leadership training.
NHS South Cheshire CCG is committed to deliver new models of care in the future and for the
NHS to be sustainable and provide quality joined-up care. As such, we are committed to the
delivery of our ‘Connecting Care Strategy’ with our social, community, acute and mental health
providers. This strategy describes how we will equip our staff and managers with the skills and
leadership ability to work effectively in the new models of care outlined in The Five Year
Forward View. Work has begun to develop a Cheshire Learning and Improvement Academy
(CLIA) that will support staff in this development.
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Human Resources and Organisational Development Strategy
During 2015/16 the CCG has reviewed its Human Resources and Organisational Development
strategies and developed a new two year ‘People strategy’. In development of the People
Strategy we have engaged with staff and Lay members via focus groups to understand those
areas we do well, and those areas we need to improve on. We have reviewed what staff have
told us through the staff survey conducted in July 2015, and the 360 external survey with our
partners in May 2015. We want to translate the ideas and suggestions that have been put
forward into ambitious building blocks for future success, and develop teams and individuals to
be confident and equipped to deal with a world of change and challenge. This will help us to
continue to build workforce capability in order to commission personalised and integrated
services for our local populations. An implementation plan has been devised that highlights
five key priorities for action in 2016/18 that will be monitored through Governing Body on a six
monthly basis.
Emergency Preparedness, Resilience & Response
In May 2015 NHS England issued revised core standards for Emergency Planning, Resilience
and Response (EPRR). The CCG conducted a gap analysis against the standards and the
CCG Incident Response and Business Continuity Plans were reviewed at the same time.
In November 2015 a paper was taken to the CCG Governance and Audit committee outlining
the self-assessment process that had been undertaken and NHS South Cheshire CCG/ NHS
Vale Royal CCG demonstrated ‘Full’ compliance. The CCG Governance and Audit committee
were assured that the CCG were ‘fully’ compliant with the standards and this was duly
reported to NHS England who confirmed that they too had “full” assurance.
The CCG continues to maintain an on call managers system, in conjunction with NHS Vale
Royal CCG, to ensure a 24/7 response.
There have been no requirements in year to activate the CCG emergency plans and the CCG
continue to play a full part in the Local Health Resilience Partnership and relevant sub groups.

2.3.5

Expenditure on consultancy

During 2015/16 NHS South Cheshire CCG spent £194,942 on Consultancy Services.
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2.3.6

Off Payroll Engagements

Off payroll engagements are payments made by the CCG to employees outside of their payroll
system that are for more than £220 per day and that last for longer than six months.
All off-payroll engagements are subject to internal discussion regarding the appropriate
treatment of income tax, national insurance and superannuation contributions. These include
payments made to GP Practices for Membership Council sessions attended by Member
Practice Senior Partners. A contract of services for GPs has been developed that includes
clauses to allow the CCG to seek assurance regarding Tax and National Insurance
Contributions obligations.

Number
Number of existing engagements as at 31st March 2016;

22*

of which, the number that have existed;
for less than one year at the time of reporting

1

for between one and two years at the time of reporting

0

for between 2 and 3 years at the time of reporting

21

* 18 of the above represent payments made to GP Practices for their attendance at the CCG
membership council.

Number
Number of new engagements, or those that reached six months in
duration between 1st April 2015 and 31st March 2016

1

Number of new engagements which include contractual clauses giving
NHS South Cheshire CCG the right to request assurance in relation to
income tax and National Insurance obligations

0

Number for whom assurance has been requested

6

Of which;
assurance has been received

6

assurance has not been received

0

engagements terminated as a result of assurance not being received

0
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Number
Number of off-payroll engagements of board members, and/or senior
officers with significant financial responsibility, during the financial year

0

Total no. of individuals on payroll and off-payroll that have been
deemed “board members, and/or, senior officials with significant
financial responsibility”, during the financial year

14

To the best of my knowledge and belief, the Accountability Report presents a true and
accurate picture of NHS South Cheshire CCG.

Simon Whitehouse
Accountable Officer
NHS South Cheshire CCG
Date: 19th May 2016
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NHS South Cheshire CCG - Annual Accounts 2015-16
Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the year ended
31-March-2016
Note
Total Income and Expenditure
Employee benefits
Operating expenses
Other operating revenue
Net operating expenditure before interest

2014-15
£000

5,419
218,715
(4,994)
219,140

2,838
206,298
(1,022)
208,114

Investment revenue
Other (gains)/losses
Finance costs
Net operating expenditure for the financial year

0
0
0
219,140

0
0
0
208,114

Net (gain)/loss on transfers by absorption
Total net expenditure for the year

0
219,140

0
208,114

4.1.1
5
2

1,643
1,408
(34)
3,017

1,949
2,061
(34)
3,977

4.1.1
5
2

3,776
217,307
(4,960)
216,123

889
204,237
(988)
204,138

Of which:
Administration Income and Expenditure
Employee benefits
Operating expenses
Other operating revenue
Net administration costs before interest
Programme Income and Expenditure
Employee benefits
Operating expenses
Other operating revenue
Net programme expenditure before interest

Other Comprehensive Net Expenditure
Impairments and reversals
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of property, plant & equipment
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of intangibles
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of financial assets
Movements in other reserves
Net gain/(loss) on available for sale financial assets
Net gain/(loss) on assets held for sale
Net actuarial gain/(loss) on pension schemes
Share of (profit)/loss of associates and joint ventures
Reclassification Adjustments
On disposal of available for sale financial assets
Total comprehensive net expenditure for the year

4.1.1
5
2

2015-16
£000

2015-16
£000
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
219,140

2014-15
£000
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
208,114
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NHS South Cheshire CCG - Annual Accounts 2015-16
Statement of Financial Position as at
31-March-2016

Note
Non-Current Assets:
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Investment property
Trade and other receivables
Other financial assets
Total non-current assets

2015-16

2014-15

£000

£000

8

79
0
0
0
0
79

66
0
0
0
0
66

9
10

2
4,375
0
0
118
4,495

0
1,632
0
0
(808)
824

0

0

Total current assets

4,495

824

Total assets

4,574

891

(14,401)
0
0
0
0
(14,401)

(12,248)
0
0
0
0
(12,248)

(9,827)

(11,357)

0
0
0
0
(958)
(958)

0
0
0
0
0
0

Assets less Liabilities

(10,785)

(11,357)

Financed by Taxpayers’ Equity
General fund
Revaluation reserve
Other reserves
Charitable Reserves
Total taxpayers' equity:

(10,785)
0
0
0
(10,785)

(11,357)
0
0
0
(11,357)

Current Assets:
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Other financial assets
Other current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Total current assets

11

Non-current assets held for sale

Current Liabilities
Trade and other payables
Other financial liabilities
Other liabilities
Borrowings
Provisions
Total current liabilities

12

Non-Current Assets plus/less Net Current Assets/Liabilities
Non-Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Other financial liabilities
Other liabilities
Borrowings
Provisions
Total non-current liabilities

13

The notes on pages 113 to 142 form part of this statement
The financial statements on pages 109 to 142 were approved by the Governing Body on 19th May 2016 and signed on its behalf by:

Simon Whitehouse
Accountable Officer
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NHS South Cheshire CCG - Annual Accounts 2015-16
Statement of Changes In Taxpayers Equity for the year ended
31-March-2016
General
fund
£000

Revaluation
reserve
£000

Other
reserves
£000

Total
reserves
£000

Changes in Taxpayers’ Equity for 2015-16
Balance at 1 April 2015
Transfer between reserves in respect of assets transferred from closed
NHS bodies
Adjusted CCG balance at 1 April 2015
Changes in CCG taxpayers’ equity for 2015-16
Net operating expenditure for the financial year

(11,357)

0

0

(11,357)

0
(11,357)

0
0

0
0

0
(11,357)

(219,140)

Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of property, plant and equipment
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of financial assets
Total revaluations against revaluation reserve
Net gain (loss) on available for sale financial assets
Net gain (loss) on revaluation of assets held for sale
Impairments and reversals
Net actuarial gain (loss) on pensions
Transfers between reserves
Release of reserves to the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure
Reclassification adjustment on disposal of available for sale financial assets
Transfers by absorption to (from) other bodies
Reserves eliminated on dissolution
Net Recognised Expenditure for the Financial Year
Net funding
Balance at 31 March 2016

(219,140)

0

0
0
0

0

0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
(219,140)
219,712
(10,785)

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
(219,140)
219,712
(10,785)

General
fund
£000

Revaluation
reserve
£000

Other
reserves
£000

Total
reserves
£000

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2014-15
Balance at 1 April 2014
Transfer of assets and liabilities from closed NHS bodies as a result of the 1
April 2013 transition
Adjusted NHS Commissioning Board balance at 1 April 2014
Changes in NHS Commissioning Board taxpayers’ equity for 2014-15
Net operating costs for the financial year
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of property, plant and equipment
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of intangible assets
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of financial assets
Total revaluations against revaluation reserve

(11,012)

0

0

(11,012)

0
(11,012)

0
0

0
0

0
(11,012)

(208,115)

(208,115)

0

0
0
0
0

0

0
0
0
0

Net gain (loss) on available for sale financial assets
0
Net gain (loss) on revaluation of assets held for sale
0
Impairments and reversals
0
Net actuarial gain (loss) on pensions
0
Movements in other reserves
0
Transfers between reserves
0
Release of reserves to the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure
0
Reclassification adjustment on disposal of available for sale financial assets
0
Transfers by absorption to (from) other bodies
0
Reserves eliminated on dissolution
0
Net Recognised NHS Commissioning Board Expenditure for the Financial Year
(208,115)
Net funding
207,771
Balance at 31 March 2015
(11,357)

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
(208,115)
207,771
(11,357)
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NHS South Cheshire CCG - Annual Accounts 2015-16
Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended
31-March-2016
Note
Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net operating expenditure for the financial year
Depreciation and amortisation
Impairments and reversals
Movement due to transfer by modified absorption
Other gains (losses) on foreign exchange
Donated assets received credited to revenue but non-cash
Government granted assets received credited to revenue but non-cash
Interest paid
Release of PFI deferred credit
Other gains & losses
Finance costs
Unwinding of discounts
(Increase)/decrease in inventories
(Increase)/decrease in trade & other receivables
(Increase)/decrease in other current assets
Increase/(decrease) in trade & other payables
Increase/(decrease) in other current liabilities
Provisions utilised
Increase/(decrease) in provisions
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Operating Activities

5

9
10
12
13

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Interest received
(Payments) for property, plant and equipment
(Payments) for intangible assets
(Payments) for investments with the Department of Health
(Payments) for other financial assets
(Payments) for financial assets (LIFT)
Proceeds from disposal of assets held for sale: property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from disposal of assets held for sale: intangible assets
Proceeds from disposal of investments with the Department of Health
Proceeds from disposal of other financial assets
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets (LIFT)
Loans made in respect of LIFT
Loans repaid in respect of LIFT
Rental revenue
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Investing Activities
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) before Financing
Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Grant in Aid funding received
Other loans received
Other loans repaid
Capital grants and other capital receipts
Capital receipts surrendered
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Financing Activities
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash & Cash Equivalents

11

Cash & Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the Financial Year
Effect of exchange rate changes on the balance of cash and cash equivalents held in
foreign currencies
Cash & Cash Equivalents (including bank overdrafts) at the End of the Financial Year

2014-15
£000

2015-16
£000
(219,140)
22
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
(2)
(2,743)
0
2,216
0
0
958
(218,689)

(208,115)
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
(199)
0
(572)
0
0
0
(208,886)

0
(97)
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
(97)

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

(218,786)

(208,886)

219,712
0
0
0
0
219,712

207,771
0
0
0
0
207,771

925

(1,115)

(808)

307

0

0

118

(808)
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NHS South Cheshire CCG - Annual Accounts 2015-16
Notes to the Financial Statements
1.

Accounting Policies
NHS England has directed that the financial statements of Clinical Commissioning Groups shall meet the accounting
requirements of the Manual for Accounts issued by the Department of Health. Consequently, the following financial
statements have been prepared in accordance with the Manual for Accounts 2015-16 issued by the Department of
Health. The accounting policies contained in the Manual for Accounts follow International Financial Reporting
Standards to the extent that they are meaningful and appropriate to Clinical Commissioning Groups, as determined by
HM Treasury, which is advised by the Financial Reporting Advisory Board. Where the Manual for Accounts permits a
choice of accounting policy, the accounting policy which is judged to be most appropriate to the particular
circumstances of the Clinical Commissioning Group for the purpose of giving a true and fair view has been selected.
The particular policies adopted by the Clinical Commissioning Group are described below. They have been applied
consistently in dealing with items considered material in relation to the accounts.

1.1

Going Concern
These accounts have been prepared on the going concern basis.
Public sector bodies are assumed to be going concerns where the continuation of the provision of a service in the
future is anticipated, as evidenced by inclusion of financial provision for that service in published documents.
Where a Clinical Commissioning Group ceases to exist, it considers whether or not its services will continue to be
provided (using the same assets, by another public sector entity) in determining whether to use the concept of going
concern for the final set of Financial Statements. If services will continue to be provided the financial statements are
prepared on the going concern basis.

1.2

Accounting Convention
These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to account for the revaluation of
property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, inventories and certain financial assets and financial liabilities.

1.3

Acquisitions
& Discontinued
Operations
Activities
are considered
to be ‘acquired’
only if they are taken on from outside the public sector. Activities are
considered to be ‘discontinued’ only if they cease entirely. They are not considered to be ‘discontinued’ if they transfer
from one public sector body to another.

1.4

Movementasofpart
Assets
within the Department
of HealthforGroup
Transfers
of reorganisation
fall to be accounted
by use of absorption accounting in line with the Government
Financial Reporting Manual, issued by HM Treasury. The Government Financial Reporting Manual does not require
retrospective adoption, so prior year transactions (which have been accounted for under merger accounting) have not
been restated. Absorption accounting requires that entities account for their transactions in the period in which they
took place, with no restatement of performance required when functions transfer within the public sector. Where
assets and liabilities transfer, the gain or loss resulting is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Net
Other transfers of assets and liabilities within the Department of Health Group are accounted for in line with IAS 20 and
similarly give rise to income and expenditure entries.

1.5

Pooled Budgets
Where the Clinical Commissioning Group has entered into a pooled budget arrangement under Section 75 of the
National Health Service Act 2006 the Clinical Commissioning Group accounts for its share of the assets, liabilities,
income and expenditure arising from the activities of the pooled budget, identified in accordance with the pooled
budget agreement.
If the Clinical Commissioning Group is in a “jointly controlled operation”, the Clinical Commissioning Group recognises:
- The assets the Clinical Commissioning Group controls;
- The liabilities the Clinical Commissioning Group incurs;
- The expenses the Clinical Commissioning Group incurs; and,
- The Clinical Commissioning Group’s share of the income from the pooled budget activities.
If the Clinical Commissioning Group is involved in a “jointly controlled assets” arrangement, in addition to the above,
the Clinical Commissioning Group recognises:
- The Clinical Commissioning Group’s share of the jointly controlled assets (classified according to the nature
of the assets);
- The Clinical Commissioning Group’s share of any liabilities incurred jointly; and,
- The Clinical Commissioning Group’s share of the expenses jointly incurred.

113

1.6

Critical Accounting Judgements & Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
In the application of the Clinical Commissioning Group’s accounting policies, management is required to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from those estimates and the estimates and
underlying assumptions are continually reviewed. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if
the revision affects both current and future periods.

1.6.1

Critical Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies
The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations (see below) that management has
made in the process of applying the Clinical Commissioning Group’s accounting policies that have the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

1.6.2 Contracting Outturn Estimates
The forecast out turn for provider contracts are estimated based on the activity information available in conjunction with
regular discussions with providers to reach an agreed estimate of the contracting over/under performance. The actual
activity information for providers will be available in June 2015.
1.6.3 Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
The following are the key estimations that management has made in the process of applying the Clinical
Commissioning Group’s accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
financial statements:
1.6.4 Prescribing Estimates
There is an average six week delay in receiving from the Prescription Pricing Department (PPD) the costs of
prescriptions dispensed and a forecast year position by practice. For 2015/16, the PPD has indicated that the final
March 2016 figures will therefore not be available until mid May 2016. The figures included in these accounts are
therefore based on the actual figures received for Janury 2016, and an estimate for February and March 2016
(£4,535,574).
1.6.5 Partially Completed Spells Estimates
The cost of Partially Completed Spells are calculated by NHS Providers. These costs will be based on episodes of
care that span over the year end (i.e. the episode of care begins in 2015/16, but is not completed until 2016/17).
Estimated costs for partially completed spells for NHS bodies have been included only for those organisations that
include them in their own statutory accounts.
1.6.6 The Maternity Pathway Payment System
The Clinical Commissioning Group is obliged to make payment to NHS providers covering the whole of the maternity
pathway, at the point at which the patient presents for treatment. This results in an amount being paid to NHS providers
ahead of the completed episode of care, and a resultant prepayment for the Clinical Commissioning Group. The
estimated prepayment for Maternity Pathways for NHS bodies has been included only for those organisations that
include them in their own statutory accounts.
1.7

Revenue
Revenue in respect of services provided is recognised when, and to the extent that, performance occurs, and is
measured at the fair value of the consideration receivable.
Where income is received for a specific activity that is to be delivered in the following year, that income is deferred.

1.8

Employee Benefits

1.8.1 Short-term Employee Benefits
Salaries, wages and employment-related payments are recognised in the period in which the service is received from
employees, including bonuses earned but not yet taken.
The cost of leave earned but not taken by employees at the end of the period is recognised in the financial statements
to the extent that employees are permitted to carry forward leave into the following period.
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1.8.2 Retirement Benefit Costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Scheme. The scheme is an unfunded,
defined benefit scheme that covers NHS employers, General Practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of
the Secretary of State, in England and Wales. The scheme is not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS
bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, the scheme is accounted for as
if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the Clinical Commissioning Group of participating in the scheme is
taken as equal to the contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting period.
For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the scheme.
The full amount of the liability for the additional costs is charged to expenditure at the time the Clinical Commissioning
Group commits itself to the retirement, regardless of the method of payment.
Some employees are members of the Local Government Superannuation Scheme, which is a defined benefit pension
scheme. The scheme assets and liabilities attributable to those employees can be identified and are recognised in the
Clinical Commissioning Group’s accounts. The assets are measured at fair value and the liabilities at the present value
of the future obligations. The increase in the liability arising from pensionable service earned during the year is
recognised within operating expenses. The expected gain during the year from scheme assets is recognised within
finance income. The interest cost during the year arising from the unwinding of the discount on the scheme liabilities is
recognised within finance costs. Actuarial gains and losses during the year are recognised in the General Reserve and
reported as an item of other comprehensive net expenditure.
1.9

Other Expenses
Other operating expenses are recognised when, and to the extent that, the goods or services have been received.
They are measured at the fair value of the consideration payable.
Expenses and liabilities in respect of grants are recognised when the Clinical Commissioning Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation, which occurs when all of the conditions attached to the payment have been met.

1.10

Property, Plant & Equipment

1.10.1 Recognition
Property, plant and equipment is capitalised if:
- It is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes;
- It is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential will be supplied to the Clinical
Commissioning Group;
- It is expected to be used for more than one financial year;
- The cost of the item can be measured reliably; and,
- The item has a cost of at least £5,000; or,
- Collectively, a number of items have a cost of at least £5,000 and individually have a cost of more than
£250, where the assets are functionally interdependent, they had broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are
anticipated to have simultaneous disposal dates and are under single managerial control; or,
- Items form part of the initial equipping and setting-up cost of a new building, ward or unit, irrespective of their
individual or collective cost.
Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a number of components with significantly different asset lives,
the components are treated as separate assets and depreciated over their own useful economic lives.
1.10.2 Valuation
All property, plant and equipment are measured initially at cost, representing the cost directly attributable to acquiring
or constructing the asset and bringing it to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the
manner intended by management. All assets are measured subsequently at valuation.
Land and buildings used for the Clinical Commissioning Group’s services or for administrative purposes are stated in
the statement of financial position at their re-valued amounts, being the fair value at the date of revaluation less any
impairment.
Revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity to ensure that carrying amounts are not materially different from
those that would be determined at the end of the reporting period. Fair values are determined as follows:
- Land and non-specialised buildings – market value for existing use; and,
- Specialised buildings – depreciated replacement cost.
HM Treasury has adopted a standard approach to depreciated replacement cost valuations based on modern
equivalent assets and, where it would meet the location requirements of the service being provided, an alternative site
can be valued.
Properties in the course of construction for service or administration purposes are carried at cost, less any impairment
loss. Cost includes professional fees but not borrowing costs, which are recognised as expenses immediately, as
allowed by IAS 23 for assets held at fair value. Assets are re-valued and depreciation commences when they are
brought into use.
Fixtures and equipment are carried at depreciated historic cost as this is not considered to be materially different from
current value in existing use.
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An increase arising on revaluation is taken to the revaluation reserve except when it reverses an impairment for the
same asset previously recognised in expenditure, in which case it is credited to expenditure to the extent of the
decrease previously charged there. A revaluation decrease that does not result from a loss of economic value or
service potential is recognised as an impairment charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is a balance
on the reserve for the asset and, thereafter, to expenditure. Impairment losses that arise from a clear consumption of
economic benefit are taken to expenditure. Gains and losses recognised in the revaluation reserve are reported as
other comprehensive income in the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure.
1.10.3 Subsequent Expenditure
Where subsequent expenditure enhances an asset beyond its original specification, the directly attributable cost is
capitalised. Where subsequent expenditure restores the asset to its original specification, the expenditure is capitalised
and any existing carrying value of the item replaced is written-out and charged to operating expenses.
1.11

Intangible Assets

1.11.1 Recognition
Intangible assets are non-monetary assets without physical substance, which are capable of sale separately from the
rest of the Clinical Commissioning Group’s business or which arise from contractual or other legal rights. They are
recognised only:
- When it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential be provided to, the Clinical
Commissioning Group;
- Where the cost of the asset can be measured reliably; and,
- Where the cost is at least £5,000.
Intangible assets acquired separately are initially recognised at fair value. Software that is integral to the operating of
hardware, for example an operating system, is capitalised as part of the relevant item of property, plant and equipment.
Software that is not integral to the operation of hardware, for example application software, is capitalised as an
intangible asset. Expenditure on research is not capitalised but is recognised as an operating expense in the period in
which it is incurred. Internally-generated assets are recognised if, and only if, all of the following have been
demonstrated:
- The technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use;
- The intention to complete the intangible asset and use it;
- The ability to sell or use the intangible asset;
- How the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits or service potential;
- The availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the intangible asset and sell
or use it; and,
- The ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development.
1.11.2 Measurement
The amount initially recognised for internally-generated intangible assets is the sum of the expenditure incurred from
the date when the criteria above are initially met. Where no internally-generated intangible asset can be recognised,
the expenditure is recognised in the period in which it is incurred.
Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at current value in existing use by reference to an active
market, or, where no active market exists, at the lower of depreciated replacement cost or the value in use where the
asset is income generating . Internally-developed software is held at historic cost to reflect the opposing effects of
increases in development costs and technological advances.
1.12

Depreciation, Amortisation & Impairments
Freehold land, properties under construction, and assets held for sale are not depreciated.
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Otherwise, depreciation and amortisation are charged to write off the costs or valuation of property, plant and
equipment and intangible non-current assets, less any residual value, over their estimated useful lives, in a manner
that reflects the consumption of economic benefits or service potential of the assets. The estimated useful life of an
asset is the period over which the Clinical Commissioning Group expects to obtain economic benefits or service
potential from the asset. This is specific to the Clinical Commissioning Group and may be shorter than the physical life
of the asset itself. Estimated useful lives and residual values are reviewed each year end, with the effect of any
changes recognised on a prospective basis. Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their estimated
useful lives.
At each reporting period end, the Clinical Commissioning Group checks whether there is any indication that any of its
tangible or intangible non-current assets have suffered an impairment loss. If there is indication of an impairment loss,
the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated to determine whether there has been a loss and, if so, its amount.
Intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment annually.
A revaluation decrease that does not result from a loss of economic value or service potential is recognised as an
impairment charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is a balance on the reserve for the asset and,
thereafter, to expenditure. Impairment losses that arise from a clear consumption of economic benefit are taken to
expenditure. Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the
revised estimate of the recoverable amount but capped at the amount that would have been determined had there
been no initial impairment loss. The reversal of the impairment loss is credited to expenditure to the extent of the
decrease previously charged there and thereafter to the revaluation reserve.
1.13

Donated Assets
Donated non-current assets are capitalised at their fair value on receipt, with a matching credit to Income. They are
valued, depreciated and impaired as described above for purchased assets. Gains and losses on revaluations,
impairments and sales are as described above for purchased assets. Deferred income is recognised only where
conditions attached to the donation preclude immediate recognition of the gain.

1.14

Government Grants
The value of assets received by means of a government grant are credited directly to income. Deferred income is
recognised only where conditions attached to the grant preclude immediate recognition of the gain.

1.16

Leases
Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the
lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

1.16.1 The Clinical Commissioning Group as Lessee
Property, plant and equipment held under finance leases are initially recognised, at the inception of the lease, at fair
value or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments, with a matching liability for the lease obligation
to the lessor. Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and reduction of the lease obligation so as to
achieve a constant rate on interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are recognised in
calculating the Clinical Commissioning Group’s surplus/deficit.
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease incentives
are recognised initially as a liability and subsequently as a reduction of rentals on a straight-line basis over the lease
term.
Contingent rentals are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.
Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land and building components are separated and individually assessed as
to whether they are operating or finance leases.
1.16.2 The Clinical Commissioning Group as Lessor
Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recorded as receivables at the amount of the Clinical
Commissioning Group’s net investment in the leases. Finance lease income is allocated to accounting periods so as to
reflect a constant periodic rate of return on the Clinical Commissioning Group’s net investment outstanding in respect
of the leases.
Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Initial direct costs
incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and
recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
1.17

Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value using the first-in first-out cost formula. This is
considered to be a reasonable approximation to fair value due to the high turnover of stocks.

1.18

Cash & Cash Equivalents
Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on notice of not more than 24
hours. Cash equivalents are investments that mature in 3 months or less from the date of acquisition and that are
readily convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value.
In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are repayable on
demand and that form an integral part of the Clinical Commissioning Group’s cash management.
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1.19

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Clinical Commissioning Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a
result of a past event, it is probable that the Clinical Commissioning Group will be required to settle the obligation, and
a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. The amount recognised as a provision is the best
estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the
risks and uncertainties. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the obligation, its
carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows using HM Treasury’s discount rate as follows:
- Timing of cash flows (0 to 5 years inclusive): Minus 1.55% (2014-15: minus 1.50%)
- Timing of cash flows (6 to 10 years inclusive): Minus 1% (2014-15: minus 1.05%)
- Timing of cash flows (over 10 years): Minus 0.80% (2014-15: plus 2.20%)
When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third
party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursements will be received and the
amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.
A restructuring provision is recognised when the Clinical Commissioning Group has developed a detailed formal plan
for the restructuring and has raised a valid expectation in those affected that it will carry out the restructuring by starting
to implement the plan or announcing its main features to those affected by it. The measurement of a restructuring
provision includes only the direct expenditures arising from the restructuring, which are those amounts that are both
necessarily entailed by the restructuring and not associated with on-going activities of the entity.

1.20

Clinical Negligence Costs
The NHS Litigation Authority operates a risk pooling scheme under which the Clinical Commissioning Group pays an
annual contribution to the NHS Litigation Authority which in return settles all clinical negligence claims. The contribution
is charged to expenditure. Although the NHS Litigation Authority is administratively responsible for all clinical
negligence cases the legal liability remains with the Clinical Commissioning Group.

1.21

Non-Clinical Risk Pooling
The Clinical Commissioning Group participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties
Scheme. Both are risk pooling schemes under which the Clinical Commissioning Group pays an annual contribution to
the NHS Litigation Authority and, in return, receives assistance with the costs of claims arising. The annual
membership contributions, and any excesses payable in respect of particular claims are charged to operating expenses
as and when they become due.

1.22

Continuing Healthcare Risk Pooling
In 2014-15 a risk pool scheme has been introduced by NHS England for continuing healthcare claims, for claim periods
prior to 31 March 2013. Under the scheme Clinical Commissioning Group contribute annually to a pooled fund, which
is used to settle the claims.

1.23

Contingencies
A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by
the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Clinical
Commissioning Group, or a present obligation that is not recognised because it is not probable that a payment will be
required to settle the obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured sufficiently reliably. A contingent
liability is disclosed unless the possibility of a payment is remote.
A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Clinical
Commissioning Group. A contingent asset is disclosed where an inflow of economic benefits is probable.
Where the time value of money is material, contingencies are disclosed at their present value.
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1.24

Financial Assets
Financial assets are recognised when the Clinical Commissioning Group becomes party to the financial instrument
contract or, in the case of trade receivables, when the goods or services have been delivered. Financial assets are
derecognised when the contractual rights have expired or the asset has been transferred.
Financial assets are classified into the following categories:
- Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss;
- Held to maturity investments;
- Available for sale financial assets; and,
- Loans and receivables.
The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time of initial
recognition.

1.24.1 Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Profit and Loss
Embedded derivatives that have different risks and characteristics to their host contracts, and contracts with embedded
derivatives whose separate value cannot be ascertained, are treated as financial assets at fair value through profit and
loss. They are held at fair value, with any resultant gain or loss recognised in calculating the Clinical Commissioning
Group’s surplus or deficit for the year. The net gain or loss incorporates any interest earned on the financial asset.
1.24.2 Held to Maturity Assets
Held to maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity,
and there is a positive intention and ability to hold to maturity. After initial recognition, they are held at amortised cost
using the effective interest method, less any impairment. Interest is recognised using the effective interest method.
1.24.3 Available For Sale Financial Assets
Available for sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are designated as available for sale or that do
not fall within any of the other three financial asset classifications. They are measured at fair value with changes in
value taken to the revaluation reserve, with the exception of impairment losses. Accumulated gains or losses are
recycled to surplus/deficit on de-recognition.
1.24.4 Loans & Receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments which are not quoted in
an active market. After initial recognition, they are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less
any impairment. Interest is recognised using the effective interest method.
Fair value is determined by reference to quoted market prices where possible, otherwise by valuation techniques.
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of
the financial asset, to the initial fair value of the financial asset.
At the end of the reporting period, the Clinical Commissioning Group assesses whether any financial assets, other than
those held at ‘fair value through profit and loss’ are impaired. Financial assets are impaired and impairment losses
recognised if there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events which occurred after the initial
recognition of the asset and which has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the asset.
For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the revised future cash flows discounted at the asset’s
original effective interest rate. The loss is recognised in expenditure and the carrying amount of the asset is reduced
through a provision for impairment of receivables.
If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to
an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through
expenditure to the extent that the carrying amount of the receivable at the date of the impairment is reversed does not
exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised.
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1.25

Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial position when the Clinical Commissioning Group
becomes party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument or, in the case of trade payables, when the
goods or services have been received. Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the liability has been discharged,
that is, the liability has been paid or has expired.
Loans from the Department of Health are recognised at historical cost. Otherwise, financial liabilities are initially
recognised at fair value.

1.25.1 Financial Guarantee Contract Liabilities
Financial guarantee contract liabilities are subsequently measured at the higher of:
- The premium received (or imputed) for entering into the guarantee less cumulative amortisation; and,
- The amount of the obligation under the contract, as determined in accordance with IAS 37: Provisions,
1.25.2 Financial Liabilities at Fair Value Through Profit and Loss
Embedded derivatives that have different risks and characteristics to their host contracts, and contracts with embedded
derivatives whose separate value cannot be ascertained, are treated as financial liabilities at fair value through profit
and loss. They are held at fair value, with any resultant gain or loss recognised in the Clinical Commissioning Group’s
surplus/deficit. The net gain or loss incorporates any interest payable on the financial liability.
1.26

Value Added Tax
Most of the activities of the Clinical Commissioning Group are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax
does not apply and input tax on purchases is not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure
category or included in the capitalised purchase cost of fixed assets. Where output tax is charged or input VAT is
recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT.

1.27

Third Party Assets
Assets belonging to third parties (such as money held on behalf of patients) are not recognised in the accounts since
the Clinical Commissioning Group has no beneficial interest in them.

1.28

Losses & Special Payments
Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed funds for the
health service or passed legislation. By their nature they are items that ideally should not arise. They are therefore
subject to special control procedures compared with the generality of payments. They are divided into different
categories, which govern the way that individual cases are handled.
Losses and special payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in expenditure on an accruals basis,
including losses which would have been made good through insurance cover had the Clinical Commissioning Group
not been bearing its own risks (with insurance premiums then being included as normal revenue expenditure).

1.29

Accounting Standards That Have Been Issued But Have Not Yet Been Adopted
The Government Financial Reporting Manual does not require the following Standards and Interpretations to be
applied in 2015-16, all of which are subject to consultation:
- IFRS 9: Financial Instruments
- IFRS 14: Regulatory Deferral Accounts
- IFRS 15: Revenue for Contract with Customers
The application of the Standards as revised would not have a material impact on the accounts for 2015-16, were they
applied in that year.
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2. Other Operating Revenue

Recoveries in respect of employee benefits
Patient transport services
Prescription fees and charges
Dental fees and charges
Education, training and research
Charitable and other contributions to revenue expenditure: NHS
Charitable and other contributions to revenue expenditure: non-NHS
Receipt of donations for capital acquisitions: NHS Charity
Receipt of Government grants for capital acquisitions
Non-patient care services to other bodies
Continuing Health Care risk pool contributions
Income generation
Rental revenue from finance leases
Rental revenue from operating leases
Other revenue
Total other operating revenue

2015-16
Total

2015-16
Admin

2015-16
Programme

2014-15
Total

£000

£000

£000

£000

0
0
0
0
26
0
0
0
0
4,487
0
0
0
0
481
4,994

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
30
0
0
0
0
4
34

0
0
0
0
26
0
0
0
0
4,457
0
0
0
0
477
4,960

0
0
27
0
38
0
0
0
0
859
0
0
0
0
99
1,022

NHS South Cheshire CCG hosts a CHC Service across 5 CCGs as part of a joint committee. The service is recharged gross
and commenced in February 2015

3. Revenue

From rendering of services
From sale of goods
Total

2015-16
Total
£000
4,900
94
4,994

2015-16
2015-16
Admin
Programme
£000
£000
34
4,866
0
94
34
4,960

2014-15
Total
£000
818
204
1,022
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4. Employee benefits and staff numbers
4.1.1 Employee Benefits

2015-16

Total
£000
4,570
328
521
0
0
0
0
5,419

Total
Permanent
Employees
£000
4,109
328
521
0
0
0
0
4,958

Other
£000
461
0
0
0
0
0
0
461

Total
£000
1,376
103
164
0
0
0
0
1,643

Admin
Permanent
Employees
£000
1,341
103
164
0
0
0
0
1,608

Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits
Total - Net admin employee benefits including capitalised costs

0
5,419

0
4,958

0
461

0
1,643

Less: Employee costs capitalised
Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs

0
5,419

0
4,958

0
461

Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension Scheme
Other pension costs
Other post-employment benefits
Other employment benefits
Termination benefits
Gross employee benefits expenditure

4.1.1 Employee Benefits

35
0
0
0
0
0
0
35

Total
£000
3,194
225
357
0
0
0
0
3,776

Programme
Permanent
Employees
£000
2,768
225
357
0
0
0
0
3,350

Other
£000
426
0
0
0
0
0
0
426

0
1,608

0
35

0
3,776

0
3,350

0
426

0
1,643

0
1,608

0
35

0
3,776

0
3,350

0
426

74
0
0
0
0
0
0
74

Total
£000
1,605
124
220
0
0
0
0
1,949

Admin
Permanent
Employees
£000
1,552
124
220
0
0
0
0
1,897

2014-15
Total
£000
2,344
186
308
0
0
0
0
2,838

Total
Permanent
Employees
£000
2,271
186
308
0
0
0
0
2,765

Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits
Total - Net admin employee benefits including capitalised costs

0
2,838

0
2,765

0
74

0
1,949

Less: Employee costs capitalised
Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs

0
2,838

0
2,765

0
74

0
1,949

Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension Scheme
Other pension costs
Other post-employment benefits
Other employment benefits
Termination benefits
Gross employee benefits expenditure

Other
£000

Other
£000

53
0
0
0
0
0
0
53

740
62
88
0
0
0
0
889

Programme
Permanent
Employees
£000
719
62
88
0
0
0
0
868

0
1,897

0
53

0
889

0
868

0
21

0
1,897

0
53

0
889

0
868

0
21

Other
£000

Total
£000

Other
£000
21
0
0
0
0
0
0
21

122

NHS South Cheshire CCG - Annual Accounts 2015-16
4. Employee Benefits and Staff Numbers cont'd
4.2 Average Number of People Employed
2014-15

2015-16
Permanently
employed
Number

Total
Number

Total
Of the above:
Number of whole time equivalent people
engaged on capital projects

Other
Number

Total
Number

117

106

11

61

0

0

0

0

4.3 Staff Sickness Absence and Ill Health Retirements
2015-16

2014-15

Total days lost
Total staff years
Average working days lost

Number
1465
106
14

Number
295
61
5

Number of persons retired early on ill health grounds

2015-16
Number
1

2014-15
Number
0

£000
20

£000
0

Total additional Pensions liabilities accrued in the year
Ill health retirement costs are met by the NHS Pension Scheme

4.4 Exit Packages Agreed in the Financial Year
There were no exit packages agreed in year
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4. Employee Benefits and Staff Numbers cont'd
4.6

Pension Costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Scheme. Details of the benefits
payable under these provisions can be found on the NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions.
The scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit scheme that covers NHS employers, GP practices and other bodies,
allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State, in England and Wales. The scheme is not designed to be run in a
way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities.
Therefore, the scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the NHS Body of
participating in the scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting period.
The Scheme is subject to a full actuarial valuation every four years (until 2004, every five years) and an accounting
valuation every year. An outline of these follows:

4.6.1

Full Actuarial (Funding) Valuation
The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the Scheme (taking
into account its recent demographic experience), and to recommend the contribution rates to be paid by employers and
scheme members. The last such valuation, which determined current contribution rates was undertaken as at 31 March
2012 and covered the period from 1 April 2008 to that date. Details can be found on the pension scheme website at
www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions.
For 2015-16, employers’ contributions of £609,153 were payable to the NHS Pensions Scheme (2014-15: £362,066) at
the rate of 14.3% of pensionable pay. The scheme’s actuary reviews employer contributions, usually every four years
and now based on HMT Valuation Directions, following a full scheme valuation. The latest review used data from 31
March 2012 and was published on the Government website in June 2014. The change in employer contribution took
effect from April 2015 and the employer contribution rate moved to 14.3%. The next actuarial valuation is expected to
be carried out as at 31 March 2016. This will set the employer contribution rate payable from April 2019 and will
consider the cost of the Scheme relative to the employer cost cap. These costs are included in the NHS pension line of
note 4.1.1.
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5. Operating Expenses
2015-16
Total
£000
Gross Employee Benefits
Employee benefits excluding governing body members
Executive governing body members
Total gross employee benefits
Other Costs
Services from other CCGs and NHS England
Services from foundation trusts
Services from other NHS trusts
Services from other NHS bodies
Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies
Chair and non executive members
Supplies and services – clinical
Supplies and services – general
Consultancy services
Establishment
Transport
Premises
Impairments and reversals of receivables
Inventories written down
Depreciation
Amortisation
Impairments and reversals of property, plant and equipment
Impairments and reversals of intangible assets
Impairments and reversals of financial assets
·
Assets carried at amortised cost
·
Assets carried at cost
·
Available for sale financial assets
Impairments and reversals of non-current assets held for sale
Impairments and reversals of investment properties
Audit fees
Other non statutory audit expenditure
·
Internal audit services
·
Other services
General dental services and personal dental services
Prescribing costs
Pharmaceutical services
General ophthalmic services
GPMS/APMS and PCTMS
Other professional fees excl. audit
Grants to other public bodies
Clinical negligence
Research and development (excluding staff costs)
Education and training
Change in discount rate
Provisions
Funding to group bodies
CHC Risk Pool contributions
Other expenditure
Total other costs
Total operating expenses

2015-16
Admin
£000

2015-16
Programme
£000

2014-15
Total
£000

4,985
434
5,419

1,396
247
1,643

3,589
187
3,776

2,451
387
2,838

1,921
120,136
35,330
(0)
20,910
158
39
3,821
195
886
348
778
0
0
22
0
0
0

681
45
56
(0)
0
158
0
7
53
151
22
135
0
0
22
0
0
0

1,240
120,091
35,274
0
20,910
0
39
3,814
142
735
326
643
0
0
0
0
0
0

2,002
114,557
34,261
0
20,650
156
984
646
305
445
277
820
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
50

0
0
0
0
0
50

0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
67

0
0
0
29,801
41
0
1,540
495
504
0
0
25
0
958
0
698
59
218,715

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
11
0
0
0
17
0
0
0
0
0
1,408

0
0
0
29,801
41
0
1,540
484
504
0
0
8
0
958
0
698
59
217,307

0
0
0
28,473
26
15
1,452
271
462
0
0
81
0
0
0
289
60
206,298

224,134

3,051

221,083

209,136
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6. Better Payment Practice Code
Measure of Compliance

2015-16
Number

2015-16
£000

2014-15
Number

2014-15
£000

Non-NHS Payables
Total Non-NHS trade invoices paid in the year
Total Non-NHS trade invoices paid within target
Percentage of Non-NHS trade invoices paid within target

6,396
5,949
93.01%

34,049
30,288
88.95%

5,153
4,881
94.72%

27,656
26,106
94.40%

NHS Payables
Total NHS trade invoices paid in the year
Total NHS trade invoices paid within target
Percentage of NHS trade Invoices paid within target

2,565
1,983
77.31%

157,606
156,185
99.10%

2,289
1,753
76.58%

152,240
150,639
98.95%
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7. Operating Leases
7.1 As Lessee
7.1.1 Payments Recognised as an Expense
2015-16
Buildings
Other
£000
£000

Land
£000
Payments recognised as an expense
Minimum lease payments
Contingent rents
Sub-lease payments
Total

0
0
0
0

751
0
0
751

Total
£000
31
0
0
31

2014-15
Buildings
Other
£000
£000

Land
£000
0
0
0
0

782
0
0
782

806
0
0
806

12
0
0
12

Total
£000
818
0
0
818

Payments made to NHS Property Services Limited in respect of usage of property assets are being treated as operating lease under IAS 17. The amount included within
the minimum lease payments above includes payments made to NHS Property Services Limited during the financial year. Whilst our arrangements with NHS Property
Services Limited fall within the definition of operating leases, rental charge for future years has not yet been agreed . Consequently this note does not include future
7.1.2 Future Minimum Lease Payments
2015-16
Buildings
Other
£000
£000

Land
£000
Payable:
No later than one year
Between one and five years
After five years
Total

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

Total
£000
0
0
0
0

2014-15
Buildings
Other
£000
£000

Land
£000
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

-

0

12
25
37

Total
£000
12
25
0
37
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8. Property, Plant and Equipment
Buildings
excluding
dwellings
£000

Assets under
construction
and payments
on account
£000

Cost or valuation at 01-April-2015

0

0

0

0

Plant &
machinery
£000
0

Addition of assets under construction and payments on account
Additions purchased
Additions donated
Additions government granted
Additions leased
Reclassifications
Reclassified as held for sale and reversals
Disposals other than by sale
Upward revaluation gains
Impairments charged
Reversal of impairments
Transfer (to)/from other public sector body
Cumulative depreciation adjustment following revaluation
Cost/Valuation At 31-March-2016

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

35
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
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0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
35
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
101

Depreciation 01-April-2015

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Reclassifications
Reclassified as held for sale and reversals
Disposals other than by sale
Upward revaluation gains
Impairments charged
Reversal of impairments
Charged during the year
Transfer (to)/from other public sector body
Cumulative depreciation adjustment following revaluation
Depreciation at 31-March-2016

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
22
0
0
22

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
22
0
0
22

Net Book Value at 31-March-2016

0

0

0

0

0

0

79

0

79

Purchased
Donated
Government Granted
Total at 31-March-2016

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

79
0
0
79

0
0
0
0

79
0
0
79

Owned
Held on finance lease
On-SOFP Lift contracts
PFI residual: interests

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

79
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

79
0
0
0

Total at 31-March-2016

0

0

0

0

0

0

79

0

79

2015-16

Land
£000

Dwellings
£000

Transport
equipment
£000
0

Information
technology
£000
66

Furniture &
fittings
£000
0

Total
£000
66

Asset financing:
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8. Property, Plant and Equipment
Revaluation Reserve Balance for Property, Plant & Equipment

Land
£000's

Buildings
£000's

Assets under
construction &
payments on
account
£000's

Dwellings
£000's

Plant &
machinery
£000's

Transport
equipment
£000's

Information
technology
£000's

Furniture &
fittings
£000's

Total
£000's

Balance at 01-April-2015

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Revaluation gains
Impairments
Release to general fund
Other movements
At 31-March-2016

0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0

Minimum
Life (years)
0
0
0
0
3
0

Maximum
Life (Years)
0
0
0
0
3
0

8.1 Economic Lives
Buildings excluding dwellings
Dwellings
Plant & machinery
Transport equipment
Information technology
Furniture & fittings
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9. Inventories

Drugs

Balance at 01-April-2015

0

0

0

0

Loan
Equipment
£'000
0

Additions
Inventories recognised as an expense in the period
Write-down of inventories (including losses)
Reversal of write-down previously taken to the statement of
comprehensive net expenditure
Transfer (to) from -Goods for resale
At 31-March-2016

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

£'000

Consumables

Energy

£'000

£'000

Work in
Progress
£'000

Other

Total

£'000

£'000
0

0

0
0
0

2
0
0

2
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
2

0
0
2
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10. Trade and Other Receivables
Current
2015-16
£000
NHS receivables: revenue
NHS receivables: capital
NHS prepayments
NHS accrued income
Non-NHS receivables: revenue
Non-NHS receivables: capital
Non-NHS prepayments
Non-NHS accrued income
Provision for the impairment of receivables
VAT
Private finance initiative and other public private
partnership arrangement prepayments and accrued income

Non-current
2015-16
£000

Current
2014-15
£000

Non-current
2014-15
£000

420
0
579
1,474
520
0
1,080
289
0
10

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

485
0
849
0
195
0
126
0
0
(25)

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0

0

0

0

Interest receivables
Finance lease receivables
Operating lease receivables
Other receivables
Total Trade & other receivables

0
0
0
3
4,375

0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
2
1,632

0
0
0
0
0

Total current and non current

4,375

1,632

0

0

Included above:
Prepaid pensions contributions

10.1 Receivables Past Their Due Date But Not Impaired
By up to three months
By three to six months
By more than six months
Total

2014-15
£000

2015-16
£000
324
5
0
329

310
0
0
310

£ 193,788 of the amount above has subsequently been recovered post the statement of financial position date.

10.2 Provision for Impairment of Receivables

2014-15
£000

2015-16
£000

Balance at 01-April-2015

0

0

Amounts written off during the year
Amounts recovered during the year
(Increase) decrease in receivables impaired
Transfer (to) from other public sector body
Balance at 31-March-2016

0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
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11. Cash and Cash Equivalents

Balance at 01-April-2015
Net change in year
Balance at 31-March-2016
Made up of:
Cash with the Government Banking Service
Cash with commercial banks
Cash in hand
Current investments
Cash and cash equivalents as in statement of financial position
Bank overdraft: Government Banking Service
Bank overdraft: commercial banks
Total bank overdrafts
Balance at 31-March-2016

Patients’ money held by the Clinical Commissioning Group, not included above

2015-16
£000
(808)
926
118

2014-15
£000
307
(1,115)
(808)

118
0
0
0
118

(808)
0
0
0
(808)

0
0
0

0
0
0

118

(808)

0

0
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12. Trade and Other Payables
Current
2015-16
£000
Interest payable
NHS payables: revenue
NHS payables: capital
NHS accruals
NHS deferred income
Non-NHS payables: revenue
Non-NHS payables: capital
Non-NHS accruals
Non-NHS deferred income
Social security costs
VAT
Tax
Payments received on account
Other payables
Total Trade & Other Payables

0
994
0
3,136
0
7,345
4
2,649
0
65
0
61
0
147
14,401

Total current and non-current

14,401

Current
2014-15
£000

Non-current
2015-16
£000
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

Non-current
2014-15
£000

0
2,368
59
647
0
6,102
8
2,849
0
52
0
55
0
108
12,248

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

12,248
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13. Provisions
Current
2015-16
£000
Pensions relating to former directors
Pensions relating to other staff
Restructuring
Redundancy
Agenda for change
Equal pay
Legal claims
Continuing care
Other
Total
Total current and non-current

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

Non-current
2015-16
£000
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
958
0
958

958

Pensions
Relating to
Former
Directors
£000s

Current
2014-15
£000

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

Non-current
2014-15
£000

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0

Pensions
Relating to
Other Staff
£000s

Restructuring
£000s

Redundancy
£000s

Agenda for
Change
£000s

Legal
Claims
£000s

Equal Pay
£000s

Continuing
Care
£000s

Total
£000s

Balance at 01-April-2015

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Arising during the year
Utilised during the year
Reversed unused
Unwinding of discount
Change in discount rate
Transfer (to) from other public sector body
Balance at 31-March-2016

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

958
0
0
0
0
0
958

958
0
0
0
0
0
958

Expected timing of cash flows:
Within one year
Between one and five years
After five years
Balance at 31-March-2016

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

0
958
0
958

0
958
0
958

Continuing Care provision relates to on-going cases that relate to the dissolution of the LD Pool with Cheshire East Council
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14. Contingencies
2014-15
£000

2015-16
£000
Contingent liabilities
Equal Pay
NHS Litigation Authority Legal Claims
Employment Tribunal
NHSLA employee liability claim
Redundancy
Continuing Healthcare
Amounts recoverable against contingent liabilities
Net value of contingent liabilities

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

Contingent assets
Amounts payable against contingent assets
Net value of contingent assets

0
0

0
0
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15. Financial Instruments
15.1

Financial Risk Management
Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial instruments have had during the
period in creating or changing the risks a body faces in undertaking its activities.
Because Clinical Commissioning Group is financed through parliamentary funding, it is not exposed to the degree of
financial risk faced by business entities. Also, financial instruments play a much more limited role in creating or
changing risk than would be typical of listed companies, to which the financial reporting standards mainly apply. The
Clinical Commissioning Group has limited powers to borrow or invest surplus funds and financial assets and liabilities
are generated by day-to-day operational activities rather than being held to change the risks facing the Clinical
Commissioning Group in undertaking its activities.
Treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within parameters defined formally within
the Clinical Commissioning Group standing financial instructions and policies agreed by the Governing Body. Treasury
activity is subject to review by the Clinical Commissioning Group and internal auditors.

15.1.1 Currency Risk
The Clinical Commissioning Group is principally a domestic organisation with the great majority of transactions, assets
and liabilities being in the UK and sterling based. The Clinical Commissioning Group has no overseas operations. The
Clinical Commissioning Group and therefore has low exposure to currency rate fluctuations.
15.1.2 Interest Rate Risk
The Clinical Commissioning Group borrows from government for capital expenditure, subject to affordability as
confirmed by NHS England. The borrowings are for 1 to 25 years, in line with the life of the associated assets, and
interest is charged at the National Loans Fund rate, fixed for the life of the loan. The Clinical Commissioning Group
therefore has low exposure to interest rate fluctuations.
15.1.3 Credit Risk
Because the majority of the Clinical Commissioning Group revenue comes parliamentary funding, Clinical
Commissioning Group has low exposure to credit risk. The maximum exposures as at the end of the financial year are
in receivables from customers, as disclosed in the trade and other receivables note.
15.1.4 Liquidity Risk
Clinical Commissioning Group is required to operate within revenue and capital resource limits, which are financed
from resources voted annually by Parliament. The Clinical Commissioning Group draws down cash to cover
expenditure, as the need arises. The Clinical Commissioning Group is not, therefore, exposed to significant liquidity
risks.
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15. Financial Instruments cont'd
15.2 Financial Assets
2015-16

2015-16

2015-16

2015-16

At ‘fair value
through profit
and loss’
£000

Loans and
Receivables
£000

Available for
Sale
£000

Total
£000

0

0

0

0

0
0
0
0
0

1,894
809
118
2
2,823

0
0
0
0
0

1,894
809
118
2
2,823

Embedded derivatives
Receivables:
- NHS
- Non-NHS
Cash at bank and in hand
Other financial assets
Total at 31-March-2016
2014-15

2014-15

2014-15

2014-15

At ‘fair value
through profit
and loss’
£000

Loans and
Receivables
£000

Available for
Sale
£000

Total
£000

Embedded derivatives
Receivables:
- NHS
- Non-NHS
Cash at bank and in hand
Other financial assets
Total at 31-March-2016

0

0

0

0

0
0
0
0
0

485
195
(808)
2
(126)

0
0
0
0
0

485
195
(808)
2
(126)

15.3 Financial Liabilities
2015-16

2015-16

2015-16

At ‘fair value
through profit
and loss’
£000

Other
£000

Total
£000

Embedded derivatives
Payables:
- NHS
- Non-NHS
Other borrowings
Other financial liabilities
Total at 31-March-2016

0

0

0

0
0
0
0
0

4,129
10,146
0
0
14,275

4,129
10,146
0
0
14,275

2014-15
At ‘fair value
through profit
and loss’
£000
Embedded derivatives
Payables:
- NHS
- Non-NHS
Other borrowings
Other financial liabilities
Total at 31-March-2016

2014-15

2014-15

Other
£000

Total
£000

0

0

0

0
0
0
0
0

3,073
9,067
0
0
12,141

3,073
9,067
0
0
12,141
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16. Operating Segments
Gross
expenditure
£'000

Income
£'000

Net
expenditure
£'000

Total assets

Total liabilities

Net assets

£'000

£'000

£'000

Comissioning of Health Care

224,134

(4,994)

219,140

4,574

(15,359)

(10,785)

Total

224,134

(4,994)

219,140

4,574

(15,359)

(10,785)

16.1 Reconciliation between Operating Segments and SoCNE
31-Mar-16
£'000
Total net expenditure reported for operating segments

219,140

Reconciling items:

0
219,140

Total net expenditure per the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure

16.2 Reconciliation between Operating Segments and SoFP
31-Mar-16
£'000
Total assets reported for operating segments

4,574

Reconciling items:

0
4,574

Total assets per Statement of Financial Position

31-Mar-16
£'000
Total liabilities reported for operating segments

(15,359)

Reconciling items:

0
(15,359)

Total liabilities per Statement of Financial Position
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17. Better Care Fund

NHS South Cheshire CCG was part of a Better Care Fund along with NHS Eastern
Cheshire CCG and Cheshire East Council.
Below is memorandum account showing expenditure for NHS South Cheshire CCG:

Section 256
Carer grants
Intermediate care
Integrated case management teams
Non-elective expenditure

2015-16
£000
2,922
200
4,070
1,345
1,005
9,542
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18. Related Party Transactions
The Department of Health is regarded as a related party. During the year the Clinical Commissioning Group has had a significant number of
material transactions with entities for which the Department is regarded as the parent Department. For example:
NHS England (including commissioning support units)
NHS Foundation Trusts
NHS Trusts
NHS Litigation Authority
NHS Business Services Authority
In addition, the Clinical Commissioning Group has had a number of material transactions with other government departments and other central
and local government bodies. The Clinical Commissioning Group has received no revenue or capital payments from charitable funds
Details of related party transactions with individuals are as follows:
Payments to
Receipts
Related
from Related
Party
Party
2015-16
2015-16
£000
£000
Dr Andrew Wilson, Ashfields Primary Care Centre/Sandbach GPs (GP Partner)
Dr Andrew Wilson, St Luke's (Cheshire) Hospice (Wife employed from Jan 14)
Dr Andrew Wilson, South Cheshire GP Alliance (Member of)
Dr Andrew Wilson, Salford Royal Aqua Subscription (Aqua Fellowship)
Simon Whitehouse, University Hospital of North Midlands NHS Trust (Wife is Staff Nurse)
Fiona Field, Cheshire Young Carers (Associated with)
Dr Annabel London, Kiltearn Medical Centre (GP Partner)
Dr Annabel London, South Cheshire GP Alliance (Member of)
Dr Annabel London, Countess of Chester Hospital (Husband Consultant)
Dr Annabel London, South Cheshire Private Hospital (BMI) (Husband Consultant)
Dr Annabel London, Grosvenor Nuffield Hospital Chester (Husband Consultant)
Dr Andrew Hudson, Waters Edge Medical Centre (GP Partner)
Dr Andrew Spooner, Grosvenor Medical Centre (GP Partner)
Dr Andrew Spooner, South Cheshire GP Alliance (Member of)
Dr Phil Goodwin, Cedars Medical Centre (GP)
Dr Phil Goodwin, 4GPs Provider Partnership (Member of)
Dr Robert Pugh, St Luke's (Cheshire) Hospice (Trustee)
Graham Bruce, NHS England (PLDP Chair)
John Clough, NHS England (Lay Chair)
John Clough, Reliance Medical Ltd (Personal interest/wife)
Total at 31-March-2016

455
429
871
26
8,775
0
300
871
911
2,282
49
83
204
871
211
0
429
40
40
0
16,847

(999)
(999)
(1,998)

Amounts
owed to
Related
Party
2015-16
£000
22
0
128
0
116
0
17
128
0
0
0
2
15
128
2
0
0
0
0
0
558

Amounts
due from
Related
Party
2015-16
£000

(255)

(9)
(311)

(527)
(527)
(1,629)
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19. Events After the End of the Reporting Period
There are no post balance sheet events which will have a material effect on the financial statements of the Clinical
Commissioning Group or consolidated group.

20. Losses and Special Payments
20.1 Losses

The total number of Clinical Commissioning Group losses and special payments cases, and their total value, was as follows:
2015-16

2015-16

2014-15

2014-15

Total
Number of
Cases

Total Value
of Cases

Total Number
of Cases

Total Value
of Cases

Number

£'000

Number

£'000

Administrative write-offs
Fruitless payments
Store losses
Book Keeping losses
Constructive loss
Cash losses
Claims abandoned

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

Total

0

0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

20.2 Special Payments

Compensation payments
Extra contractual Payments
Ex gratia payments
Extra statutory extra regulatory payments
Special severance payments
Total

2015-16
Total
Number of
Cases

2015-16

2014-15

2014-15

Total Value
of Cases

Total Number
of Cases

Total Value
of Cases

Number

£'000

Number

£'000

0
0
1
0
0
1

0
0
4
0
0
4

0
1
0
0
0
1
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21. Financial Performance Targets
The Clinical Commissioning Group have a number of financial duties under the NHS Act 2006 (as amended).
The Clinical Commissioning Group performance against those duties was as follows:
2015-16
Target
£'000
Expenditure not to exceed income
Capital resource use does not exceed the amount specified in directions
Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount specified in directions
Capital resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount specified in directions
Revenue resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount specified in
directions
Revenue administration resource use does not exceed the amount specified in directions

Expenditure not to exceed income
Capital resource use does not exceed the amount specified in directions
Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount specified in directions
Capital resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount specified in directions
Revenue resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount specified in
directions
Revenue administration resource use does not exceed the amount specified in directions

2015-16
Performance
£'000

2015-16
Target Met
(Yes / No)

224,720
35
219,692
0

224,168
35
219,140
0

Yes
Yes
Yes
N/A

0
4,057

0
3,017

N/A
Yes

2014-15
Target
£'000
209,202
66
209,135
0

2014-15
Performance
£'000
208,182
66
208,115
0

0
4,664

0
3,977

2015-16
Target Met
(Yes / No)
Yes
Yes
Yes
N/A
N/A
Yes

22. Impact of IFRS
Accounting under IFRS had no impact on the results of the Clinical Commissioning Group in the 2015/2016 reporting period
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Appendix 1a:
NHS South Cheshire CCG Organisational Structure (Accountability Structure)
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Appendix 1b:
NHS South Cheshire CCG Organisational Structure (Shared Management Structure)
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Appendix 2:
NHS South Cheshire CCG Governing Body Biographies
Dr Andrew Wilson
Dr Wilson graduated from the University of Nottingham with a degree in
Pharmacy before undertaking practical training as a hospital pharmacist. He
obtained a master of philosophy degree in the area of neuropharmacology
after two years research work. Following this, he studied medicine at the
University of Birmingham graduating in 1996.
Since becoming a GP, he has developed varied clinical interests including
musculoskeletal medicine and has always had an interest in holistic
approaches to medicine. He was a partner at Hungerford Rd in Crewe for
several years then moved to Ashfields in Sandbach where he is currently a
half time partner. The rest of the time, he chairs the CCG.

Simon Whitehouse
Simon Whitehouse is the Chief Executive Officer for both NHS South
Cheshire CCG and NHS Vale Royal CCG. He is committed to delivering the
best health services for the population of Vale Royal and South Cheshire.
Simon has worked in the NHS for over 20 years in a number of roles. He
graduated as a Physiotherapist in 1995 having trained at the Robert Jones &
Agnes Hunt Orthopaedic Hospital before working for several years as a
clinician at the University Hospital of North Staffordshire. From that clinical
post Simon moved to a role in the Chartered Society of Physiotherapy based
in London. In 2002 Simon joined the national pay team at the Department of
Health and the Modernisation Agency. He worked with a number of
organisations and Strategic Health Authorities on the introduction of the new
pay system.
In 2004 Simon joined Central Cheshire PCT as Director of Workforce
Modernisation and then subsequently took over as Director of Primary Care
where he led on the commissioning of all the PCT’s Independent Contractors.
He completed his Masters in Change Management and Leadership with
Manchester University in 2009 and has an interest in organisational and
system change, believing that good leadership is at the core of all effective
teams.
He was appointed as the Chief Executive Officer in 2012 and led out on the
successful establishment of the two CCGs as statutory NHS bodies. His
approach and style is one of collaboration, engagement and empowerment.
He represents CCGs on the NHS Employers National Policy Board and he is
an active network member across the North West.
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Lynda Risk
Lynda is a chartered accountant by profession and has worked in the NHS for
nearly 20 years. After qualifying, Lynda moved to the NHS in Wales initially in
audit and then as Associate Director of Finance, looking after the financial
accounts, a number of secondary care contracts and GP fund holding. After a
period of 4 years Lynda moved to the North West Regional Office as the
primary care finance lead for the North West Region, and became the North
West Red Book expert!
With the changes of government Lynda became involved in the development
of many primary care initiatives including PCGs, PMS, PDS and ultimately
PCTs. Feeling the need to get back to the coal face, Lynda moved to South
Cheshire and became the Head of Finance for the Central Cheshire and
Crewe and District PCGs, this involved managing a devolved PCG based
financial budget and a contract portfolio including Mid Cheshire NHST. After
the advent of PCTs, Lynda moved into the commissioning team, taking on
performance, information and contracting and their related management
accounting functions. This ultimately involved the development and
implementation of payment by results. As the contracting function became
more complex and the PCTs in East and Central Cheshire merged, Lynda
became more focused on the contracting agenda.

Fiona Field
Fiona trained as primary school teacher with a degree in education. She then
moved into social work and social care services and then retrained whilst
working as a social worker. Her first job was in a long stay psychiatric
institution moving people out into the community and closing down the
hospital. She has worked in most parts of the county of Cheshire and has
worked with all age groups and types of disabilities. Latterly in the council, she
was the County Manager for Older people’s services. She moved into the
NHS in 2004 to join Central Cheshire Primary Care Trust as Director of the
Community Clinical Services., later becoming Director of Governance and
Strategy until the PCT was abolished in 2013.She has now joined South
Cheshire Clinical Commissioning Group working alongside local GPs to
commission local health services -working closer to local people is something
Fiona values greatly She is committed to public services and the improvement
of those services for the people who need them at vulnerable times of their
lives.
Fiona is going to retire in the middle of June 2016, having worked in health
and social care in Cheshire for 38 years and one day.
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Dr Annabel London
Dr Annabel London is the locality representative for Nantwich and Rural
including Audlem and Wrenbury.

Dr Philip Goodwin
Dr Philip Goodwin is a full time partner at Cedars Medical Practice in
Sandbach. He represents Sandbach, Middlewich, Alsager, Scholar Green and
Haslington (SMASH) on the Governing Body of NHS South Cheshire Clinical
Commissioning Group

Dr Andrew Hudson
Educated at St. Andrew’s University and Manchester Medical School, Andrew
graduated in 1988, and then completed a Masters degree (Merit) in Public
Health at the Nuffield Institute in Leeds.
Andrew gained experience working in health care in New Zealand, Australia
and Malaysia before completing ten years as a GP Partner on the Isle of Man.
Andrew moved to his home county, Cheshire, in 2005 as a GP Partner at the
Hungerford Medical Centre where he worked for 10 years before moving to
Waters Edge Medical Centre, Middlewich in 2015.

Dr Andrew Spooner
Dr Andrew Spooner is a partner in the Grosvenor Medical Centre in Crewe.
He has researched why GPs take part in quality schemes, which has included
working with managers and other colleagues to understand what change is
likely to be successful and how it can be implemented. Andrew has been
involved in quality assessment through the RCGP and was a negotiator for
the QOF. He has an interest in Federations and Commissioning and is
involved with developing education to support Commissioners and GPs.
Andrew is a published author on quality. He is currently applying this
knowledge in re commissioning Community Services.
Andrew is a past National Clinical Lead For PBC at the RCGP, and RCGP
Council representative for the Mersey Faculty. He represents all the executive
GPs on the Governing Body.

147

Diane Noble
Diane has a background in business management and payroll, graduating as
a member of the Institute of Payroll and Pensions Management in 2000. She
has extensive experience spanning both the private and public sector working
for organisations including Central Trains and Cheshire East Borough
Council.
Outside of work Diane is in her final year of a degree and fills some of her
spare time on her local GP surgery Patient Participation Group (PPG), as Vice
Chair of the South Cheshire Federation of PPGs and is involved with a
number of local charities. She is overwhelmingly passionate about ensuring
the patient’s voice is not only heard but also influences the direction of the
services commissioned by the CCG.
Diane is married and has three children. There is certainly never a dull
moment between her family, studies, work and hobbies and she thrives on
taking on new challenges.

Graham Bruce
Graham, an IT specialist, worked for 40 years in the manufacturing sector.
Having retired from the position of European IT Director with a large US
company was appointed as a Director of Central & Eastern Cheshire PCT for
six years prior to being appointed to the Governing Body of South Cheshire
CCG. He also spent three years as a Lay Member on one of the GMC subcommittees.
Graham is also currently Vice Chair of a medium sized housing association
operating in the Greater Manchester and Cheshire areas.

John Clough
John is a Chartered Accountant with many years’ experience in the provision
of Audit, Accountancy and Business Advisory services to a wide range of
clients. Until recently John was a partner in a ‘top ten’ firm of Chartered
Accountants, based in Stoke on Trent. John has also been involved
throughout his career on a voluntary basis with a number of public and
charitable bodies. He was a Director of the UK National Management
company of his firm and was also the treasurer and past President of the
North Staffs Society of Chartered Accountants. He is a Director of a newly
formed Academy and a trustee of a support charity based in Crewe.
Born and educated in Blackpool, John moved to West Yorkshire after
qualifying and became a partner in a Leeds based firm which then merged
with a National practice. He also spent some time in the North East before
moving to Cheshire in 1993.
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Judi Thorley
Judi is a Registered General Adult Nurse and Registered Learning Disability
Nurse with over 30 years’ experience. Judi has held various leadership
positions in different organisations within the NHS, leading service change
and development at a local, regional and national level. Judi is one of only 2
Registered Learning Disability Nurses to have been selected for the Kings
fund, Johnson & Johnson Nurse Leadership programme in 2002. This
opportunity increased Judi’s interest in effecting real change for those most
vulnerable in our society and led to her undertaking a Master’s degree in
Organisational Leadership in Health and Social Care at Nottingham
University, graduating in 2006. Passionate about high quality care for all Judi
likes to work with patients/service users, carers, partners and staff to listen
and hear real life experiences to collaboratively improve services.

Dr Robert Pugh
Bob comes from Bolsover in North Derbyshire and qualified as Doctor in
Leeds in 1971. After training posts in Yorkshire, Edinburgh, Glasgow and at
Alder Hey in Liverpool, he became a second Consultant Paediatrician at
Leighton Hospital in November 1978.
He also continued for a few years, his research work started in Liverpool
associated with children with severe visual impairment and other disabilities
which led to national publications and with colleagues set up the first multi
professional visual assessment team in the UK.
At Leighton as a Consultant, as well as a busy clinical workload, he helped
develop the children’s home nursing team and continued and developed
specialist interests in children with cancer (in conjunction with Alder Hey),
neurodisability and epilepsy. He was clinical director and Child health
strategic lead for over 15 years and the Trust’s lead for Child Safeguarding
until 2008.
In 2008, he retired from active clinical practice to continue his other interest of
medical education (mainly Undergraduate teaching) and left this post in July
2013 maintaining some contacts with the University of Manchester medical
school. Bob joined both CCG’S in September 2013 as the secondary care
doctor (consultant) to the governing body. He is a trustee of St Lukes’s
Cheshire Hospice since 2013. He has recently become a member of the CQC
cohort of doctors acting as members of hospital inspections teams.
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Dr Heather Grimbaldeston
Heather undertook her medical training at The University of Manchester and
then pursued a career in hospital medicine in Manchester and the North East.
This was followed by a period of General Practice in Birmingham and then
Public Health Medicine training in the West Midlands. From August 1997,
following the births of her two children, Heather worked part-time as a Senior
Civil Servant and Consultant in Public Health Medicine at the North West
Regional office.
Heather was appointed as Associate Director of Public Health & Research
and Development at the Greater Manchester Strategic Health Authority in
September 2002. She took up the role as Deputy Director of Public
Health/Medical Director in 2004, and in July 2007 joined Central and Eastern
Cheshire Primary Care Trust in July 2007 as Director of Public Health.
Heather continues as Director of Public Health in Cheshire East Council after
the responsibility for some public health functions transferred to local
authorities in April 2013.
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